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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” in Item 7, contains statements relating to future events and results of Calavo Growers, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries (collectively, “Calavo”, “the Company”, “we”, us or “our”), including certain projections and business trends, that are
"forward-looking statements," as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that involve risks, uncertainties and
assumptions. These statements are based on our current expectations and are not promises or guarantees. If any of the risks or
uncertainties materialize or the assumptions prove incorrect, the results of Calavo may differ materially from those expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements and assumptions. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, are statements
that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, any projections of revenue, gross profit, expenses,
income/(loss) from unconsolidated entities, earnings, earnings per share, tax provisions, cash flows and currency exchange rates; the
impact of acquisitions or debt or equity investments or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of
management for future operations, including execution of restructuring and integration (including information technology systems
integration) plans; any statements regarding current or future macroeconomic trends or events and the impact of those trends and
events on Calavo and its financial performance; statements regarding pending internal or external investigations, legal claims or tax
disputes; and any statements of expectation or belief; any statements about future risks associated with doing business internationally
(including possible restrictive U.S. and foreign governmental actions, such as restrictions on transfers of funds, restrictions as a result
of trade protection measures such as import/export/customs duties, tariffs and/or quotas).

Risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results to be materially different from any future results expressed or implied by
the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following:

● the ability of our management team to work together successfully;
● the impact of weather on market conditions;
● seasonality of our business;
● sensitivity of our business to changes in market prices of avocados and other agricultural products and other raw

materials including fuel, packaging and paper; 
● changes or actions associated with USDA-APHIS and the Mexican Secretary of Agriculture, Secretariat of Agriculture

and Rural Development (SADER) phytosanitary regulations (certification regulation for the importation of Hass
avocados to the United States);

● potential disruptions to our supply chain;
● risks associated with potential future acquisitions, including integration;
● potential exposure to data breaches and other cyber-attacks on our systems or those of our suppliers or customers;
● dependence on large customers;
● dependence on key personnel, and access to labor necessary for us to render services;
● susceptibility to wage inflation;
● potential for labor disputes;
● reliance on co-packers for a portion of our production needs;
● competitive pressures, including from foreign growers;
● risks of recalls and food-related injuries to our customers;
● changing consumer preferences;
● the impact of environmental regulations, including those related to climate change;
● risks associated with the environment and climate change, especially as they may affect our sources of supply;
● our ability to develop and transition new products and services and enhance existing products and services to meet

customer needs;
● risks associated with doing business internationally (including possible non-compliance with U.S. and foreign laws

appliable to international trade and dealings and possible restrictive U.S. and foreign governmental actions, such as
restrictions on transfers of funds and trade protection measures such as import/export/customs duties, tariffs and/or
quotas and currency fluctuations);
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● risks associated with receivables from, loans to and/or equity investments in unconsolidated entities;
● volatility in the value of our common stock;
● the impact of macroeconomic trends and events; the effects of increased interest rates on our cost of borrowing and

consumer purchasing behavior; and
● the resolution of pending internal and external investigations, legal claims and tax disputes, including an assessment

imposed by the Mexican Tax Administrative Service (the “SAT”) and our defenses against collection activities
commenced by the SAT.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

General development of the business

Calavo Growers, Inc. (referred to in this report as “Calavo”, the “Company”, “we’, “us” or “our”), is a global leader in the 
avocado industry and a provider of value-added fresh food.  Our expertise in marketing and distributing avocados, prepared avocado 
products, and other perishable foods allows us to deliver a wide array of fresh and prepared food products to retail grocery, 
foodservice, club stores, mass merchandisers, food distributors and wholesalers worldwide. We procure avocados from California, 
Mexico and other growing regions around the world.  Through our various operating facilities, we (i) sort, pack, and/or ripen 
avocados, tomatoes and/or Hawaiian grown papayas, and (ii) process and package guacamole.  We distribute our products both 
domestically and internationally.

We report our operations in two different business segments: Grown and Prepared. The Grown segment consists of fresh
avocados, tomatoes and papayas. The Prepared segment consists of guacamole sold at retail and foodservice as well as avocado pulp
sold to foodservice. See Note 10 in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
further information about our business segments.  Our principal executive offices are located at 1141-A Cummings Road, Santa 
Paula, California 93060; and our telephone number is (805) 525-1245.  

Discontinued Operations

We completed the sale of our Fresh Cut business (formerly “RFG”) and related real estate on August 15, 2024 for $83.0 million.
Proceeds from the sale totaled $81.1 million, net of $1.9 million of transaction costs. The Fresh Cut business represents substantially
all of the business of the Prepared segment other than the guacamole business, which was retained.

The financial results of the Fresh Cut business have been classified as discontinued operations in the statements of operations and
its assets and liabilities have been classified as held for sale in the balance sheets included herein. Unless otherwise noted, amounts
and disclosures in this section relate to our continuing operations (except for the Liquidity and Capital Resources section).

Prior to the decision to divest our Fresh Cut business, our Prepared reporting segment included the Fresh Cut business unit and 
our guacamole business.  As a result of the divestiture, the Fresh Cut business unit is no longer included in our Prepared business 
segment.  All segment information included herein reflect these changes.  See Note 16 of the consolidated financial statements for 
further information.

Grown

Founded in 1924 to market California avocados, Calavo now sources avocados from various locations—including California, 
Mexico, Peru, and Colombia—and distributes them to a diverse group of retail grocers, foodservice operators, club stores, mass 
merchandisers, food distributors, and wholesalers. Products are sold under the Calavo family of brand labels, as well as private 
labels.  Many of our customers seek a consistent, year-round supply from multiple sourcing locations, along with just-in-time 
deliveries tailored to their desired ripeness and a variety of packaging and display options. We believe these needs favor large 
handlers like us, who can leverage diverse sourcing relationships, value-added packaging and bagging capabilities, ripening assets, 
and a robust distribution infrastructure to serve large, nationwide accounts. Over time, we have built strong, long-term customer 
relationships that form a solid foundation for our business.

The Hass avocado is the predominant variety marketed globally.  In California, growing regions extend from San Diego County 
to Monterey County, with most production concentrated within 100 miles north and south of Los Angeles County.  California-grown 
Hass avocados are generally available from April through September, with peak production occurring from May through August.
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In fiscal 2022, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) approved the export of Jalisco avocados to the United 
States.  As such, we source fruit from both the Michoacán and Jalisco regions in Mexico.  Mexico’s avocado harvest tends to be 
year-round, with Michoacán’s peak season running from September to June, while Jalisco’s peak season runs from June to January.  
We also source avocados from other key growing regions, including Peru and Colombia.  

Fresh avocados have a limited storage life once picked from the tree, typically three to six weeks depending on factors such as
fruit maturity, cultivation methods, and handling conditions throughout the distribution chain. This includes the use of controlled-
atmosphere technologies during transport to preserve quality.

Avocados delivered to our packinghouses are graded, sized, packed, and cooled.  The size and timing of the annual avocado crop 
significantly impact both our costs and the prices we receive for the fruit.  To help manage this, our field personnel work closely with 
growers and farm managers to coordinate harvest plans.  Feedback from our field managers is shared with our sales department to 
help develop sales strategies for our direct sales force.  Industry associations in Mexico employ crop estimators to provide an annual 
crop estimate.  No less than three updates are executed throughout the crop year.

The process for purchasing avocados varies across sourcing regions.  In California, growers receive daily field quotes, priced per 
pound, based on variety, size, and grade.  These quotes are calculated by estimating expected sales prices, less anticipated costs and 
desired margins.  Payments to California growers are settled monthly.

In Mexico, the crop typically produces three to four blooms per year.  Prices are typically negotiated daily for most fruit 
harvested that day.  Once a daily price is agreed upon, the fruit is harvested and delivered to one of our Mexican packinghouses.  
Final settlements, based on fruit size and quality, are completed approximately 14 to 21 days after harvest.  We also source fruit 
directly from third-party Mexican packers (copackers) to balance inventory or fulfill priority sizes and grades.  While this fruit 
usually is packed in Calavo branded cartons, all the fruit we source from third parties is packed at certified packinghouses to meet 
Calavo quality and food safety standards before being shipped to our facilities and customers.

Avocados sourced from Peru are primarily handled on a consignment basis.  Payments are generally calculated as a percentage of 
the net selling price, less charges for distribution and value-added service or alternatively at a flat, per carton rate.  Avocados from 
Colombia are primarily handled on an FOB Colombia basis, with price guidelines, strict quality specification and inspections upon 
arrival to the United States.

Aside from fruit costs, packing materials, and freight costs, which are generally passed on to our customers, a significant portion 
of our avocado handling costs are fixed. Consequently, fluctuations in delivery volumes can have a notable impact on our per-pound 
packing costs. Typically, larger crop volumes result in lower per-pound handling costs.  

We believe our investments in packing house equipment, distribution centers with value-added ripening and packing capabilities, 
and skilled personnel position us to efficiently manage larger avocado crops.  Our ongoing success in marketing avocados depends 
largely on maintaining a reliable, high-quality supply at reasonable prices while keeping handling costs low as fruit moves through 
our facilities and to our customers.

To help ensure the safety and quality of our avocados, we are subject to inspections by the USDA, the Mexican Secretary of
Agriculture, Secretariat of Agriculture and Rural Development (SADER), and other regulatory authorities.

We have developed a range of value-added programs designed to provide products and services that address our customers'
diverse needs. Key programs include:

● Value-Added Ripening: Retailers require avocados that meet strict quality and ripeness standards.  Our nationwide ripening 
infrastructure—featuring advanced technology and an experienced handling workforce—positions us to effectively meet 
those demands.  We believe ripened avocados help retailers satisfy consumer preferences and drive faster sales through 
their stores.
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● Value-Added Packaging: We have introduced innovative packaging and display techniques to attract consumers, especially 
impulse buyers.  These include bagging avocados and strategically displaying them within produce sections.  Research 
shows that consumers typically buy larger quantities when avocados are offered in bags rather than traditional bulk 
displays.  We also believe bagged avocados deliver a strong value proposition, supporting higher sales for grocery stores

The avocado market is highly competitive, with numerous marketers and importers sourcing avocados from independent, USDA-
certified growers in Mexico, Peru, Colombia, Chile, and the Dominican Republic, among others.  Based on data from various 
industry sources, we believe we are consistently among the largest avocado marketers in the United States in terms of both volume 
and sales.

We attribute our leadership position to our competitive sourcing strategies and the strong communication and service we maintain
with our growers, driven by upper and middle management teams with decades of avocado experience. Additionally, we believe our
diversified fresh product offerings, consistent product quality, and value-added programs give us a distinct advantage in serving retail
and foodservice customers.

Our Grown business segment also markets and distributes other perishable food products, including tomatoes and papayas 
(“Other Fresh Products”).  Tomatoes are primarily handled on a consignment basis, while papayas are managed through a pooling 
system, typically at a fixed fee per papaya delivered.

For consignment sales, our gross profit is typically based on a commission agreed upon with each party, usually calculated as a 
percentage of the total selling price.  The gross profit percentage for these sales depends on the volume of fruit handled, average 
selling prices, and the competitiveness of returns offered to third-party growers and packers.

Sales of our Other Fresh Products are generally subject to seasonal fluctuations.  We believe offering a variety of fruits 
complements our core avocado business and enhances our overall product portfolio.

Prepared

Our Prepared segment focuses on our prepared avocado products (“guacamole”) division.  We use ultra-high-pressure 
technology, a cold pasteurization process, on all guacamole products to safeguard food without requiring preservatives.  This process 
effectively eliminates bacteria that could cause spoilage, food safety concerns, or oxidation issues, while preserving the product’s 
taste profile.  After processing, our guacamole can be frozen for extended shelf life or shipped fresh to customers in the U.S. and 
internationally.

While most of our prepared avocado products are produced at our Uruapan, Mexico facility, we occasionally partner with high-
quality co-packers—utilizing similar ultra-high-pressure technology—to meet demand for retail and foodservice products.  

Our prepared products include guacamole sold through retail and foodservice channels, as well as avocado pulp sold to
foodservice customers. These products are marketed under Calavo-owned brands and through store-brand private label programs.

Both our Grown and Prepared segments foster strong customer relationships by delivering high-quality products, driving
innovation, offering year-round availability, and maintaining national distribution.

Sales and Other Financial Information by Business Segment and Product Category

Sales and other financial information by business segment are provided in Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements that
are included in this Annual Report.
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Competition

The perishable food industry, including the avocado, tomato, papaya, and prepared foods markets in which we operate, is highly 
competitive.  Competition is intensified by the perishable nature of our products and the need to meet evolving consumer 
preferences.  We compete on several factors, including price, product quality, brand recognition, customer loyalty, consistency, 
supply reliability, marketing effectiveness, and our ability to provide value-added services such as ripening, packaging, regional 
distribution and logistics.

Our avocado business faces competition from both large multinational producers and distributors as well as regional and local 
growers and importers.  Supply fluctuations, driven by seasonality, weather conditions and pests, among other geopolitical factors, 
can impact pricing and availability, particularly given the year-round demand for avocados.  We believe our diverse sourcing regions, 
including California, Mexico, Peru, and Colombia, as well as our long-standing grower relationships and state-of-the-art ripening and 
packing facilities, provide a competitive advantage.

In the prepared avocado products segment, we face competition from local and international food processors offering both 
branded and private-label guacamole and avocado products.  Consumer preferences, particularly for natural, preservative-free 
products, drive differentiation in this market.  Our use of ultra-high pressure processing technology to deliver high-quality, 
preservative-free guacamole with extended shelf life helps position us as a leader in this category.  Additionally, our ability to ship 
fresh or frozen products enhances our flexibility and reach across retail and foodservice markets in the U.S. and abroad.

While barriers to entry in the avocado, tomato, and produce markets are relatively low, we believe our scale, infrastructure, and 
reputation for quality and service differentiate us from smaller competitors.  Our customer-focused approach, combined with our 
global sourcing capabilities and value-added services, position us to maintain and grow our market share in this competitive industry.

Patents and Trademarks

Our trademarks include the Calavo brand name and related logos.  We also utilize the following trademarks in conducting our 
business: Avo Fresco, Bueno, Calavo Gold, Celebrate the Taste, El Dorado, Taste of Paradise, The First Name in Avocados, The 
Family of Fresh, ProRipeVIP™, and RIPE NOW!.

Research and Development

Our research and development for new and improved products generally originates from customer requests, customer and market
research and innovative ideas generated by our own team of experts with food processing and culinary backgrounds.  We solicit
customer and supplier input, review process and product trends, and conduct sensory and shelf life testing in order to expand the
category and drive new sales for our customers. Research and development costs are charged to expense when incurred. Total
research and development costs for fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022 were approximately $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million.

Compliance with Government Regulations

As a purchaser, manufacturer, distributor, marketer, and advertiser of food products, our operations are subject to extensive 
regulation by various federal government agencies, including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”), the USDA and 
the Federal Trade Commission, as well as state and local agencies, with respect to production processes, product attributes, 
packaging, labeling, storage and distribution. Under various statutes and regulations, these agencies prescribe requirements and 
establish standards for the distribution, safety, purity and labeling of food products.  In addition, our operations are subject to certain 
employment health and safety regulations, including those issued under the Occupational Safety and Health Act.  Our packinghouse 
facilities and products are subject to periodic inspection by federal, state and local authorities, including the FDA and the California 
Department of Food and Agriculture, which oversees weights & measures compliance at our California facilities. All of our US 
facilities are also in compliance with the FDA’s Food Safety Modernization Act. In addition, our operations in Mexico are subject to 
US and Mexican regulations through the USDA-APHIS and the Mexican Secretary of Agriculture, Secretariat of Agriculture and 
Rural 
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Development (SADER) primarily pertaining to phytosanitary regulations, certification regulation for the importation of Hass 
avocados to the United States.

As a large importer of perishable products in the U.S., Calavo was an early adopter of the U.S. Customs & Border Protection’s C-
TPAT certification programs for monitoring and expediting all imports to the U.S.  

As a purchaser and manufacturer of perishable agricultural commodities, we are subject to, and compliant with, the USDA’s
Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act. Certain agricultural commodities sold by Calavo are subject to additional specific
government acts or regulations, including the Hass Avocado Promotion, Research and Information Act of 2000 for our avocados and
the federal suspension agreement guidelines which govern tomato imports to the U.S.

As a result of our agricultural and food processing activities, we are subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations.
These laws and regulations govern the treatment, handling, storage and disposal of materials and waste and the remediation of
contaminated properties.

We seek to comply at all times with all such laws and regulations and to obtain any necessary permits and licenses, and we are 
not aware of any instances of material non-compliance.  We believe our facilities and practices are sufficient to maintain compliance 
with applicable governmental laws, regulations, permits and licenses.  

Human Capital Resources

We believe in nurturing people, from consumers eating our products to our employees, suppliers, customers and the communities
in which we live and work.

Employees: Our employees are our greatest asset and are directly responsible for our success in delivering fresh, quality products 
to consumers.  As of October 31, 2024, we had 2,106 employees, of which 317 were in the US and 1,789 were in Mexico.  While we 
have certain operations in Hawaii that are represented by a union, we do not have a significant number of US employees covered by 
a collective bargaining agreement.  Substantially all our Mexican employees, however, are represented by a union.  We consider the 
relationship with our employees to be good and we have never experienced a significant work stoppage. 

The following is a summary of the number of “salaried” and “hourly” employees as of October 31, 2024.

Location      Salaried      Hourly      Total
United States    134    183    317
Mexico    388    1,401    1,789

TOTAL    522    1,584    2,106

We compensate all workers with wages, overtime premiums, and benefits that meet or exceed local legal standards, local industry 
standards, or collective agreements, whichever are highest.  We have a grade and pay band structure in place for all U.S. positions, 
which is reviewed and updated no less than annually.  We provide our employees with competitively fixed and/or variable pay, and 
for eligible employees we provide access to health and retirement benefits.  

We have a framework for whistleblowing that allows employees to freely communicate their concerns about illegal or unethical
practices without fear of retaliation or reprisal and which designates the Audit committee to oversee whistleblowing reports that are
investigated by relevant departments. Our whistleblower policy is intended to promote the highest standards of fair treatment and
personal ethics in the conduct of company business and practices.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion: We strive to foster a culture of diversity, equity, and inclusion, so all employees feel respected, 
and no employee feels discriminated against.  We are proud of the diversity throughout our organization and feel this contributes to a 
positive and respectful working environment.  It also helps foster innovation, creativity, and a wider range of perspectives to help us 
achieve even greater success.  
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We embrace diversity throughout our company as we have employees across multiple generations and many different
backgrounds.

Engagement and Opportunities: Evolving our culture to increase employee engagement and productivity is a primary focus of 
our strategic plan as we believe an engaged workforce leads to a more innovative, productive and profitable company.  Our 
employees are supported with training and development opportunities to pursue their careers and support compliance with our 
policies.  We support employee growth and development through our partnership with LinkedIn Learning and other platforms, 
offering access to a comprehensive library of work-related topics, certifications, and training resources.  Additionally, our enhanced 
HRIS system provides employees with a user-friendly dashboard—accessible via mobile devices or workstations—allowing 
convenient access to company communications, personal information, and organizational resources.

Health: We are committed to providing a safe and healthy work environment where all employees are treated with dignity and 
respect.  We uphold fundamental human rights and adhere to established labor standards, not only for our own workforce, but also 
for those employed by our suppliers and the communities impacted by our operations.

Our goal is to maintain a workplace free of preventable hazards while complying with all applicable laws and regulations related 
to health and safety.  To support this commitment, we conduct monthly safety training for operational employees and enforce the use 
of personal protective equipment required for their roles. Additionally, all employees participate in annual compliance training to 
ensure adherence to regulatory standards.

We strive to make life better for everyone, in line with our vision of nourishing families with quality products.  We support the 
health and well-being of our employees by offering a comprehensive package of salaries and fringe benefits for employees, which 
we believe is a generous package for agri-industrial workers. Employees enjoy benefits which include: 

a. 401k retirement plan with an employer match, up to 5% and immediate vesting.
b. Company paid Group Term Life Insurance and supplementary life benefit elective options for the employee and family

members.
c. Medical, Dental and Vision plans – administered by a Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) or Preferred Provider Plan

(PPO)
d. Flexible Spending Account (FSA) that can reduce employee tax liability.
e. Short-Term (STD) and Long-Term (LTD) disability plans paid for by Calavo.
f. A company paid Employee Assistance Program, offering free and confidential counseling services.
g. Vacation accrual of 2 – 4 weeks of accrual per year and paid sick leave.
h. Paid Bereavement leave of 3 days.
i. Paid Pregnancy leave.
j. Cell phone and internet allowance where employees use their personal devices for work related purposes, based upon the

position.

Safety: We are committed to building a culture of safety with the goal of zero incidents.  Our approach prioritizes the health and 
well-being of our employees through proactive training programs, strict compliance with safety regulations, and continuous 
improvement initiatives.  We implement comprehensive safety protocols across all facilities, regularly conduct safety audits, and 
provide ongoing training to ensure employees are equipped to recognize and mitigate risks. We also emphasize incident prevention 
through behavior-based safety programs and open communication channels, encouraging employees to report potential hazards 
without fear of retaliation.  To reinforce accountability, we track key safety metrics such as recordable incident rates and lost time 
injury rates, benchmarking our performance against industry standards.  Our safety culture extends beyond compliance, focusing on 
engagement, education, and empowerment to ensure every employee takes ownership of workplace safety.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information electronically with the SEC.  Our annual 
reports on Form 10-K and proxy statements are made available free of charge through the Investors section 
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of the Company’s website (http:// ir.calavo.com/financial-information/annual-reports-and-proxy-statements) as soon as practicable 
after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.  Material contained on our website is not incorporated by 
reference in this report.  Our executive officers are located at 1141-A Cummings Road, Santa Paula, CA 93060.  The SEC also 
maintains an internet website that contains reports and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC 
located at http://www.sec.gov.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risks and other information in this Form 10-K. Any of the following risks could
materially and adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition. The following risk factors should be read in
conjunction with Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the
Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this
Form 10-K.

Business and Operational Risks

We may face challenges related to the transition and carve-out of operations following the divestiture of our Fresh Cut business,
which could adversely impact our business, financial performance, and/or shareholder value.

The successful transition and carve-out of operations after the Fresh Cut business divestiture involves operational, strategic, and
financial risks. These include the reallocation of resources and focus on our remaining business segments, which could divert
management’s attention and impact efficiency and profitability.

Additionally, the reduced scale of our operations may lead to revenue fluctuations and challenges in managing fixed costs,
potentially affecting our financial performance.

We also face risks associated with the allocation and use of proceeds from the divestiture. Investment decisions related to these
proceeds may not yield the anticipated returns and could negatively impact shareholder value if not effectively deployed.

Any failure to address these risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Manufacturing and Supply Chain Disruption

Outbreaks of contagious diseases, sporadic pest challenges, and other adverse public health and environmental developments in 
the countries and states where we operate have had, and may continue to have, a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and operations.  These challenges can create operational disruptions in the manufacturing of our products and in the 
supply chains that support our ability to deliver products to consumers.  The potential effects include negative impacts on the 
availability of key personnel; disruptions to our facilities or the facilities of our business partners, customers, suppliers, third-party 
service providers, or other vendors; and interruptions to domestic and global supply chains, distribution channels, and financial 
markets.  Restrictions on or disruptions to transportation, border controls, and closures—as well as other impacts on supply chains 
and distribution channels—could increase costs for raw materials and commodities, limit our ability to meet customer demand, or 
otherwise materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, or cash flows.

Increases in interest rates could increase the cost of servicing our indebtedness and have an adverse effect on our results of
operations, cash flows and stock price.
 

In June 2023, Calavo and certain subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) by and among Calavo,
certain subsidiaries of Calavo as guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent and lender.  This credit facility
currently bears interest at a variable rate, which will generally change as interest rates change.  We also have various leases, and may
enter into future equipment leases, with costs that increase as interest rates increase.  We bear
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the risk that the rates we are charged under the Credit Agreement and by lessors will increase faster than the earnings and cash flow
of our business, which could reduce profitability, adversely affect our ability to service our obligations, or cause us to breach
covenants contained in the Credit Agreement or leases, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
 

Increases in interest rates may also affect consumer purchasing behavior, including for our fresh and prepared food products.
 

Additionally, the trading price of our common stock may be affected by the dividend yield on our common stock relative to
market interest rates. When market interest rates rise, the yield on our common stock may become less attractive relative to other
available securities. As a result, prospective purchasers may decide to purchase other securities rather than shares of our common
stock, which would reduce the demand for, and potentially result in a decline in the market price of, shares of our common stock.

Due to the seasonality of the business, our revenue and operating results may vary from quarter to quarter.

Our earnings may be affected by seasonal factors, including:

● the availability, quality and price of raw materials (including, but not limited to, fruit and vegetable inputs);
● the timing and effects of ripening and perishability;
● our ability to process perishable raw materials in a timely manner;
● fixed overhead costs during off-season months; and
● variations in consumer demand and holiday timing.

Our earnings are sensitive to fluctuations in market prices and demand for our products.

We buy and sell fresh produce that can be subject to price volatility caused by weather conditions such as rainfall, hailstorms,
windstorms, floods, droughts, wildfires and freezes, as well as by impacts from diseases and pests.

Fresh produce is highly perishable and generally must be brought to market and sold soon after harvest.  The selling price 
received for each type of produce depends on factors such as the availability and quality of the product in the market and the 
availability and quality of competing types of produce. 
 

In addition, public perceptions regarding the quality, safety or health risks associated with particular food products could reduce
demand and prices for some of our products. Food safety warnings, advisories, notices and recalls such as those administered by the
FDA, CDC, other federal/state government agencies and/or suppliers of various agricultural products could also reduce demand
and/or prices for some of our products. To the extent that consumers stop purchasing products that we produce due to health, food
safety or other reasons, and we are unable to modify our products or to develop products that satisfy new consumer preferences,
there could be a decreased demand for our products.

Increases in commodity or raw product input costs, such as fuel, packaging, and paper, could adversely affect our operating results.

Many factors may affect the cost and supply of fresh produce, including external conditions, commodity market fluctuations,
currency fluctuations, changes in governmental laws and regulations, the war in Ukraine or conflict elsewhere, agricultural programs,
severe and prolonged weather conditions and natural disasters. Increased costs for purchased fruit have in the past negatively
impacted our operating results, and may adversely affect our operating results in the future.

The price of various commodities can affect our costs. For example, fuel, transportation, and packaging costs are  significant 
components of our operating costs, and we may not be able to pass on to our customers any increases in costs of fuel, transportation, 
or packaging. 
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We depend on our infrastructure to have sufficient capacity to handle our annual production needs.

If we lose machinery or facilities due to natural disasters or mechanical failure, we may not be able to operate at a sufficient
capacity to meet our production needs and we may incur significant costs or delays in any effort to restore lost capacity. Our
production capacity for guacamole products is consolidated in a single manufacturing plant in the state of Michoacán, Mexico. Any
significant production disruptions at this manufacturing site could result in a limitation of the availability of some or all our
guacamole products. Any disruptions in our infrastructure could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
and financial condition.

Failure to optimize our supply chain or disruption of our supply chain could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In coordination with our suppliers, our ability to make, move and sell products is critical to our success. Our inability to maintain
sufficient internal production capacity or our inability to enter into co-packing agreements on reasonable terms could have an adverse
effect on our business. Failure to adequately handle increasing production costs and complexity, turnover of manufacturing
personnel, or production capability and efficiency issues could materially impact our ability to produce our products in a cost-
effective manner and meet customer demand.

Additionally, damage or disruption to our collective manufacturing or distribution capabilities resulting from weather, any
potential effects of climate change, natural disaster, disease, crop spoilage, fire or explosion, terrorism, organized crime, pandemics,
strikes, repairs or enhancements at our facilities, or other reasons, could impair our ability to manufacture or sell our products. For
example, our production capacity for guacamole products is consolidated in a single manufacturing plant in the state of Michoacán,
Mexico. Any significant production disruptions at this manufacturing site could result in a limitation of the availability of some or all
our guacamole products. Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to effectively
manage such events if they occur, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, and may require
additional resources to restore our supply chain

Disruption of the supply or reliability of transportation services and/or significant increases in the cost of these services could have
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We use multiple forms of transportation to bring our products to market, including truck, ocean, and air-cargo.  Disruption to the 
timely supply of these services or dramatic increases in the cost of these services for any reason including availability of fuel for such 
services, labor disputes, governmental regulation, or governmental restrictions limiting specific forms of transportation could have an 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The acquisition of other businesses could pose risks to our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We intend to review acquisition prospects that would complement our business. While we are not currently a party to any 
definitive agreement with respect to any acquisitions, we may acquire other businesses in the future.  Future acquisitions by us could 
result in accounting charges, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, and increased debt and contingent liabilities, any of 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business and the market price of our common stock.  Acquisitions involve 
numerous risks, including the integration of the acquired operations, diversion of management’s attention to other business concerns, 
risks of entering markets in which we have limited prior experience, and the potential loss of key employees of acquired 
organizations. We may be unable to successfully integrate businesses or the personnel of any business that might be acquired in the 
future, and our failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business and on the market price of our common stock. 
Management’s attention, or other resources, may be diverted if we fail to successfully complete or integrate business combinations or 
investment transactions.
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System security risks, data protection breaches, cyber-attacks and systems integration issues could disrupt our internal operations
and services provided to customers, and any such disruption could damage our reputation and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our information technology networks could be compromised by cyber-attacks resulting in misappropriation of our confidential
information or that of third parties, system disruptions or system shutdowns. For example, in 2019, certain of our computer systems
were encrypted by ransomware, which prevented them from operating for a period of time. Attackers may be able to develop and
deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious software programs that infiltrate our systems or otherwise exploit any security
vulnerabilities. In addition, sophisticated hardware and operating system software and applications that we procure from third parties
may contain defects in design or manufacture, including “bugs” and other problems that could unexpectedly interfere with the
operation of the system. The costs to us to eliminate or alleviate cyber or other security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious
software programs and security vulnerabilities could be significant, and our efforts to address these problems may not be successful
and could result in interruptions, delays, cessation of service and loss of existing or potential customers that may impede our sales,
manufacturing, distribution or other critical functions. We carry insurance, including cyber insurance, commensurate with our size
and the nature of our operations; although there is no certainty that such insurance will in all cases be sufficient to fully reimburse us
for all losses incurred in connection with the occurrence of any of these system security risks, data protection breaches, cyber-attacks
or other events.

Our information technology systems may also experience interruptions, delays or cessations of service, or produce errors in
connection with systems integration or migration work that takes place from time to time. We may not be successful in implementing
new systems and transitioning data, which could cause business disruptions and be more expensive, time-consuming, disruptive and
resource intensive. Such disruptions could adversely impact our ability to fulfill orders and interrupt other processes.

The loss of one or more of our largest customers, or a reduction in the level of purchases made by these customers, could negatively
impact our sales and profits.

Sales to Walmart, our largest customer, amounted to approximately 12% of our total net sales in 2024. We expect that a
significant portion of our revenues will continue to be derived from a relatively small number of customers. We believe these
customers make purchase decisions based on a combination of price, product quality, consumer demand, customer service
performance, desired inventory levels and other factors that may be important to them at the time the purchase decisions are made.
Changes in our customers' strategies or purchasing patterns, including a reduction in the number of brands they carry, may adversely
affect our sales. Additionally, our customers may face financial or other difficulties which may impact their operations and cause
them to reduce their level of purchases from us, which could adversely affect our results of operations. Customers also may respond
to any price increase that we may implement by reducing their purchases from us, resulting in reduced sales of our products. If sales
of our products to one or more of our largest customers decrease, the impact may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. Any bankruptcy or other business disruption involving one of our significant customers
also could similarly adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Changes in our business relationships with California and Mexican growers could significantly impact our avocado supply.

We are dependent on our long-term relationships with independent growers in California and Mexico to obtain and maintain our
supply of avocados in the United States. Deterioration of our relationships with our key growers could adversely affect our Grown
business in the U.S., which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Holders of our common stock may not receive the level of dividends that we have paid in the past or any dividends at all.

Dividend payments are not mandatory or guaranteed and holders of our common stock do not have any legal right to receive, or
require us to pay, dividends. Our Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, decrease the level of dividends relative to those paid
in the past, including entirely discontinuing the payment of dividends. Future dividends
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with respect to shares of our capital stock, if any, depend on, among other things, our results of operations, cash requirements,
financial condition, contractual restrictions (including restrictions in our Credit Agreement), business opportunities, provisions of
applicable law (including certain provisions of the California Corporations Code) and other factors that our Board of Directors may
deem relevant.

We have in the past had and may in the future incur substantial indebtedness which could restrict our ability to pay dividends and
would impact our financing options and liquidity position.

Our ability to pay dividends is subject to restrictions contained in our Credit Agreement. Additionally, although our Credit
Agreement contains covenants that restrict our ability to incur debt, as long as we meet these covenants, we will be able to incur
additional indebtedness. The degree to which we are leveraged on a consolidated basis could have important consequences to the
holders of our securities, including:

● our ability in the future to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures or acquisitions may be
limited;

● we may not be able to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all;
● a significant portion of our cash flow may be dedicated to the payment of interest on our indebtedness, thereby reducing

funds available for operations, capital expenditures, acquisitions and/or dividends on our common stock; and
● we may be more vulnerable to economic downturns and be limited in our ability to withstand competitive pressures.

Changing rules, public disclosure regulations and stakeholder expectations on environmental, social and corporate governance
(“ESG”) related matters create a variety of risks for our business.

Increasingly, regulators, consumers, customers, investors, employees and other stakeholders are focusing on ESG matters and
related disclosures. These changing rules, public disclosure regulations and stakeholder expectations have resulted in, and are likely
to continue to result in, increased management time and attention spent complying with or meeting such regulations and
expectations. For example, developing and acting on initiatives within the scope of ESG, and collecting, measuring and reporting
ESG-related information and metrics can be costly, difficult and time consuming and is subject to evolving reporting standards,
including the SEC’s proposed climate-related reporting requirements, and similar proposals by other international regulatory bodies.
This rapidly changing environment may result in increased general and administrative expenses.

      We may also communicate certain initiatives and goals regarding environmental, diversity and other ESG-related matters. These
initiatives and goals could be difficult and expensive to implement, and we could be criticized for the accuracy, adequacy or
completeness of the disclosure. Further, statements about our ESG-related initiatives and goals, and progress against those goals,
may be based on standards for measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and processes that continue to evolve,
and assumptions that are subject to change in the future. In addition, we could be criticized for the scope or nature of such initiatives
or goals, or for any revisions to these goals. If our ESG-related data, processes and reporting are incomplete or inaccurate, or if we
fail to achieve progress with respect to our goals within the scope of ESG on a timely basis, or at all, our reputation, business, results
of operations and financial condition could be adversely impacted.
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Human Capital Risks

We have recently transitioned new personnel into executive leadership positions and our future success will depend in part on our
ability to manage this transition successfully. Management and key personnel changes may disrupt our operations, and we may have
difficulty attracting and retaining qualified replacements.

We have experienced changes in management and other key personnel in critical functions across our organization, including our
chief financial officer and other members of our accounting department. Changes in management and other key personnel have the
potential to disrupt our business, and any such disruption could adversely affect our operations, programs, growth, financial
condition and results of operations. Further, new members of management may have different perspectives on programs and
opportunities for our business, which may cause us to focus on new business opportunities or reduce or change emphasis on our
existing business programs.

      Our success is dependent upon our ability to attract and retain qualified management and key personnel in a highly competitive 
environment. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract them, particularly at the 
executive level. We may face difficulty in attracting, retaining and compensating key talent for various reasons, including 
competitive market conditions, the effect of recent company performance on the achievement of performance compensation 
conditions, and the need to align the vision of a new executive team with our Board’s vision for our Company. We cannot assure you 
that we will be able to hire or retain the personnel necessary to achieve our strategic vision, that personnel we do recruit will be 
successful or that the loss of any such personnel will not have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

      Replacing departing executives can involve organizational disruption and uncertainty. We have paid in the past, and we may in 
the future pay, significant severance to departed executives. If we fail to manage transitions successfully, we could experience 
significant delays or difficulty in the achievement of our development and strategic objectives and our business, financial condition 
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

A portion of our workforce is unionized and labor disruptions could decrease our profitability.

While we believe that our relations with our employees and labor unions are good, we cannot ensure that we will be able to
negotiate collective bargaining agreements on favorable terms, or at all, and without production interruptions, including labor
stoppages. A prolonged labor dispute, which could include a work stoppage, could have a material adverse effect on the portion of
our business affected by the dispute, which could impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on co-packers for a portion of our production needs.

We utilize high-quality co-packers to produce a portion of our retail and foodservice products.  If we are unable to utilize quality 
co-packers effectively, we may not be able to meet our production needs for our expected growth. Similarly, if an existing co-packer 
is no longer able or willing to produce products for us, there are no assurances that we will be able to immediately replace them with 
our own production capacity or that of another co-packer operating in the same region and at the same level of quality.  We closely 
monitor and audit the quality of our co-packers; and our co-packers are required to maintain insurance.  We, however, remain subject 
to risks related to the production of fresh and prepared foods.
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Industry Risks

We are subject to increasing competition that may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The fresh produce and prepared food markets in which we operate are highly competitive.  Each of our businesses is subject to 
competitive pressures, including the following:

● The market for avocados is impacted by an increasing volume of foreign grown avocados being imported into the United 
States.  There have been significant plantings of avocados in Mexico, Chile, the Dominican Republic, Peru, Colombia and 
other parts of the world, which have had, and will continue to have, the effect of increasing the volume of foreign grown 
avocados entering the United States market. Increased supply could put downward pressure on the market price for avocados 
and also lead to more marketing and distribution competitors if we are unable to process sufficient supply to maintain our 
market share.

● We are subject to competition from other avocado packers.  If we are unable to consistently pay growers a competitive price 
for their avocados, these growers may choose to have their avocados marketed by alternate packers.

● In the guacamole market we compete with a variety of global manufacturers and distributors.  These competitors include 
both branded and non-branded producers.  To compete globally, we must be able to source, sell, and distribute globally.  The 
overall availability and quality of our avocado source from which we produce our guacamole products can have a 
meaningful impact on sales and profitability.  

A recall of our products could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, we may be subject to significant liability
claims should the consumption of any of our products cause injury, illness or death.

The sale of food products for human consumption involves the risk of injury to consumers. Such injuries may result from
tampering by unauthorized third parties, product contamination or spoilage, including the presence of foreign objects, substances,
chemicals, other agents, or residues introduced during the growing, storage, handling or transportation phases. While we are subject
to governmental inspection and regulations and believe our facilities comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and
regulations, we cannot be sure that consumption of our products will not cause a health-related illness in the future or that we will not
be subject to claims or lawsuits relating to such matters. Even if a product liability claim is unsuccessful or is not fully pursued, the
negative publicity surrounding any assertion that our products caused illness or injury could adversely affect our reputation with
existing and potential customers and our corporate and brand image.

Climate change may negatively affect our business and operations.

There is concern that carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere may have an adverse impact on global
temperatures, weather patterns and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and natural disasters.

In the event that such climate change has a negative effect on agricultural productivity, we may be subject to decreased
availability or less favorable pricing for certain commodities that are necessary for our products. As a result of climate change, we
may also be subjected to decreased availability of water, deteriorated quality of water or less favorable pricing for water, which could
adversely impact our manufacturing and distribution operations.

Demand for our products is subject to changing consumer preferences.

     Consumer preferences for food products are subject to fluctuations over time.  Our ability to market and sell our products 
successfully depends in part on our ability to identify changing consumer preferences and respond to those changes by offering 
products that appeal broadly to consumers.  Shifts in consumer preferences that can impact demand for our products can arise from 
various factors, including dietary trends, attention to particular nutritional aspects of our products, concerns regarding the health 
effects of particular ingredients, attention given to ingredient sourcing practices, and general public perception of food safety risks.  
Consumer demand for our products also may be impacted by any public commentary that consumers or certain regulatory bodies 
(including federal or state agencies involved in 
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monitoring food safety) may make regarding our products or similar products.  Consumer demand for our products also may be 
impacted by changes in the level of advertising or promotional support employed by (i) us, (ii) our retail/foodservice customers, (iii) 
relevant industry groups, or (iv) third parties that provide competing products.  If consumer preferences trend negatively with respect 
to any one or more of our products, our sales volumes may decline as a result.

We rely on independent certifications for a number of our products.

     We rely on independent third-party certifications, such as certifications of our products as “organic,” “Non-GMO” or “kosher,” to 
differentiate our products from others. We must comply with the requirements of independent organizations or certification 
authorities in order to label our products as certified organic. For example, we can lose our “organic” certification if a manufacturing 
plant becomes contaminated with non-organic materials, or if it is not properly cleaned after a production run. In addition, all raw 
materials must be certified organic. Similarly, we can lose our “kosher” certification if a manufacturing plant and raw materials do 
not meet the requirements of the appropriate kosher supervisory organization. The loss of any independent certifications could 
adversely affect our market position as an organic and natural products company, which could harm our business.

Regulatory and Related Risks

Environmental and other regulation of our business, including potential climate change regulation, could adversely impact us by
increasing our production cost or restricting our ability to import certain products into the United States.

Climate change could increase both the frequency and severity of natural disasters that may affect our business operations.
Moreover, there has been a broad range of proposed and promulgated state, national and international regulation aimed at reducing
the effects of climate change. Such regulations apply or could apply in countries where we have interests or could have interests in
the future. In the United States, there is a significant possibility that some form of regulation will be enacted at the federal level to
address the effects of climate change. Such regulation could take several forms that could result in additional costs in the form of
taxes, the restriction of output, investments of capital to maintain compliance with laws and regulations, or required acquisition or
trading of emission allowances. Climate change regulation continues to evolve, and it is not possible to accurately estimate either a
timetable for implementation or our future compliance costs relating to implementation.

Increased legislative, regulatory and public scrutiny on ESG issues including potential litigation involving our ESG practices or
disclosures may adversely affect our business, and results of operations.   
 

A number of companies have been subject to private litigation and governmental action involving a diverse set of claims ranging
from allegedly false environmental compliance and “sustainability” disclosures, social issues such as modern slavery in supply
chains, and governance issues involving corporate audits and reporting.  Like many companies, we publish an annual sustainability
report covering topics including energy and emissions, fair labor, and sustainable agriculture.  While we believe the disclosures in
our sustainability reports and elsewhere concerning ESG are accurate, we could still be subject to litigation involving ESG claims. 
Such litigation, even if without merit, could negatively impact our reputation, take management time and attention away from other
company business, require changes in operations and/or adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, the actions of growers and other industry partners on ESG matters could negatively impact our reputation or involve us
in legal or regulatory proceedings concerning their conduct. Additionally, any perceived failures to operate in accordance with
domestic and international laws and regulations could cause consumers to no longer associate our company and our brands with high
quality and safety products, may adversely affect the value of our brands and the demand for our products.

Unanticipated changes in U.S. or international tax provisions, the adoption of new tax legislation, or exposure to additional tax
liabilities could affect our business, results of operations and financial position.

We are subject to taxes in the U.S. and Mexico. Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions may
be subject to significant change. Our effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of
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earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax
laws or their interpretation.

We are also subject to the examination of our tax returns and other tax matters by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, the SAT and
other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of an adverse outcome resulting from these examinations to determine the
adequacy of our provision for taxes. There can be no assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes of any audits, and the
amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of audits could be materially different from the amounts previously included in our income
tax expense and therefore could have a material impact on our tax provision, net income and cash flows. If our effective tax rates
were to increase, or if the ultimate determination of our taxes owed is for an amount in excess of amounts previously accrued, our
financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our dispute with Mexican tax authorities related to the 2013 Tax Assessment may have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations and financial position.  

In July 2018, a local office of the SAT issued a final tax assessment (the “2013 Assessment”) totaling approximately $2.6 billion 
Mexican pesos (which includes annual adjustments for inflation, and equals approx. $128.9 million USD at October 31, 2024) 
related to a fiscal 2013 tax audit.  This amount has been adjusted for inflation as of October 31, 2024 to the amount of $3 billion 
Mexican pesos (approx. $148.8 million USD).  Additionally, the tax authorities have determined that we owe our employees profit-
sharing liability, totaling approximately $118 million Mexican pesos (approx. $5.9 million USD at October 31, 2024).

We filed an Administrative Appeal in August 2018, which was denied in March 2021, and liens were placed on CDM’s fixed
assets and bank accounts. Court rulings later removed the liens and restored access to funds. Subsequent legal actions, including an
Annulment Suit and Injunction Suit, challenged the SAT's findings and process. While courts have ruled favorably on some
procedural matters, the core tax assessment remains unresolved, and litigation is ongoing.

In March 2022, we secured an Administrative Guaranty to safeguard CDM assets during the ongoing legal proceedings. In October
2022, the Tax Court ruled in favor of CDM, granting a definitive suspension of all collection actions, instructing the SAT to lift all
liens on CDM's fixed assets and bank accounts, and acknowledging that the $3.1 billion pesos assessment exceeds CDM's economic
capacity. While we continue to believe the assessment is without merit, we recorded a provision of $11.0 million in fiscal 2021 to
account for estimated penalties, interest, and inflationary adjustments. Based on legal counsel from our tax advisory firm, we and our
tax advisory firm have concluded that the provision remains reasonable as of October 31, 2024.

Despite our belief that we will prevail, there is no assurance of a favorable outcome or acceptable settlement terms.  An adverse 
result could materially impact our financial condition and potentially trigger defaults under our credit facility.

Our dispute with the Mexican tax authorities related to taxes receivable may have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial position.

As of October 31, 2024, and October 31, 2023, CDM's IVA receivables, net of our estimated provision for uncollectable amounts,
totaled $48.7 million (976.0 million Mexican pesos) and $49.9 million (913.6 million Mexican pesos).  Historically, CDM received
IVA refunds from the Mexican tax authorities in a timely manner. However, since fiscal 2014 and continuing into fiscal 2024, the tax
authorities have challenged refund requests and supporting documentation that were previously deemed acceptable. They have also
questioned refunds related to IVA paid to certain suppliers alleged to have failed to meet their own tax obligations. These factors,
among others, have contributed to delays in processing IVA claims.

We are actively pursuing the collection of these balances through regular administrative processes, but recovery may ultimately
require Administrative Appeals or other legal actions. For additional details, see Note 14 in the consolidated financial statements.
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We believe our operations in Mexico are properly documented, and our internationally recognized tax advisors support our
position that there are legal grounds to prevail in recovering the IVA amounts. Accordingly, we have recorded no provision related to
these refunds.  However, there is no assurance that we will be able to collect the full amounts recorded in our financial statements.  

We are subject to possible changing USDA and FDA regulations which govern the importation of foreign avocados into the United
States and the processing of prepared avocado products.

The USDA has established, and continues to modify, regulations governing the importation of avocados into the United States. 
Our permits that allow us to import foreign-sourced avocados into the United States generally are contingent on our compliance with 
these regulations.  Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to comply with existing and modified 
regulations and are unable to secure avocado import permits in the future.

The FDA establishes, and continues to modify, regulations governing the production of prepared avocado products, such as the
new Food Safety Modernization Act, which implements mandatory preventive controls for food facilities and compliance with
mandatory produce safety standards.  Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to comply with these
existing and modified regulations. Such failures could also cause reputational damage to our business.

If we fail to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or other similar legal requirements, we may be subject to criminal and
civil penalties and other remedial measures, which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of
operations or financial condition.

We are subject to the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), and other anti-corruption laws and regulations that
generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to government officials and/or other persons
for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Our policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. We operate in
Mexico, which is recognized as having a greater potential for governmental and commercial corruption.

Recent years have seen a substantial increase in anti-bribery law enforcement activity by U.S. regulators, with more frequent and
aggressive investigations and enforcement proceedings by both the SEC and the Department of Justice ("DOJ"), increased
enforcement activity by non-U.S. regulators, and increases in criminal and civil proceedings brought against companies and
individuals.

On January 16, 2024, the Company announced that its internal audit process had identified to the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors certain matters that the Board of Directors determined after fiscal year end merited enhanced evaluation. A Special
Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Special Committee”) was established to commence an investigation, with the assistance
of external legal counsel and external forensic accountants. The Special Committee determined that certain of those matters related to
the Company’s operations in Mexico raised potential issues under the FCPA. The Company voluntarily disclosed this ongoing
investigation to the SEC and the DOJ, and the Company intends to fully cooperate with the SEC and the DOJ in connection with
these matters.

Any determination that the Company’s operations or activities are not or were not in compliance with laws, including the FCPA,
could result in a broad range of civil and criminal sanctions against the Company and certain of its personnel, including injunctive
relief, disgorgement, substantial fines or penalties, imprisonment, interruptions of business, loss of supplier, vendor or other third-
party relationships, termination of necessary licenses and permits, and other legal or equitable sanctions. Other internal or
government investigations or legal or regulatory proceedings, including lawsuits brought by private litigants, may also follow as a
consequence. Violations of these laws may result in criminal or civil sanctions, which could disrupt our business and result in a
material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations or financial condition. Moreover, our ongoing internal
investigation, and cooperating with and responding to the SEC and the DOJ in connection with potential investigations they may
undertake, as well as responding to any future U.S. or foreign governmental investigations or whistleblower lawsuits, have resulted
in, and may continue to result in, substantial expenses, and have diverted and may continue to divert management’s attention from
other business concerns, and could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition and growth prospects.
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International Risks

We work with international third-party suppliers and partners, and our financial results could suffer due to unfavorable international
events or regulations.

      We conduct a substantial amount of business with growers and customers who are located outside the United States. We purchase 
avocados from foreign growers and packers, sell fresh avocados and prepared avocado products to foreign customers, and operate 
packinghouses and a processing plant in Mexico. Mexico is the largest source of our supply of avocados, and our operations are 
affected by events in that country. In recent years, there has been an increase in organized crime in Mexico, which could in the future 
affect avocado farming, packing and shipment activities and increase the costs and risks of doing business in Mexico. We are also 
subject to regulations imposed by the Mexican government and to examinations by the Mexican tax authorities. Significant changes 
to these government regulations and to assessments by the Mexican tax authorities can have a negative impact on our operations and 
operating results in Mexico. Importing avocados from Mexico to the U.S. depends on our border remaining open, which has closed 
for trading in the past.

      In November 2022, the Mexican Secretary of Labor and Social Welfare issued criteria for subcontracting inspections noting that 
companies engaged in farming, packing, distribution, and export of fruit would have to internalize picking and hauling services. In 
response to that criteria and subsequent fines, we are appealing the applicability of the criteria to our operations in Mexico, as well as 
disputing the notification received. An adverse result of this appeal could have an adverse effect on our operations in Mexico, which 
rely to some extent on external picking and hauling services.

 For additional information about our Mexican sourced fruit, see the “Business” section included in this Annual Report.

Our current international operations are subject to various inherent risks, including:

● Local economic and political conditions, including disruptions in supply, labor, transportation (the transport of consumer
goods), trading and capital markets;

● Restrictive U.S. and foreign governmental actions, such as restrictions on transfers of funds and trade protection measures,
including import/export duties and quotas and customs duties and tariffs; and

● Changes in legal or regulatory requirements affecting foreign investment, loans, taxes (including value-added taxes),
imports, and exports.

The Hamas-Israel and Russia-Ukraine conflicts, other areas of geopolitical tension around the world, or the worsening of those
conflicts or tensions, and any related challenging macroeconomic conditions globally and in various countries in which we and our
customers operate may materially adversely affect our customers, vendors, and partners, and the duration and extent to which these
factors may impact our future business and operations, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows remain uncertain.

    The Hamas-Israel and Russia-Ukraine conflicts, or other areas of geopolitical tension around the world, or any worsening or 
spread of those conflicts or geopolitical tensions, and any related challenging macroeconomic conditions globally, could decrease the 
spending of our existing and potential new customers, adversely affect demand for our products, cause one or more of our customers, 
vendors, and partners to file for bankruptcy protection or go out of business, impact expected spending and pricing levels from 
existing and potential new customers, and negatively impact collections of accounts receivable, all of which could adversely affect 
our business, results of operations and financial condition.  

     Any of the negative impacts of the Hamas-Israel and Russia-Ukraine conflicts, other areas of geopolitical tension around the 
world, or any worsening of those conflicts or geopolitical tensions, and any related challenging macroeconomic conditions, may have 
a material adverse effect on our business and operations, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Any of these 
negative impacts, alone or in combination with others, also could exacerbate many of the other risk factors discussed in this report, 
including volatility in the trading prices of our common 
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stock. The full extent to which these factors will negatively affect our business and operations, results of operations, financial 
condition and cash flows will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope, 
severity and duration of the Hamas-Israel and Russia-Ukraine conflicts, other areas of geopolitical tension around the world and any 
economic downturns and the actions taken by governmental authorities and other third parties in response.

Currency exchange fluctuations may impact the results of our operations.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations, depending upon the nature of the changes, may make our domestic-sourced products more 
expensive compared to foreign-grown products or may increase our cost of obtaining foreign-sourced products.  These foreign 
currency fluctuations also affect the ultimate realization of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities in U.S. dollar terms. 
While hedging instruments may help reduce the volatility associated with currency rate changes, hedging instruments may not be 
readily available, may be too expensive or may be ineffective for the respective reduction in volatility desired.  To date, the Company 
has not hedged against foreign currency exposure and we may not hedge against foreign currency exposure in the future, which could 
increase our susceptibility to foreign currency fluctuations.

Financial Risks

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited, and our failure to raise capital when needed could prevent us from executing
our growth strategy.

The timing and amount of our working capital and capital expenditure requirements may vary significantly depending on many
factors, including:

● Market acceptance of our products; and
● Opportunities for expansion.

If our capital resources are not sufficient to satisfy our liquidity needs, we may seek to sell additional equity or obtain additional 
debt financing.  The sale of additional equity would result in dilution to our shareholders.  Additional debt would result in increased 
expenses and could result in covenants that would restrict our operations.  We may not be able to obtain additional financing, if 
required, in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

We are subject to restrictive debt covenants and other requirements related to our debt that limit our flexibility by imposing operating
and financial restrictions on our operations.

    The Credit Agreement originally provided for a revolving credit facility of up to $90.0 million, along with a capex credit facility
of up to $10.0 million.  On August 15, 2024 in conjunction with the sale of the Fresh Cut business, the Credit Agreement was 
amended to, among other things, reduce revolving commitments thereunder to $75.0 million from $90.0 million. Later in August 
2024 the capex credit facility (also known as the “Term Loan”) was fully repaid with proceeds from the sale of the Fresh Cut 
business. See Note 6 of the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the August 15, 2024 amendment.

    The Credit Agreement imposes significant operating and financial restrictions on us. These restrictions prohibit or limit our ability
to: incur indebtedness; grant liens on assets; enter into certain investments; consummate fundamental change transactions; engage in
mergers or acquisitions or dispose of assets; enter into certain transactions with affiliates; make changes to our fiscal year; enter into
certain restrictive agreements; and make certain restricted payments (including for dividends). Each of these limitations are subject to
various conditions.  The Credit Agreement also contains a springing fixed charge coverage ratio financial covenant that is tested if
the amount of the Revolving Loans available to borrow under the Credit Facility is less than 10% of the total revolving credit facility.

     The Credit Agreement also contains certain affirmative covenants and customary events of default provisions, including, subject 
to thresholds and grace periods, among others, payment default, covenant default, cross default to other material indebtedness, and 
judgment default.
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     Our ability to comply with the ratios or tests may be affected by events beyond our control, including prevailing economic,
financial and industry conditions. A breach of any of these covenants, or failure to meet or maintain ratios or tests could result in a
default under the Credit Agreement. Certain events of default under the Credit Agreement would prohibit us from paying dividends
on our common stock. In addition, upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Credit Agreement, the lenders could elect to
declare all amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. If
we were unable to repay those amounts, the Credit Agreement lenders could proceed against the security granted to them to secure
that indebtedness. If the lenders accelerate the payment of the indebtedness, our assets may not be sufficient to repay in full this
indebtedness and our other indebtedness.

Our ownership in unconsolidated subsidiaries, our loans/notes or advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and other future debt or
equity investments that we may make in unconsolidated subsidiaries, present risks and challenges that could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Income/(loss) from unconsolidated entities includes our allocation of earnings or losses from our investments in Don Memo. We
do not control the operations of this investment, and our allocation of potential income or loss can increase or decrease our overall
profitability significantly.

Any loans/notes or advances that we make to unconsolidated entities (such as the existing advances to Don Memo) may at some
point in the future be deemed uncollectible and as such may materially and negatively impact our financial results in the period such
determination is made. As noted earlier, we do not control the operations of Don Memo, and their future operating performance
and/or their future ability to raise capital from other third parties could negatively impact our ability to collect on our loans/notes or
advances.

General Risks

The value of our common stock may be adversely affected by market volatility and our common stock price has fluctuated and may
continue to fluctuate, which may make future prices of our common stock difficult to predict.

Investors should not rely on recent or historical trends to predict future stock prices, financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows. Our common stock price, like that of other companies, can be volatile and can be affected by many factors, including:

● Our operating and financial performance and prospects;
● Announcements and public SEC filings we make about our business, financial performance and prospects;
● Announcements our customers or competitors make regarding their business, financial performance and prospects;
● Short-interest in our common stock, which may be significant from time-to-time;
● The depth and liquidity of the market for our common stock;
● Investor perception of us and the industry and markets in which we operate;
● Our inclusion in, or removal from, any equity market indices;
● Changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recommendations by analysts;
● Whether or not we meet earnings estimates of analysts who follow our Company;
● Competitors in common markets; and
● General financial, domestic, international, economic, industry and other market trends or conditions.

Our performance may be impacted by general economic conditions or an economic downturn.

An overall decline in economic activity could adversely impact our business and financial results. Economic uncertainty may
reduce consumer spending as consumers make decisions on what to include in their food budgets. This could also result in a shift in
consumer preference. Shifts in consumer spending could result in increased pressure from competitors or customers that may require
us to increase promotional spending or reduce the prices of some of our products and/or limit our ability to increase or maintain
prices, which could lower our revenue and profitability. Instability in financial markets may impact our ability, or increase the cost,
to enter into new credit agreements in the
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future. Additionally, it may weaken the ability of our customers, suppliers, third-party distributors, banks, insurance companies and
other business partners to perform their obligations in the normal course of business, which could expose us to losses or disrupt the
supply of inputs we rely upon to conduct our business. If one or more of our key business partners fail to perform as expected or
contracted for any reason, our business could be negatively impacted.

Our insurance policies may not adequately protect us from liability and they may negatively impact our financial condition and
results of operations due to the increasing premiums.

While we believe that the extent of our insurance coverage is consistent with industry practice, such coverage does not cover all
losses we may incur, even in areas for which we have coverage. Our insurance policies are subject to coverage exclusions,
deductibles and caps, and any claim we make under our insurance policies may be subject to such limitations. Any claim we make
may not be honored fully, in a timely manner, or at all, and we may not have purchased sufficient insurance to cover all losses
incurred. If we were to incur substantial liabilities or if our business operations were interrupted for a substantial period of time, we
could incur costs and suffer losses. Additionally, in the future, insurance coverage may not be available to us at commercially
acceptable premiums, or at all.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated with our overall enterprise risk management program and shares
common methodologies, reporting channels and governance processes that apply across functions to other legal, compliance,
strategic, operational, and financial risk areas. This integration ensures a holistic approach to risk management, enabling us to
address cybersecurity risks in the context of broader organizational risks.

We build and evaluate our cybersecurity risk management program based on the National Institute of Standards and Technology 
Cybersecurity Framework (NIST CSF).  The NIST CSF offers a thorough set of guidelines and best practices to help us establish a 
strong cybersecurity posture.  Utilizing the NIST CSF enables us to systematically identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks 
pertinent to our business operations.  However, it's important to highlight that using the NIST CSF as a guide does not imply that our 
cybersecurity program meets any specific technical standards, specifications, or requirements.

Our cybersecurity risk management program is grounded in a zero-trust framework and employs a multi-layered approach to
ensure comprehensive protection. This approach includes:

● Awareness and Training for Employees: We conduct regular phishing campaigns, informational sessions at management
meetings, and annual mandatory training with simulations of common cybersecurity threats. These initiatives aim to enhance
employee awareness and preparedness against potential cyber threats.

● Security Tools and Technologies: We utilize advanced security tools and technologies, along with control policies and active
review procedures, to strengthen authentication and access protection. This includes implementing multi-factor authentication,
encryption, and continuous monitoring of network activities.

● Third-Party Risk Management: We have established a rigorous third-party risk management process and monitoring procedures
for service providers, suppliers, and vendors who have access to critical systems and information. This ensures that our partners
adhere to our cybersecurity standards and do not introduce vulnerabilities into our environment.

● Risk and Vulnerability Management: Our risk and vulnerability management program encompasses both proactive and
predictive defenses. We regularly assess, remediate, and validate our security measures to address emerging threats and
vulnerabilities. This includes conducting vulnerability scans, penetration testing, and threat intelligence analysis.
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● Managed Detection and Incident Response: We employ advanced endpoint protection and managed detection and response
services to quickly identify and respond to potential security incidents. Our incident response team is equipped to handle various
types of cyber threats and minimize their impact on our operations.

In evaluating the risks identified as a part of the annual assessment process, our information technology team considers the
likelihood and severity of the respective risk and the potential impact of the risk, including any potential impact on our customers
and our employees. These risks are then prioritized and monitored by the information technology team.

We conduct periodic testing of software, hardware, defensive capabilities, and other information security systems to assess our
cybersecurity readiness and maturity of the cybersecurity program. Tests are conducted by the information technology team and
reputable third-party consultants and auditors. In developing and evaluating the testing procedures, we consider both our individual
risks and industry standards.

The cybersecurity risk management program includes an incident response plan with a cross-functional team comprised of
designated members of the information technology department, senior management, and other appropriate individuals. The team is
responsible for assessing and managing the cybersecurity incident response process, as outlined within the incident response plan,
and taking necessary corrective actions to mitigate and eliminate the issue.

As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any cybersecurity incidents that have materially affected or are reasonably likely 
to materially affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition that are required to be reported in 
this Form 10-K.  For further discussion of the risks associated with cybersecurity incidents and potential impact on us, see the 
cybersecurity risk factor within “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K.

Governance

The information technology department, led by our Director of Information Technology & Services (“IT Director”), is
responsible for our cybersecurity program. The IT Director, along with a third party provider with significant cybersecurity
experience, manages information security, infrastructure, and compliance. This collaboration ensures that our cybersecurity practices
are aligned with industry standards and best practices.

The Board of Directors considers cybersecurity risk as part of its overall risk oversight function. The Audit Committee receives 
briefings from the IT Director regarding our cybersecurity risk management program at least annually.  These briefings include 
updates on our cybersecurity risks and threats, the status of projects to strengthen the information security systems, assessments of 
the information security program, and the emerging cybersecurity threat landscape.

Item 2. Properties  

Our corporate headquarters is located in Santa Paula, California, in a leased building. Our RFG Business leased a corporate office
in Rancho Cordova, California, which the lease expired in November 2024. We also operate numerous facilities across the United 
States and maintain three facilities in Mexico.  See the following table for a summary of our locations:  
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United States Locations:

Packinghouses:
                

Leased or Owned:      City      State      Description
Owned Santa Paula California Primarily handles fresh avocados.  The facility was purchased in 1955 

and has been improved in capacity and efficiency since then.  We believe 
that the annual capacity of this facility will be sufficient to handle its 
forecasted annual production needs.

Leased Temecula California Primarily ripens, sorts, packs and ships fresh avocados. We sort and pack
certain other fresh products as well. We sold this facility in 2019 and
leased back a portion of it.

Operating and Distributing Facilities:

Leased or Owned: City State Description
Owned Santa Paula California Primarily ripens, sorts, packs and ships fresh avocados. We sort and pack

certain other fresh products as well. We believe that the annual capacity
of this facility will be sufficient to pack and ripen, if necessary, its
expected annual volume of avocados and other fresh products delivered
to us.

Leased Swedesboro New Jersey Primarily ripens, sorts, packs, and ships fresh avocados.  Additionally, it 
also serves to store and ship certain other fresh products, as well as
 prepared foods and prepared guacamole products. We believe that the
annual capacity of this facility will be sufficient to handle its forecasted
annual production needs.

Leased Garland Texas Primarily ripens, sorts, packs and ships fresh avocados. Additionally, it
also serves to store and ship prepared guacamole products.  We believe 
that the annual capacity of this facility will be sufficient to handle its 
forecasted annual production needs.

Leased Green Cove
Springs

Florida Primarily ripens, sorts, packs and ships fresh avocados and stores and
ships prepared guacamole. We believe that the annual capacity of this 
facility will be sufficient to handle its forecasted annual production 
needs.  

Leased Hilo Hawaii Primarily sorts, packs, and ships papayas. We believe that the annual
capacity will be sufficient to handle its forecasted annual production
needs.
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Mexico Locations:

Packinghouses and Processing Facility:

Leased or Owned: City State Description
Owned Uruapan Michoacan Our guacamole processing facility produces our guacamole products.  We 

believe that the annual capacity of this facility will be sufficient to handle 
its forecasted annual production needs. 

Owned Uruapan Michoacan Primarily handles fresh avocados. The facility was built in 1985 and has
been significantly and continually improved in capacity and efficiency
since then. We believe that the annual capacity of this facility will be
sufficient to process its forecasted annual production needs.

Owned Ciudad
Guzman

Jalisco Opened in the third quarter of 2017, this facility primarily handles fresh
avocados. We believe that the annual capacity of this facility will be
sufficient to process its forecasted annual production needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See Note 7 of our consolidated financial statements for further information regarding certain legal and compliance matters.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "CVGW".

Shareholders

As of December 31, 2024, there were 735 stockholders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

Our dividend policy has historically provided for an annual dividend payment, as determined by the Board of Directors.  In 
November 2022, we announced that we would begin declaring and paying dividends quarterly rather than annually, as had been our 
practice.  

On January 31, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on January
26, 2024. On April 29, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on
April 1, 2024. On July 30, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on
July 2, 2024. On October 30, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.20 per share, or an aggregate of $3.6 million, to shareholders of record
on October 2, 2024.
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Shareholder Return Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance of our common stock with the performance of the Nasdaq Market Index and a 
Peer Group of major diversified companies in our industry for approximately the 60-month period beginning October 31, 2019 and 
ending October 31, 2024. In making this comparison, we have assumed an investment of $100 in Calavo Growers, Inc. common 
stock, the Nasdaq Market Index, the Peer Group Index as of October 31, 2019.  We have also assumed the reinvestment of all 
dividends.  Our Peer Group Index includes the companies of: Andersons, Inc., B&G Foods, Inc., Boston Beer Company, Inc., Fresh 
Del Monte Produce, Inc., Hain Celestial Group, Inc., J&J Snack Foods, Corp., John B Sanfilippo & Son, Inc., and Landec, Corp.

    10/19 10/20 10/21 10/22 10/23 10/24
               
Calavo Growers, Inc.   100.00 78.41 47.72 42.22 31.52 33.69
NASDAQ Composite   100.00 132.84 189.96 135.70 160.11 227.14
Peer Group   100.00 152.09 129.09 95.65 90.11 87.27

Item 6. RESERVED
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto that appear elsewhere in this Annual Report.  This discussion and analysis
contain forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions.  Actual results may differ materially from 
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements because of various factors, including, but not limited to, those presented under
"Business and Operational Risks", included in Item 1A and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Overview

We are a leading marketer, processor, and distributor of avocados and other value-added fresh foods, serving customers
worldwide. Our expertise in marketing and distributing avocados, as well as developing and manufacturing prepared avocado
products and other value-added fresh foods, enables us to deliver a diverse range of products to retail grocery stores, foodservice
providers, club stores, mass merchandisers, food distributors, and wholesalers—primarily in the United States.

We source avocados from multiple regions, including California, Mexico, Peru, and Colombia. Across our various operating 
facilities, we (i) sort, pack, and ripen avocados, tomatoes, and Hawaiian-grown papayas, and (ii) process and package guacamole.  
We distribute our products both domestically and internationally.

We report our operations in two different business segments: Grown and Prepared. The Grown segment consists of fresh
avocados, tomatoes and papayas. The Prepared segment consists of guacamole sold at retail and foodservice companies as well as
avocado pulp sold to foodservice companies. See Note 10 in our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for further information about our business segments.  

Our Grown products business grades, sizes, packs, cools, and, when requested, ripens avocados for delivery to our customers. In
fiscal 2024, we operated three packinghouses, and five regional distribution facilities all of which perform value-added operations
that handle avocados for distribution to our customers.

We believe our continued success in marketing avocados depends on maintaining a reliable, high-quality supply at reasonable
prices, while controlling handling costs as we ship fruit through our packinghouses and distribution centers. Our diverse sourcing
network, including California, Mexico, Peru, and Colombia, enhances supply stability, which we believe supports long-term growth
in the availability and demand for avocados in the United States and global markets.

Because fluctuations in avocado volumes impact per-pound handling costs, larger crops generally result in lower unit costs. Our
investments in packinghouse equipment, value-added ripening and packing capabilities, and skilled personnel position us to
efficiently handle larger volumes and optimize cost structures.

In addition to avocados, we distribute other perishable foods, including tomatoes and Hawaiian-grown papayas, which we believe
complement our avocado offerings. We also periodically evaluate opportunities to distribute other crops that align with our business
model and deliver reasonable returns.

Prepared products include guacamole sold at retail and foodservice as well as avocado pulp sold to foodservice.  Prepared 
products are marketed under Calavo-owned brands, as well as store-brand and private label programs. Our Prepared business 
maintains relationships with foodservice companies and food retailers.  We continue to seek to expand our relationships with major 
foodservice companies and food retailers and develop alliances that will allow our products to reach more consumers.  

The operating results of our business are, and will continue to be, influenced by quarterly and annual fluctuations, as well as
market declines, due to various factors. These include, but are not limited to, pests and diseases, weather patterns, shifts in consumer
demand, food safety advisories, timing, reduction, or cancellation of significant customer orders, gains or losses of key customers,
market acceptance of our products, and our ability to develop, introduce, and market new products in a timely manner.
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Additional factors include the availability, quality, and cost of raw materials, new product launches by competitors, utilization
rates at our production facilities, changes in product mix across our Grown and Prepared segments, and general economic conditions.

Despite these challenges, we believe our diversified sourcing capabilities, value-added production infrastructure, and strong
customer relationships position us well to manage risks and achieve favorable operating results for the foreseeable future.

Recent Developments

Dividend payment

On January 31, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on January 
26, 2024.  On April 29, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on 
April 1, 2024.  On July 30, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on 
July 2, 2024.  On October 30, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.20 per share, or an aggregate of $3.6 million, to shareholders of record 
on October 2, 2024.

Sale of Fresh Cut and Discontinued Operations

    We completed the sale of our Fresh Cut business (“Fresh Cut”, formerly “RFG”) and related real estate on August 15, 2024 for 
$83 million, subject to various closing adjustments.  The Fresh Cut business represented substantially all of the business of the 
Prepared segment other than the guacamole business, which was retained. For more information, see Note 16 and 17 of the 
consolidated financial statements.

The financial results of the Fresh Cut business have been classified as discontinued operations in the statements of operations and 
its assets and liabilities have been classified as held for sale in the balance sheets included herein.  Unless otherwise noted, amounts 
and disclosures in this section relate to our continuing operations (except for the Liquidity and Capital Resources section).

Prior to the decision to divest our Fresh Cut business, our Prepared reporting segment included the Fresh Cut business unit and 
our guacamole business.  As a result of the divestiture, the Fresh Cut business unit is no longer included in our Prepared business 
segment.  All segment information included herein reflect these changes.  See Note 10 of the consolidated financial statements for 
further information.

Goodwill Impairment

As a result of the Fresh Cut business being classified as held for sale and discontinued operations, goodwill related to our
Prepared segment was allocated between our Fresh Cut and Guacamole businesses based on the relative fair value of the disposal 
group and the portion of the reporting unit to be retained as of the date of the assets held for sale determination.  The relative fair 
value was determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis, which included estimates and assumptions such as the weighted-
average cost of capital, revenue growth rates, and profitability.  Prior to the goodwill reallocation, an impairment assessment was 
performed which indicated no impairment to the Company’s reporting units.  During our fiscal third quarter, given the sale of our 
Fresh Cut business was pending, we evaluated whether it was more likely than not that the carrying value of the Fresh Cut business 
exceeded its fair value. We performed an impairment analysis in which the fair value was estimated based on the arm’s length sale 
price.  Accordingly, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $9.3 million during the quarter ended July 31, 2024 as a 
result of the ongoing negotiations and finalization of the sale price (See Note 16 of the consolidated financial statements for further 
information).

In fiscal 2024 and 2023, the Company performed a qualitative assessment for its Grown reporting unit by reviewing
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, and overall performance compared with prior projections,
and other relevant entity-specific events, and performed a quantitative assessment for its Prepared reporting
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unit.  The quantitative assessment of the Company’s Prepared reporting unit was determined using a combination of valuation 
techniques, including a discounted cash flow methodology.  To corroborate the discounted cash flow analysis, a market approach was 
utilized using observable market data such as comparable companies in similar lines of business that are publicly traded. Other than 
the goodwill impairment charge of $9.3 million, as discussed above, the Company concluded based on quantitative assessment tests 
that no goodwill impairment existed in the fiscal years ended October 31, 2024, and 2023.  Goodwill impairment testing requires 
significant judgment and management estimates, including, but not limited to, the determination of (i) the number of reporting units, 
(ii) the goodwill and other assets and liabilities to be allocated to the reporting units and (iii) the fair values of the reporting units 
which include forecasted cash flow.  The estimates and assumptions described above, along with other factors such as discount rates, 
will significantly affect the outcome of the impairment tests and the amounts of any resulting impairment losses.

Compliance matters

      On January 16, 2024, the Company announced that its internal audit process had identified to the Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors certain matters that the Board of Directors determined merited enhanced evaluation.  The Special Committee was 
established to commence an investigation, with the assistance of external legal counsel and external forensic accountants.  The 
Special Committee determined that certain of those matters related to the Company’s operations in Mexico raised potential issues 
under the FCPA.  The Company has voluntarily disclosed this ongoing internal investigation to the SEC and the DOJ, and the 
Company intends to fully cooperate with the SEC and the DOJ in connection with these matters. Any determination that the 
Company’s operations or activities were not in compliance with laws, including the FCPA, could result in the imposition of material 
fines and penalties and the imposition of equitable remedies.  See “Risk Factors” included in this Annual Report. The Company 
cannot currently predict the timing of completion or the outcome of its internal investigation or of any actions that may be taken by 
the SEC, the DOJ or Mexican authorities in connection with the matters under investigation, and the Company cannot currently 
estimate the amount or range of loss or potential impact on its consolidated financial statements associated with these matters.

Mexican Tax Issues

See footnotes 7 and 14 of the consolidated financial statements for information on Mexican tax matters and the Mexican IVA
taxes receivable.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The 
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we re-evaluate our estimates, including those related to the areas of customer 
and grower receivables, IVA tax receivables, inventories, useful lives of property, plant and equipment, promotional allowances, 
equity income/losses and impairment analysis from unconsolidated entities, loans to unconsolidated entities, income taxes, 
retirement benefits, and commitments and contingencies.  We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments 
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Additionally, we frequently 
engage third party valuation experts to assist us with estimates described below.  Actual results may materially differ from these 
estimates under different assumptions or conditions as additional information becomes available in future periods.

Management has discussed the development and selection of critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed our disclosure relating to critical accounting estimates in this Annual Report.

We believe the following are the critical judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.



31

As discussed in Notes 7 and 14 in the consolidated financial statements, our accounting for Mexican tax matters, including the 
2013 tax assessment and IVA receivables, involves significant judgment and estimation uncertainty.  These estimates require 
management to evaluate complex tax regulations, assess the probability of outcomes, and determine the appropriate accounting 
treatment for potential liabilities and asset recoverability.

2013 Tax Assessment and IVA Receivables

As discussed in Notes 7 and 14 in the consolidated financial statements, our accounting for Mexican tax matters, including the 
2013 tax assessment and IVA receivables, involves significant judgment and estimation uncertainty. These estimates require 
management to evaluate complex tax regulations, assess the probability of outcomes, and determine the appropriate accounting 
treatment for potential liabilities and asset recoverability.  

Provision for 2013 Tax Assessment:

We have recorded a provision of $11.0 million, representing our best estimate of the potential outcome related to 
the 2013 tax assessment.  This estimate incorporates assumptions regarding non-deductible expenses, penalties, interest, 
inflationary adjustments, and other potential miscellaneous factors.  Future changes in legal interpretations, court rulings, or 
settlement negotiations could have a material impact on this provision.

IVA Receivables Recoverability:

We have recognized IVA receivables totaling $48.7 million as of October 31, 2024. Our estimate assumes that the
supporting documentation for our tax structure will be upheld, and that administrative appeals or legal processes will
ultimately result in collection of these receivables. However, delays in the appeals process, adverse rulings, or changes in
tax enforcement practices could materially impact the timing and amount of recovery.

Sensitivity Analysis:

Given the uncertainties associated with these matters, even small changes in assumptions or legal interpretations
could significantly affect the reported amounts. We continue to monitor developments, and any material changes will be
reflected in future periods as they occur.

Goodwill

Goodwill, defined as unidentified asset(s) acquired in conjunction with a business acquisition, is tested for impairment on an 
annual basis and between annual tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  Goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or one level below the operating 
segment.  Additionally, when a business within a reporting unit is disposed of, goodwill is allocated to the disposed business using 
the relative fair value method. Relative fair value is estimated using a combination of a discounted cash flow analysis and market 
valuation approach. We perform a goodwill impairment test on an annual basis, and between annual tests whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. When evaluating goodwill for impairment, we 
may first perform a qualitative assessment (“step zero” of the impairment test) to determine whether it is more likely than not that a 
reporting unit is impaired. If we decide not to perform a qualitative assessment, or if we determine that it is more likely than not the 
carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then we perform a quantitative assessment (“step one” of the impairment 
test), and calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. To the extent the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s allocated 
goodwill exceeds the unit’s fair value, we recognize an impairment of goodwill for the excess up to the amount of goodwill of that 
reporting unit.

As a result of the Fresh Cut business being classified as held for sale and discontinued operations, goodwill related to our
Prepared segment was allocated between our Fresh Cut and Guacamole businesses based on the relative fair value of the disposal
group and the portion of the reporting unit to be retained as of the date of the assets held for sale determination. The relative fair
value was determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis, which included
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estimates to assumptions such as the weighted-average cost of capital, revenue growth rates, and profitability assumptions. Prior to
the goodwill reallocation, an impairment assessment was performed which indicated no impairment to the Company’s reporting
units. During our fiscal third quarter, given the sale of our Fresh Cut business was pending, we evaluated whether it was more likely
than not that the carrying value of the Fresh Cut business exceeded its fair value. We performed an impairment analysis in which the
fair value was estimated based on the arm’s length sale price. Accordingly, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of
$9.3 million during the quarter ended July 31, 2024 as a result of the ongoing negotiations and finalization of the sale price.

In fiscal 2024 and 2023, the Company performed a qualitative assessment for its Grown reporting unit by reviewing
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, overall performance compared with prior projections, and
other relevant entity-specific events, and performed a quantitative assessment for its Prepared reporting unit. The quantitative
assessment of the Company’s Prepared reporting unit was determined using a combination of valuation techniques, including a
discounted cash flow methodology. To corroborate the discounted cash flow analysis, a market approach is utilized using observable
market data such as comparable companies in similar lines of business that are publicly traded. Other than the goodwill impairment
charge of $9.3 million, as discussed above, the Company concluded based on quantitative assessment tests that no goodwill
impairment existed in the fiscal years ended October 31, 2024 and 2023. Goodwill impairment testing requires significant judgment
and management estimates, including, but not limited to, the determination of (i) the number of reporting units, (ii) the goodwill and
other assets and liabilities to be allocated to the reporting units and (iii) the fair values of the reporting units which include forecasted 
cash flow.  The estimates and assumptions described above, along with other factors such as discount rates, will significantly affect 
the outcome of the impairment tests and the amounts of any resulting impairment losses. 
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Reclassified Quarterly Financial Information for Fiscal 2023

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly statements of operations for the most recent eight quarters. The
information for each quarter has been prepared on a basis consistent with our consolidated financial statements and reflects, in the
opinion of management, all adjustments of a normal, recurring nature that are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial
information contained in those statements. This quarterly schedule is provided due to the sale of our Fresh Cut business, which
resulted in amounts related to discontinued operations being reclassified to reflect only continuing operations in the prior year. The
following quarterly financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements (in $000s, except share
and per share amounts).

Three Months Ended:
  January 31,   April 30,   July 31,   October 31,

2024    2023    2024    2023    2024    2023    2024    2023
Net sales 127,606 132,763 184,383 158,279 179,596 160,856 169,959 142,204

Cost of sales  116,846
 

121,031
 

163,722
 

143,671
 

159,503
 

138,852
 

153,669
 

127,936
   Gross profit  10,760  11,732  20,661  14,608  20,093  22,004  16,290  14,268
Selling, general and administrative  13,463  11,642  13,020  13,361  10,510  12,994  13,045  9,279
Expenses related to Mexican tax matters  383  2,048  202  386  225  (1,203)  233  1,897
  Operating income (loss)  (3,086)  (1,958)  7,439  861  9,358  10,213  3,012  3,092
Foreign currency gain (loss)  1,708  1,353  (304)  1,063  (4,203)  2,019  (3,041)  (3,057)
Interest expense  (824)  (377)  (962)  (244)  (833)  (766)  (274)  (984)
Interest and other income, net  200  340  520  307  181  177  760  41
  Income (loss) before income taxes and income (loss) from unconsolidated 
entities  (2,002)  (642)  6,693  1,987  4,503  11,643  457  (908)
Income tax benefit (expense)  (573)  41  (390)  (484)  1,441  (2,408)  (2,803)  (3,297)
Net income (loss) from unconsolidated entities  1  156  204  (56)  (579)  (498)  (104)  (481)
  Net income (loss) from continuing operations  (2,574)  (445)  6,507  1,447  5,365  8,737  (2,450)  (4,686)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  (3,683)  (2,350)  (408)  (5,407)  (6,127)  (2,029)  2,346  (3,234)
 Net income (loss)  (6,257)  (2,795)  6,099  (3,960)  (762)  6,708  (104)  (7,920)
Add: Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest  (10)  (273)  (37)  (35)  30  (82)  (35)  13
 Net income (loss) attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc.  (6,267)  (3,068)  6,062  (3,995)  (732)  6,626  (139)  (7,907)
Calavo Growers, Inc.’s net income (loss) per share:
  Basic
  Continuing Operations ($ 0.15) ($ 0.04) $ 0.36 $ 0.08 $ 0.30 $ 0.49 ($ 0.14) ($ 0.26)
  Discontinued Operations ($ 0.21) ($ 0.13) ($ 0.02) ($ 0.31) ($ 0.34) ($ 0.11) $ 0.13 ($ 0.18)
  Net income (loss) attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc ($ 0.35) ($ 0.17) $ 0.34 ($ 0.23) ($ 0.04) $ 0.37 ($ 0.01) ($ 0.45)
  Diluted
  Continuing Operations ($ 0.15) ($ 0.04) $ 0.36 $ 0.08 $ 0.30 $ 0.48 ($ 0.14) ($ 0.26)
  Discontinued Operations ($ 0.21) ($ 0.13) ($ 0.02) ($ 0.31) ($ 0.34) ($ 0.11) $ 0.13 ($ 0.18)
  Net income (loss) attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc ($ 0.35) ($ 0.17) $ 0.34 ($ 0.23) ($ 0.04) $ 0.37 ($ 0.01) ($ 0.45)
  Number of shares used in per share computation: ​ ​
Basic  17,799  17,673  17,800  17,721  17,801  17,756  17,802  17,766
Diluted  17,799  17,673  17,872  17,883  17,842  17,856  17,871  17,766
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items from our consolidated statements of operations, expressed as percentages of our total
net sales, for the periods indicated:

Year ended October 31,   
2024 2023 2022  

Net sales       100.0 %    100.0 %    100.0 %  
Gross profit    10.2 %    10.5 %    7.1 %  
Selling, general and administrative    7.6 %    8.0 %    6.0 %  
Expenses related to Mexican tax matters  0.2 %    0.5 %    0.2 %  
Operating income    2.5 %    2.1 %    0.9 %  
Foreign currency gain (loss)  (0.9)%    0.2 %    (0.1)%  
Interest income    0.2 %    0.1 %    0.1 %  
Interest expense    (0.4)%    (0.4)%    (0.2)%  
Other income, net    0.1 %    0.0 %    0.1 %  
Unrealized and realized net loss on Limoneira shares  — %    — %    (1.1)%  
Net income (loss) from continuing operations    1.0 %    0.9 %    (0.9)%  

Net Sales

We believe that the fundamental consumption trends for our products continue to be favorable.  First, U.S. avocado demand 
continues to grow, with per capita consumption in 2023/2024 per USDA reaching 9.2 pounds per person, and approximately 64% 
higher than the estimate from a decade ago. We believe that the healthy eating trend that has been developing in the U.S. contributes 
to such growth, as avocados are cholesterol and sodium free, dense in fiber, vitamin B6, antioxidants, potassium, folate, and contain 
unsaturated fat, which helps lower cholesterol. 

Additionally, we believe that demographic changes in the U.S. will impact the consumption of avocados and avocado-based 
products.  The Hispanic community currently accounts for approximately 20% of the U.S. population and the total number of 
Hispanics is estimated to double by the year 2050.  Avocados are considered a staple item purchased by Hispanic consumers, as the 
per-capita avocado consumption in Mexico is significantly higher than that of the US.  

We anticipate avocado products will further penetrate the United States marketplace, driven by year-round availability of 
imported fresh avocados, a growing Hispanic population, and the promotion of the health benefits of avocados.  As one of the largest 
marketers of avocado products in the United States, we believe that we are well positioned to leverage this trend and to grow our 
avocado and guacamole products business.  Additionally, we also believe that avocados and avocado based products will further 
penetrate other markets that we currently operate in as interest in avocados continues to expand.

In October 2002, the USDA established the Hass Avocado Board to promote the sale of Hass avocados in the U.S. market. This 
board created a framework for unified funding of promotional activities through assessments on all avocados sold in the United 
States.  Historically, the California Avocado Commission—funded by California avocado growers—has borne the costs of 
promotional and advertising efforts to support avocado sales. We believe that the incremental funding for promotional and 
advertising programs in the U.S. will have a positive long-term impact on average selling prices and will benefit our avocado 
business.  During fiscal 2024, 2023, and 2022, we remitted approximately $2.0 million, $0.5 million, and $1.5 million, to the 
California Avocado Commission on behalf of avocado growers.  Additionally, we remitted approximately $5.6 million, $8.0 million, 
and $8.1 million to the Hass Avocado Board in support of these activities.  Similarly, in 2013, Avocados From Mexico (AFM) was 
formed as the marketing arm of the Mexican Hass Avocados Importers Association (MHAIA) and the Association of Growers and 
Packers of Avocados From Mexico (APEAM).  During fiscal 2024, 2023, and 2022, we remitted approximately $4.3 million, $5.5 
million, and $4.2 million, to APEAM primarily for marketing activities related to Mexican avocados.

We also believe that our other Grown products, primarily tomatoes, are positioned for future growth.  The tomato is the fourth 
most popular fresh-market vegetable (though a fruit scientifically speaking, tomatoes are often considered a vegetable) behind 
potatoes, lettuce, and onions in the U.S. Over the past few decades, per capita consumption of 
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tomatoes has been on the rise due primarily to the enduring popularity of salads, salad bars, and submarine sandwiches. Perhaps of 
greater importance has been the introduction of new and improved tomato varieties, the increased development of hot-house grown 
tomatoes (such as those grown by our ADM affiliate), heightened consumer interest in a wider range of tomatoes, a surge of new 
immigrants who eat vegetable-intensive diets and expanding national emphasis on health and nutrition. 

Papayas have become more popular as consumption in the U.S. has more than doubled in the past decade.  Papayas have high 
nutritional benefits. They are rich in antioxidants, B vitamins, folate and pantothenic acid, potassium and magnesium, and fiber. 

Our Prepared segment sources avocados, processes them into a wide variety of guacamole products, and distributes the finished 
products to foodservice, retail, and industrial accounts.  All prepared avocado products undergo cold pasteurization and include both 
frozen and fresh guacamole options.  We believe the extended shelf life of our frozen guacamole and the freshness and purity of our 
fresh guacamole position us well to meet the diverse preferences and needs of today’s consumers.  Our customer base spans 
foodservice providers, retail businesses, and industrial accounts.  We are actively working to strengthen relationships with major 
foodservice companies, expand partnerships with retail and industrial clients, and develop strategic alliances to broaden our market 
reach and increase product visibility.

The following tables set forth sales by product category and sales allowances, by segment (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended October 31, 2024 Year Ended October 31, 2023  
Grown Prepared Total Grown Prepared Total  

      
Avocados $  534,413 $ — $  534,413 $  466,385 $ — $  466,385
Tomatoes    54,660   —    54,660    54,669   —    54,669
Papayas    11,573   —    11,573    10,432   —    10,432
Other fresh income    8    —    8    100   —    100
Guacamole  71,468  71,468  —  73,068  73,068
Salsa   —    —    —   —    796    796
Total gross sales    600,654    71,468    672,122    531,586    73,864    605,450
Less sales allowances    (3,030)  (7,548)    (10,578)    (4,190)  (7,158)    (11,348)
Net sales $  597,624 $  63,920 $  661,544 $  527,396 $  66,706 $  594,102

Year Ended October 31, 2023 Year Ended October 31, 2022
Grown Prepared Total Grown Prepared Total

    
Avocados $  466,385 $ — $  466,385 $  645,944 $ — $  645,944
Tomatoes    54,669   —    54,669    45,223   —    45,223
Papayas    10,432   —    10,432    11,422   —    11,422
Other fresh income    100   —    100    123   —    123
Guacamole  —  73,068  73,068  —  77,143  77,143
Salsa   —    796    796   —    1,860    1,860
Total gross sales    531,586    73,864    605,450    702,712    79,003    781,715
Less sales allowances    (4,190)    (7,158)    (11,348)    (4,507)  (7,517)    (12,024)
Net sales $  527,396 $  66,706 $  594,102 $  698,205 $  71,486 $  769,691
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The following table summarizes our net sales by business segment:

2024 Change 2023 Change 2022  

Net sales:                                                  
Grown $  597,624  13 %   $  527,396  (24)%   $  698,205
Prepared    63,920  (4)%      66,706  (7)%      71,486

Total net sales $  661,544  11 %   $  594,102  (23)%   $  769,691

As a percentage of sales:
Grown    90.3 %      88.8 %      90.7 %  
Prepared    9.7 %      11.2 %      9.3 %  

   100 %      100 %      100 %  

Summary

Net sales for the year ended October 31, 2024, compared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2023, increased by $67.4 million,
or approximately 11%. This increase was driven by an increase in the Grown segment, partly offset by a decline in the Prepared
segment.

For the year ended October 31, 2024, the increase in Grown product sales was primarily due to an increase in price per unit of
avocados partially offset by decreased sales volume in avocados and tomatoes. For the year ended October 31, 2024, the decrease in
Prepared product sales was due primarily to a change in product mix, described further below.

We remain focused on expanding grower partnerships and strengthening relationships with retail and foodservice customers to 
drive net sales growth across all business segments.  

Both our Grown and Prepared segments are influenced by seasonal trends, which may affect the availability, volume, and quality
of raw materials sourced during any given quarter.

Grown Products

Fiscal 2024 vs. Fiscal 2023:

Net sales for the Grown products business increased by approximately $70.2 million, or 13%, for the year ended October 31,
2024 compared to the prior year period. The increase in Grown product sales during the year ended October 31, 2024 was primarily
related to higher sales prices for avocados, partially offset by a decrease in sales of tomatoes.

Sales of avocados increased $68.0 million, or 15%, for the year ended October 31, 2024, compared to the prior year period. The
average avocado sales price per carton increased 24% compared to the prior year period. The increase in the sales price per carton
was mainly due higher market values for avocados. The volume of avocados sold for the year ended October 31, 2024 decreased by
8% compared to the prior year period.

We expect our avocado sales volume to increase in fiscal 2025, driven by our focus on new customer recruitment, expanding
existing customers’ sales, and intensifying global sourcing.

Sales of tomatoes decreased by $0.1 million, or 0.3%, for the year ended October 31, 2024, when compared to the prior year
period. The decrease in tomato sales was primarily due to a 17% decrease in volume sold offset by a 19% increase in the sales price
per carton.

Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022:

Net sales for the Grown products business decreased by approximately $170.8 million, or 24%, for the year ended October 31,
2023 compared to the prior year period. The decrease in Grown product sales during the year ended October
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31, 2023 was primarily related to lower sales prices of avocados due to increased industry supply of avocados. Partially offsetting
this decrease, tomato sales increased due to an increase in sales prices per carton, and higher tomato sales volume.

Sales of avocados decreased $177.9 million, or 28%, for the year ended October 31, 2023, compared to the prior year period. The
average avocado sales price per carton decreased 30% compared to the prior year period. The decrease in the sales price per carton
was mainly due to an increased industry supply of avocados. The volume of avocados sold for the year ended October 31, 2023
increased 3% compared to the prior year period.

Sales of tomatoes increased $7.7 million, or 16%, for the year ended October 31, 2023, when compared to the prior year period.
The increase in tomato sales was primarily due to an 8% increase in the sales price per carton, and an 8% increase in volume sold.

Prepared products

Fiscal 2024 vs. Fiscal 2023:

Net sales for the Prepared products business decreased by approximately $2.7 million, or 4%, for the year ended October 31,
2024, compared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2023. This decrease in Prepared product sales during the year ended October
31, 2024 was primarily related to a change in sales mix.

Net sales for guacamole products decreased $2.0 million, or 3%, for the year ended October 31, 2024 compared to the
corresponding period in fiscal 2024. During fiscal 2024, compared to fiscal 2023, the volume of frozen products sold as a percentage
of total sales increased. Frozen products typically have lower sales prices than their unfrozen counterparts.

We anticipate an increase in sales for our Prepared products in fiscal 2025, fueled by new innovations that are expected to drive
higher sales volumes, particularly in the retail markets, compared to the prior year. We cannot assure you, however, that such
increases in sales will occur.

Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022:

Net sales for the Prepared products business decreased by approximately $4.8 million, or 7%, for the year ended October 31,
2023 compared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2022. This decrease in Prepared product sales during the year ended October 31,
2023 was primarily related to lower sales volume of guacamole products.

Net sales for guacamole products decreased $6.9 million, or 10%, for the year ended October 31, 2023 compared to the
corresponding period in fiscal 2022, primarily due to a decrease in total volume sold.

With the divestiture of our salsa business in April 2023, we had a decrease in sales of salsa products of $1.1 million, or 59%.
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Gross Profit

The following table summarizes our gross profit and gross profit percentages by business segment:

 
2024 Change 2023 Change 2022  

(Dollars in thousands)
Gross profit:                                                  

Grown $  55,268  9 %   $  50,534  1 %   $  50,165
Prepared    12,536  4 %      12,078  164 %    4,577

Total gross profit $  67,804  8 %   $  62,612  14 %   $  54,742

Gross profit percentages:
Grown    9.2 %      9.6 %      7.2 %  
Prepared    19.6 %      18.1 %      6.4 %  
Consolidated    10.2 %      10.5 %      7.1 %  

Summary

Our cost of goods sold consists predominantly of ingredient costs (primarily fruit and other whole foods), packing materials,
freight and handling, labor and overhead (including depreciation) associated with preparing food products, and other direct expenses
pertaining to products sold. Gross profit increased by approximately $5.2 million, or 8%, for the year ended October 31, 2024,
compared to the same period in fiscal 2023. This growth was primarily driven by higher gross profits in both the Grown and
Prepared segments.

Grown products

Fiscal 2024 vs. Fiscal 2023:

For the year ended October 31, 2024, compared to the prior year, our Grown products segment gross profit increased by $4.7 
million, or 9%.  Gross profit percentages for avocados remained strong at approximately 10% for both fiscal 2024 and 2023.  
However, tomato gross profits declined to $3.6 million from $4.5 million. While the majority of our tomato sales are made on a 
consignment basis, we also purchase some tomatoes on the spot market to fulfill specific customer requests. The decrease in tomato 
gross profit was primarily attributable to higher sales of tomatoes sourced from the spot market, which were less profitable than our 
traditional consignment tomato sales. We expect to source less volume from the spot market in fiscal 2025 relative to consignment 
sales.

Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022:

During our year ended October 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period, our Grown products segment gross profit
increased $0.4 million or 1%. For the years ended October 31, 2023 and 2022, the gross profit percentages for avocados were 10.1%
and 7.1%, respectively. 

For the year ended October 31, 2023, we generated gross profit of $4.5 million from tomato sales, up from $3.5 million in the
prior year period.  The majority of our tomato sales are made on a consignment basis, in which the gross profit we earn is generally
based on a commission agreed to with each party, which usually is a percent of the overall selling price. We, however, also purchase
some tomatoes on the spot market to meet specific customer requests and have certain fixed overhead costs associated with our
tomato operations which impact the overall gross profit realized from tomato sales.  The gross profit percentage for consignment
sales are dependent on the volume of fruit we handle, the average selling prices, and the competitiveness of the returns that we
provide to third-party growers/packers. The decrease in tomato gross profit was due primarily to an increase in sales of tomatoes
from third-party growers/packers. As discussed above, even though a majority of our tomato sales are made on a consignment basis,
we had lower gross profit from third-party growers/packers compared to the prior year.
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Prepared products

Fiscal 2024 vs. Fiscal 2023:

The gross profit percentage for guacamole products for the year ended October 31, 2024, was 19.6%, compared to 18.1% in the
prior year. This increase in gross profit percentage for fiscal 2024 was primarily driven by lower raw fruit costs and lower production
expenses.

Fiscal 2023 vs. Fiscal 2022:

The increase in our Prepared products gross profit for the year ended October 31, 2022, was the result of increased profit in
guacamole products. Guacamole products gross profit percentage for the year ended October 31, 2023 was 18.1%, compared to a
gross profit of 5.7% for the prior year period. The increase in gross profit percentage for the year ended October 31, 2023 in
guacamole products was primarily due to lower raw product fruit costs and manufacturing improvements.

Selling, General and Administrative

 
2024 Change 2023 Change 2022  

(Dollars in thousands)  
Selling, general and administrative $  50,038       6 %   $  47,276       2 %   $  46,538
Percentage of net sales    7.6 %      8.0 %      6.0 %

Selling, general and administrative expenses of $50.0 million for the year ended October 31, 2024 include costs of marketing and
advertising, sales expenses (including broker commissions) and other general and administrative costs. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased by $2.8 million, or 6%, for the year ended October 31, 2024 compared to the prior year period.
This increase was primarily due to $7.4 million in professional fees related to our internal investigation and a $1.0 million employee
incentive accrual. Partially offsetting these increases is a reduction in severance cost of $1.6 million and $3.0 million in stock-based
compensation, from the prior year, related to the departure of our former Chief Executive Officer and other executives.

Selling, general and administrative expenses of $47.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2023 include costs of marketing and 
advertising, sales expenses (including broker commissions) and other general and administrative costs. Selling, general and 
administrative expenses increased by $0.7 million, or 2%, for the year ended October 31, 2023 compared to the prior year period. 
This increase was primarily due to $2.9 million paid in severance and other costs and $1.6 million in stock-based compensation 
related to executive departures.  Partially offsetting these increases, is a reduction in our short-term incentive accrual of $2.3 million.

Foreign currency gain (loss)

2024 Change 2023 Change 2022
(Dollars in thousands)

Foreign currency gain (loss)      $  (5,840)      (524)%   $  1,378       (242)%   $  (973)

Our operations in Mexico are subject to exchange rate fluctuations and foreign currency transaction costs. The functional
currency of our foreign subsidiaries in Mexico is the United States dollar. As a result, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured
into U.S. dollars at exchange rates as of the balance sheet date and non-monetary assets, liabilities and equity are remeasured at
historical rates. Sales and expenses are remeasured using a weighted-average exchange rate for the period.

Due to the change in the Mexican peso to the U.S. dollar exchange rates, foreign currency remeasurement losses, net of gains, for 
the year ended October 31, 2024 and 2022 were $5.8 million and $1.0 million respectively.  Foreign currency remeasurements gains, 
net of losses, for the year ended October 31, 2023 were $1.4 million.
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Loss from Unconsolidated Entities

2024 Change 2023 Change 2022
(Dollars in thousands)

Loss from unconsolidated entities      $  (478)      (46)%   $  (879)      56 %   $  (564)

Loss from unconsolidated entities includes our allocation of earnings or losses from our investments in Don Memo. For the years 
ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we recognized losses of $0.5 million, $0.9 million and of $0.6 million, respectively, related 
to Don Memo.  

Interest Income

2024 Change 2023 Change 2022  
(Dollars in thousands)  

Interest income      $  1,020       69 %   $  605       21 %   $  500     
Percentage of net sales    0.2 %      0.1 %      0.1 %  

The increase in interest income in fiscal 2024 as compared to 2023 is primarily due to interest earned on the net proceeds from 
the sale of the Fresh Cut business.  The increase in interest income in fiscal 2023 as compared to 2022 is primarily due to the 
increase in the amount owed from our tomato growers from loans and infrastructure advances.

Interest Expense

2024 Change 2023 Change 2022  
(Dollars in thousands)  

Interest expense      $  2,893       22 %   $  2,371       45 %   $  1,631     
Percentage of net sales    0.4 %      0.4 %      0.2 %  

Interest expense is primarily generated from our line of credit borrowings with Wells Fargo. For fiscal 2024, as compared to
fiscal 2023, the increase in interest expense was due to higher interest rates, as well as a higher average debt balance and
amortization of debt issuance cost. For fiscal 2023, as compared to fiscal 2022, the increase in interest expense was due to higher
interest rates, as well as a higher average debt balance.

Other Income, Net

2024 Change 2023 Change 2022  
(Dollars in thousands)  

Other income, net      $  641       147 %   $  260       (68)%   $  803     
Percentage of net sales    0.1 %      0.0 %      0.1 %  

Other income, net includes transactions that are outside of the normal course of operations.  For fiscal 2024, as compared to fiscal 
2023, the increase in other income, net was due to a $0.3 million recovery of  non-CDM Mexican IVA tax. For fiscal 2023, as 
compared to fiscal 2022, the decrease in other income, net was due to $0.6 million received as dividend income from Limoneira in 
2022.  At the end of fiscal 2022, we sold our investment in Limoneira and therefore received no dividends from Limoneira in fiscal 
2024 and fiscal 2023.

Income Taxes Provision

 
2024 Change 2023 Change 2022  

(Dollars in thousands)  
Income tax expense      $  2,325       (62)%   $  6,148       94 %   $  3,165

Effective tax rate    25.3 %      55.0 %      (85.9)%
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For fiscal 2024 continuing operation, we incurred $0.5 million return to provision discrete taxable items.  These discrete items 
were primarily related the lack of deductibility of certain Mexican tax expenses.  In addition, we recognized $0.7 million of income 
tax provision benefit during fiscal 2024 related to the other permanent differences and release of valuation allowances. 

For fiscal 2023 continuing operation, we incurred $0.2 million return to provision discrete taxable items.  These discrete items 
were primarily related the lack of deductibility of certain Mexican tax expenses.  In addition, we recognized $3.1 million of 
additional income tax provision expenses during fiscal 2023 related to the other permanent differences.

Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest

     2024      Change      2023      Change      2022  
(Dollars in thousands)  

Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest $  (52)  (86)%   $  (377)  (207)%   $  353  
Percentage of net sales  (0.0)%    (0.0)%    0.0 %  

For fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, the net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest is due to income/losses from
Avocados de Jalisco.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash provided by operating activities was $24.4 million and $50.2 million for fiscal year 2024 and 2022. Cash used in operating
activities for fiscal 2023 was $14.5 million. Fiscal year 2024 operating cash flows reflect our net loss of $1.0 million, net increase of
noncash charges (depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, goodwill impairment, losses from
unconsolidated entities, deferred taxes, loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, reserve for Mexican IVA receivables, gain
on the sale of the Temecula packinghouse, gain on sale of the Fresh Cut business, operating lease expense and amortization of debt
issuance costs) of $15.7 million and a net increase from changes in the non-cash components of our working capital accounts of
approximately $10.2 million.

The increase in operating cash flows was caused by working capital changes including an increase in payable to growers of $3.6
million, a decrease in other assets of $2.8 million, an increase in income tax payables of $2.9 million, a decrease in prepaid expenses
and other current assets of $1.6 million, a decrease in advances to suppliers of $0.7 million, a decrease in income tax receivable of
$0.2 million, and a net increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $7.0 million partially offset by an increase in accounts
receivables of $6.5 million and an increase in inventories of $1.9 million.

The increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities is primarily related to the timing of payments. The
decrease in other assets as of October 31, 2024, when compared to the prior year period, is primarily due to repayments of 
infrastructure loans.  The increase in payable to growers is mostly due to higher sales prices for avocados. The decrease in our 
prepaid and other current assets is primarily due to the release of the temporary deposit for collateral in connection with our workers 
compensation policies in place at October 31, 2023, which has been replaced by a letter of credit. The increase in our accounts 
receivable is due to an increase in sales prices for avocados.  Advances to suppliers reflect preseason advances paid to our 
consignment growers at the start of the tomato season, and such amounts are relatively flat year over year. The increase in our
inventory as of October 31, 2024, when compared to the prior year period, is primarily due to higher inventory of Mexican avocados
offset by a decrease in inventory of guacamole products The decrease in income taxes receivable and increase in income taxes
payable are due to the gain on disposal of discontinued operations offset by cash payments made during the year.

Cash provided by investing activities was $80.1 million and $8.7 million for fiscal year 2024 and 2022. Cash used by investing
activities was $10.7 million for fiscal year 2023. Fiscal year 2024 cash flows provided by investing activities include the proceeds
from the sale of the Fresh Cut business of $83.0 million partially offset by the purchases of property, plant and equipment of $2.9
million.
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Cash used in financing activities was $50.4 million and $58.6 million for fiscal years 2024 and 2022. Cash provided by financing 
activities was $24.9 million for fiscal year 2023.  Cash used during fiscal year 2024 primarily relates to the net payments to our 
credit facility totaling $35.0 million, dividend payments of $9.0 million, payment of the Term Loan of $4.1 million, long-term 
obligation payments of $1.5 million, the payment of minimum withholding taxes on net share settlement of equity awards of $0.7 
million and the payment of debt issuance costs of $0.2 million. 

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations and amounts available for borrowing under our Credit 
Facility.  Restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents as of October 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $57.0 million and $2.9 million, 
respectively.  Our working capital at October 31, 2024 was $85.4 million, compared to $51.6 million at October 31, 2023.  

We believe that cash flows from operations, borrowings available under our Credit Facility, and other sources will be sufficient to
satisfy our future capital expenditures, working capital and other financing requirements for at least the next twelve months. We will 
continue to pursue grower recruitment opportunities and expand relationships with retail and/or foodservice customers to fuel growth 
in each of our business segments.  

On June 26, 2023, Calavo and certain subsidiaries entered into the “Credit Agreement” by and among Calavo, certain subsidiaries
of Calavo as guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent and lender (“Agent”). The Credit Agreement provides
for a revolving credit facility of up to $90.0 million (the “Revolving Loans”), along with a capex credit facility of up to $10.0 million
(the “Term Loan”, and together with the Revolving Loans, the “Credit Facility”).

On August 15, 2024, in conjunction with its sale of the Fresh Cut business, Calavo and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Borrower”) entered into a First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Consent (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”) with Agent,
whereby (i) the Credit Agreement was amended to (A) reduce the revolving commitments thereunder from $90.0 million to $75.0
million and (B) reduce the machinery and equipment subline of the loans from $6.8 million to $1.7 million, and to reduce the related
monthly amortization on such subline from $80,952.38 to $24,335.37, and (ii) the Borrower obtained consent from Agent for entry
into the Asset Purchase Agreement and Purchase and Sale Agreement.

Borrowings of the Revolving Loans under the Credit Agreement are asset based and subject to a borrowing base calculation that
includes a certain percentage of eligible accounts receivable, inventory and equipment of Calavo, less any reserves implemented by
Agent in its permitted discretion; provided that the equipment-based portion of such borrowing base calculation reduces monthly
following the Closing Date.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin, plus, at Calavo’s option,
either a base rate or a secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) term rate (which includes a spread adjustment of 0.10% and is
subject to a floor of 0.00%). The applicable margin is (i) for Revolving Loans, 0.50% for base rate borrowings and 1.50% for SOFR
term rate borrowings, and (ii) for Term Loan, 1.00% for base rate borrowings and 2.00% for SOFR term rate borrowings.  The Credit
Facility matures on June 26, 2028.

As of October 31, 2024, we were in compliance with the financial covenants. As of October 31, 2024, approximately $51.8
million was available for borrowing, based on the borrowing base calculation discussed above.

The weighted-average interest rate under the Credit Facility was 7.2% for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2024.  Under the
Credit Facility, as of October 31, 2024, we had no amounts outstanding related to the Revolving Loans or Term Loan. During August
2024 we fully repaid the Term Loan with the proceeds from the sale of the Fresh Cut business. Amounts are no longer available to be
drawn from such Term Loan, and we will accordingly have no further amortization of this Term Loan.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Commodity Risk
 
The commodities we rely on—such as fruits, ingredients, packaging materials, transportation, as well as electricity and natural 

gas—can experience price volatility due to various external factors, including market fluctuations, availability, weather, currency 
fluctuations, and changes in governmental regulations and agricultural programs.  Such events may lead to reduced supplies of these 
materials, increased supply costs, or disruptions to our production schedules.  

 
The principal effect of inflation in both commodity and consumer prices on our operating results is to increase costs, both for 

products sold and selling, general and administrative expenses.  Although we may attempt to offset these cost increases by increasing 
selling prices for our products, consumers may not have the buying power to cover these increased costs and may reduce their 
volume of purchases of those products.  In that event, selling price increases may not be sufficient to completely offset our cost 
increases.

 
Exchange Rate Risk

A substantial portion of our business operations are based in Mexico.  Consequently, a considerable share of our costs and 
expenses are denominated in Mexican pesos.  To meet foreign cash requirements, funds are transferred weekly from our corporate 
office to Mexico.  Currently, we do not utilize derivative instruments to hedge fluctuations in the Mexican peso (MXN) to U.S. dollar 
(USD) exchange rates.  However, management periodically evaluates the feasibility of employing such instruments.  Total foreign 
currency remeasurement losses for fiscal 2024 and 2022, net of gains, were $5.8 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Total foreign 
currency remeasurements gains for fiscal 2023, net of losses, were $1.4 million.

Fluctuations in exchange rates between MXN and the USD can have complex and, at times, conflicting impacts on our financial 
results. A strengthening USD or a weaker MXN generally benefits cash flow by reducing the amount of USD we need to transfer to 
Mexico to fund daily operations. However, a strengthening USD or weaker MXN results in higher noncash foreign currency 
translation remeasurement expense. For further information, please see Note 2, Foreign Currency Translation and Remeasurement, in 
our consolidated financial statements, and the discussion under the heading “Foreign currency gain (loss)” contained in Item 7. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, which are included elsewhere in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.  These impacts do not necessarily offset one another and introduce significant complexity to our 
financial results and their interpretation.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

CALAVO GROWERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands)

October 31,   
2024 2023  

Assets                    
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 57,031 $ 2,091
Restricted cash — 761
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $3,624 (2024) and $3,364 (2023)   41,909   33,897
Inventories   34,157   31,571
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   9,976   11,739
Advances to suppliers   14,570   14,684
Current assets held for sale   —   37,533
Income taxes receivable   936   1,094

Total current assets   158,579   133,370
Property, plant, and equipment, net   54,200   60,924
Operating lease right-of-use assets 18,316 18,357
Investments in unconsolidated entities   2,424   2,902
Deferred income tax assets   7,473   3,010
Goodwill   10,211   10,211
Non-current assets held for sale — 105,424
Intangibles, net — 275
Other assets   49,916   52,381

$ 301,119 $ 386,854
Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Payable to growers $ 18,377 $ 14,788
Trade accounts payable   8,742   5,097
Accrued expenses   28,149   15,809
Current liabilities held for sale — 29,911
Income tax payable   2,767   —
Other current liabilities 11,000 11,000
Current portion of term loan — 647
Current portion of operating leases 3,296 3,663
Current portion of long-term obligations and finance leases   874   831

Total current liabilities   73,205   81,746
Long-term liabilities:

Borrowings pursuant to line of credit, long-term — 35,024
Long-term liabilities held for sale — 29,295
Long-term portion of term loan — 3,416
Long-term portion of operating leases   17,476   17,328
Long-term portion of obligations and finance leases 4,274 4,645
Deferred income tax liabilities — 746
Other long-term liabilities   4,388   4,425

Total long-term liabilities   26,138   94,879
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' equity:

Common stock ($0.001 par value, 100,000 shares authorized; 17,802 (2024) and 17,761 (2023) shares
issued and outstanding)   18   18
Additional paid-in capital   177,973   176,481
Noncontrolling interest   1,444   1,392
Retained earnings   22,341   32,338

Total shareholders' equity   201,776   210,229
$ 301,119 $ 386,854

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CALAVO GROWERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year ended
October 31, 

2024 2023 2022

Net sales $ 661,544 $ 594,102 $ 769,691
Cost of sales   593,740   531,490   714,949
Gross profit   67,804   62,612   54,742
Selling, general and administrative   50,038   47,276   46,538
Expenses related to Mexican tax matters 1,043 3,128 1,417
Operating income   16,723 12,208 6,787
Foreign currency gain (loss) (5,840) 1,378 (973)
Interest income   1,020 605 500
Interest expense   (2,893)   (2,371)   (1,631)
Other income, net   641   260   803
Unrealized net loss on Limoneira shares   —   —   (8,605)
Income (loss) before income taxes and loss from unconsolidated entities   9,651   12,080   (3,119)
Income tax expense   (2,325)   (6,148)   (3,165)
Net loss from unconsolidated entities   (478)   (879)   (564)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations   6,848   5,053   (6,848)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (refer to Note 16) (7,872) (13,020) 246
Net loss (1,024) (7,967) (6,602)
Add: Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest   (52)   (377)   353
Net loss attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc. $ (1,076) $ (8,344) $ (6,249)

Calavo Growers, Inc.’s net income (loss) per share:
Basic

Continuing Operations $ 0.38 $ 0.26 $ (0.37)
Discontinued Operations $ (0.44) $ (0.73) $ 0.01
Net loss attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc $ (0.06) $ (0.47) $ (0.35)

Diluted
Continuing Operations $ 0.38 $ 0.26 $ (0.37)
Discontinued Operations $ (0.44) $ (0.73) $ 0.01
Net loss attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc $ (0.06) $ (0.47) $ (0.35)

Number of shares used in per share computation:
Basic   17,801   17,750   17,663
Diluted   17,863   17,854   17,745

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CALAVO GROWERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)

                                  
Additional

Common Stock Paid-in Retained Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Interest Total

Balance, October 31, 2021   17,686   18   168,133   57,364   1,368   226,883
Issuance of common stock in connection with stock-based compensation, net of
tax withholdings   46   —   (49)  —   —   (49)
Stock-based compensation   —   —   3,139   —   —   3,139
Avocados de Jalisco noncontrolling interest —   —   —   —   (353) (353)
Net loss attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc   —   —   —   (6,249)  —   (6,249)
Balance, October 31, 2022   17,732   18   171,223   51,115   1,015   223,371
Issuance of common stock in connection with stock-based compensation, net of
tax withholdings   29   —   48   —   —   48
Stock-based compensation   —   —   5,210   —   —   5,210
Avocados de Jalisco noncontrolling interest   —   —   —   —   377   377
Dividends declared to shareholders ($0.4875 per share) —   —   —   (10,433)  —   (10,433)
Net loss attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc.   —   —   —   (8,344)  —   (8,344)
Balance, October 31, 2023   17,761   18   176,481   32,338   1,392   210,229
Issuance of common stock in connection with stock-based compensation, net of
tax withholdings   41   —   —   —   —   —
Stock-based compensation   —   —   2,160   —   —   2,160
Dividends declared to shareholders (see Note 13)   —   —   —   (8,921)  —   (8,921)
Payments of minimum withholding taxes on net share settlement   —   —   (668)  —   —   (668)
Avocados de Jalisco noncontrolling interest   —   —   —   —   52   52
Net loss attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc.   —   —   —   (1,076)  —   (1,076)
Balance, October 31, 2024   17,802 $ 18 $ 177,973 $ 22,341 $ 1,444 $ 201,776

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CALAVO GROWERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Year Ended October 31,   
2024 2023 2022  

 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:                              
Net loss $ (1,024) $ (7,967) $ (6,602)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization   10,603   17,282   16,589
Non-cash operating lease expense (1,751) 38 20
Realized and unrealized net loss on Limoneira shares — — 8,605
Net loss from unconsolidated entities   478   879   564
Impairment of goodwill   9,280   —   —
Divesture of Calavo Salsa Lisa — 624 —
Impairment and non-cash charges related to closure of Florida facility   —   —   317
Gain on sale of RFG (192) — —
Provision for uncollectible Mexican IVA taxes receivable   165   2,474   —
Stock-based compensation expense   2,160   5,210   3,139
Amortization of debt issuance costs 286 — —
Gain on sale of Temecula packinghouse   (216)   (216)   (216)
Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equipment   56   40   186
Deferred income taxes   (5,209)   1,851   (117)

Effect on cash of changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net   (6,540)   (2,360)   19,850
Inventories   (1,886)   (989)   1,837
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,557   (5,466)   (147)
Advances to suppliers   714   (1,326)   (4,677)
Income taxes receivable/payable   2,945   3,620   8,128
Other assets   2,438   (7,594)   (4,961)
Payable to growers   3,589   (5,435)   (2,809)
Trade accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities   6,966   (15,131)   10,527

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   24,419   (14,466)   50,233
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment   (2,890)   (10,694)   (9,769)
Proceeds received from RFG Sale   83,000   —   —
Proceeds received from Limoneira stock sales — — 18,450

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   80,110   (10,694)   8,681
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Payment of dividend to shareholders   (8,921)   (10,433)   (20,330)
Proceeds from revolving credit facility   85,252   256,912   267,200
Payments on revolving credit facility   (120,276)   (223,089)   (303,700)
Payments of debt issuance cost (148) (693) —
Payments of minimum withholding taxes on net share settlement of equity awards (668) — (96)
Proceeds from term loan   —   4,063   —
Payments on term loan (4,063) — —
Proceeds from sale leaseback — — 240
Payments on long-term obligations and finance leases   (1,526)   (1,930)   (1,996)
Proceeds from stock option exercises   —   48   47

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   (50,350)   24,878   (58,635)
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   54,179   (282)   279
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period   2,852   3,134   2,855
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 57,031 $ 2,852 $ 3,134
Supplemental Information:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 2,637 $ 2,492 $ 1,482
Income taxes $ 2,292 $ 1,492 $ 2,601

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new financing lease obligations $ 641 $ 2,814 $ 611
Settlement of Agricola Belher infrastructure advance offset against payable to growers $ 606 $ 928 $ 1,060
Property, plant, and equipment included in trade accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 51 $ 1,794 $ 160

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CALAVO GROWERS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of the business

Business

Calavo Growers, Inc. (referred to in this report as “Calavo”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our”), is a global leader in the 
avocado industry and a provider of value-added fresh food.  Our expertise in marketing and distributing avocados, prepared 
avocados, and other perishable foods allows us to deliver a wide array of fresh and prepared food products to retail grocery, 
foodservice, club stores, mass merchandisers, food distributors and wholesalers worldwide. We procure avocado products from 
California, Mexico and other growing regions around the world.  Through our various operating facilities, we (i) sort, pack, and/or 
ripen avocados, tomatoes and/or Hawaiian grown papayas and (ii) process and package guacamole. We distribute our products both 
domestically and internationally. We report our operations in two different business segments:  Grown and Prepared.

During the year ended October 31, 2024, management concluded that the Fresh Cut business meets the requirements to be
classified as held for sale and discontinued operations. As a result, the financial results of that business are reported as discontinued
operations in the accompanying statements of operations, and its assets and liabilities are reflected as amounts held for sale in the
accompanying balance sheets. The Company's reporting segments have also been changed for the effects of the divestiture, as
described in Note 10.  For more information, see Note 16.

We completed the sale of our Fresh Cut business and related real estate on August 15, 2024 for $83.0 million, subject to various 
closing adjustments.  The Fresh Cut business represents substantially all of the business of the Prepared segment other than the 
guacamole business, which has been retained following the Transaction.  For more information, see Note 17.

2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the U.S.

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of i) Calavo Growers, Inc., ii) our wholly owned subsidiaries, Calavo
de Mexico S.A. de C.V. (Calavo de Mexico), Calavo Growers de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (Calavo Growers de Mexico), Maui
Fresh International, Inc. (Maui), Hawaiian Sweet, Inc. (HS), CW Hawaii Pride, LLC (HP), and RFG 2D, LLC (formerly known as
Renaissance Food Group, LLC or RFG, including its wholly-owned subsidiaries) and iii) Avocados de Jalisco, S.A.P.I. de C.V.
(Avocados de Jalisco), in which we have an 83% ownership interest.  All intercompany accounts and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation.  

Retrospective reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements and disclosures to present the Fresh Cut
business unit as discontinued operations (see Note 16, “Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”). 

Prior period amounts related to foreign currency remeasurement gains (losses) have been reclassified from cost of sales to foreign
currency gain (loss) to conform to the current period presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes.  Among the significant estimates affecting the financial statements are those related to valuation allowances for 
accounts, goodwill, grower advances, inventories, long-lived assets, valuation of and estimated useful lives of identifiable intangible 
assets, stock-based compensation, promotional allowances and income taxes.  On an ongoing basis, management reviews its 
estimates based upon currently available information.  Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid financial instruments purchased with an original maturity date of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents.  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values.

Restricted Cash

As of October 31, 2023, in connection with the Credit Facility, we had temporarily posted cash collateral to satisfy certain
collateral requirements related to our transition between banks providing letters of credit related to our workers compensation
insurance policies. Accordingly as of October 31, 2023, we recorded $0.8 million in restricted cash and $3.0 million of prepaid and
other current assets, related to this transition. As of October 31, 2024, we no longer have restricted cash nor prepaid and other current
assets related to our workers compensation insurance policies outstanding. Both have been replaced by standby letters-of-credit.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist primarily of non-trade receivables, infrastructure advances and prepaid
expenses. Non-trade receivables were $4.2 million and $5.9 million at October 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  Included in non-
trade receivables are $2.0 million and $2.7 million related to the current portion of non-CDM Mexican IVA (i.e. value-added) taxes 
at October 31, 2024 and 2023 (See Note 14).  Infrastructure advances are discussed below. Prepaid expenses totaling $3.5 million
and $4.2 million at October 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are primarily for insurance, rent and other items.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are reported at amounts due from customers, net of an allowance for estimated credit losses and 
customer deductions accounted for as variable consideration.  The Company performs credit evaluations of customers and evaluates 
the need for allowances for potential credit losses based on historical experience, as well as current and expected general economic 
conditions. 

The total allowance for estimated uncollectable accounts receivable balances and customer deductions were $3.6 million and $3.4
million as of October 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Cost is computed on a monthly weighted-average basis, which 
approximates the first-in, first-out method; market is based upon estimated replacement costs.  Costs included in inventory primarily 
include the following: fruit, picking and hauling, overhead, labor, materials and freight.  

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.  
Leasehold improvements are stated at cost and amortized over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or the term of the lease, using 
the straight-line method.  Useful lives are as follows: buildings and improvements - 7 to 50 years; leasehold improvements - the
lesser of the term of the lease or 7 years; equipment - 7 to 25 years; information systems hardware and software – 3 to 10 years.  
Significant repairs and maintenance that increase the value or extend the useful life of our fixed asset are capitalized.  Ongoing 
maintenance and repairs are charged to expense.  

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an 
operating segment or one level below the operating segment.  Additionally, when a business 
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within a reporting unit is disposed of, goodwill is allocated to the disposed business using the relative fair value method. Relative fair 
value is estimated using a combination of a discounted cash flow analysis and market valuation approach. We perform a goodwill 
impairment test on an annual basis, and between annual tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. When evaluating goodwill for impairment, we may first perform a qualitative assessment (“step 
zero” of the impairment test) to determine whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit is impaired. If we decide not to 
perform a qualitative assessment, or if we determine that it is more likely than not the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its 
fair value, then we perform a quantitative assessment (“step one” of the impairment test), and calculate the estimated fair value of the 
reporting unit. To the extent the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s allocated goodwill exceeds the unit’s fair value, we recognize 
an impairment of goodwill for the excess up to the amount of goodwill of that reporting unit.

As a result of the Fresh Cut business being classified as held for sale and discontinued operations, goodwill related to our
Prepared segment was allocated between our Fresh Cut and Guacamole businesses based on the relative fair value of the disposal
group and the portion of the reporting unit to be retained as of the date of the assets held for sale determination. The relative fair
value was determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis, which included estimates to assumptions such as the weighted-
average cost of capital, revenue growth rates, and profitability assumptions. Prior to the goodwill reallocation, an impairment
assessment was performed which indicated no impairment to the Company’s reporting units. During our fiscal third quarter, given
the sale of our Fresh Cut business was pending, we evaluated whether it was more likely than not that the carrying value of the Fresh
Cut business exceeded its fair value. We performed an impairment analysis in which the fair value was estimated based on the arm’s
length sale price. Accordingly, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $9.3 million during the quarter ended July
31, 2024 as a result of the ongoing negotiations and finalization of the sale price (See Note 16).

In fiscal 2024 and 2023, the Company performed a qualitative assessment for its Grown reporting unit by reviewing
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, overall performance compared with prior projections, and
other relevant entity-specific events, and performed a quantitative assessment for its Prepared reporting unit. The quantitative
assessment of the Company’s Prepared reporting unit was determined using a combination of valuation techniques, including a
discounted cash flow methodology. To corroborate the discounted cash flow analysis, a market approach is utilized using observable
market data such as comparable companies in similar lines of business that are publicly traded. Other than the goodwill impairment
charge of $9.3 million, as discussed above, the Company concluded based on quantitative assessment tests that no goodwill
impairment existed in the fiscal years ended October 31, 2024 and 2023. Goodwill impairment testing requires significant judgment
and management estimates, including, but not limited to, the determination of (i) the number of reporting units, (ii) the goodwill and
other assets and liabilities to be allocated to the reporting units and (iii) the fair values of the reporting units which include forecasted 
cash flow.  The estimates and assumptions described above, along with other factors such as discount rates, will significantly affect 
the outcome of the impairment tests and the amounts of any resulting impairment losses. 

Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including fixed assets and intangible assets (other than goodwill), are continually monitored and are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of any such asset may not be 
recoverable.  The determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use 
of an asset and its eventual disposition.  The estimate of undiscounted cash flows is based upon, among other things, certain 
assumptions about future operating performance, growth rates and other factors.  Estimates of undiscounted cash flows may differ 
from actual cash flows due to, among other things, technological changes, economic conditions, changes to the business model or 
changes in operating performance.  If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) is less than the carrying value, an 
impairment loss will be recognized, measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset.  For 
fiscal years 2024 and 2023, we performed our annual assessment of long-lived assets and determined that no impairment existed as
of October 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Investments

We account for non-marketable investments using the equity method of accounting if the investment gives us the ability to 
exercise significant influence over, but not control, an investee.  Significant influence generally exists when we have an ownership 
interest representing between 20% and 50% of the voting stock of the investee.  Under the equity method of accounting, investments 
are stated at initial cost and are adjusted for subsequent additional investments and our proportionate share of earnings or losses and 
distributions.  

In December 2014, Calavo formed a wholly-owned subsidiary Calavo Growers De Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (Calavo Sub).  In
July 2015, Calavo Sub entered into a Shareholder Agreement with Grupo Belo del Pacifico, S.A. de C.V., (Belo) a Mexican company
owned by Agricola Belher, and Agricola Don Memo, S.A. de C.V. (Don Memo). Don Memo, a Mexican corporation formed in July
2013, is engaged in the business of owning and improving land in Jalisco, Mexico for the growing and sale of tomatoes and other
produce. Belo and Calavo Sub have an equal one-half ownership interest in Don Memo.  Pursuant to a management service 
agreement, Belo, through its officers and employees, shall have day-to-day power and authority to manage the operations. This 
investment contribution represents Calavo Sub’s 50% ownership in Don Memo, which is included in investment in unconsolidated 
entities on our balance sheet. We use the equity method to account for this investment.  As of October 31, 2024 and 2023, we have an 
investment of $2.4 million and $2.9 million, respectively, in Don Memo.

Advances to Suppliers

We advance funds to third-party growers primarily in Mexico for various farming needs.  Typically, we obtain collateral (i.e. 
fruit, fixed assets, etc.) that approximates the value at risk, prior to making such advances.  We continuously evaluate the ability of 
these growers to repay advances in order to evaluate the possible need to record an allowance.  No such allowance was required at 
October 31, 2024 and 2023. 

Pursuant to our distribution agreement with Agricola Belher (Belher) of Mexico, a producer of fresh vegetables, primarily 
tomatoes, for export to the U.S. market, Belher agreed, at their sole cost and expense, to harvest, pack, export, ship, and deliver 
tomatoes exclusively to our Company, primarily to the facility we use in Arizona.  In exchange, we agreed to sell and distribute such 
tomatoes, make advances to Belher for operating purposes, provide additional advances as shipments are made during the season 
(subject to limitations, as defined), and return the proceeds from such tomato sales to Belher, net of our commission and 
aforementioned advances.  These advances will be collected through settlements, typically by the end of each year.  As of October 
31, 2024 and 2023, we have total advances, offset by tomato liabilities, of $5.1 million and $5.4 million, respectively, to Belher
pursuant to this agreement, respectively, which are recorded in advances to suppliers.

Similar to Belher, we make advances to Don Memo for operating purposes, provide additional advances as shipments are made
during the season, and return the proceeds from such tomato sales to Don Memo, net of our commission and aforementioned
advances. As of October 31, 2024 and 2023, we have total advances, net of tomato liabilities of $7.7 million and $7.3 million,
respectively, to Don Memo, which is recorded in advances to suppliers, offset by tomato liabilities from the sales of tomatoes per the
tomato marketing agreement.

We also have a distribution agreement with tomato grower Exportadora Silvalber (Silvalber) similar to Belher and Don Memo.
We had $1.8 million in advances, offset by tomato liabilities, as of October 31, 2024 and 2023.

Infrastructure Advances

Pursuant to our infrastructure agreements, we make advances to be used solely for the acquisition, construction, and installation 
of improvements to and on certain land owned/controlled by Belher and Don Memo, as well as packing line equipment.  

In October 2020, we entered into an infrastructure loan agreement with Don Memo for $2.4 million secured by Don Memo’s 
property and equipment.  This infrastructure loan accrues interest at 7.25%.  In October 2020, we advanced $0.7 million related to 
this loan agreement.  We advanced an additional $0.7 million, and $0.6 million in the first, and second
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quarters of fiscal 2021, respectively.  We had a total balance outstanding of $1.6 million at October 31, 2024 (included in prepaids
and other current assets) and at October 31, 2023 (included in other assets).

In July 2021, we made a bridge loan of $3.5 million to Belher.  This loan is secured by certain farmland in Mexico and accrues 
interest at 10%. In the first quarter of fiscal 2024, this loan was amended to be due with installments of $0.6 million on July 31,
2024, $0.6 million on July 31, 2025 and $0.5 million on July 31, 2026. As part of this amended loan agreement, we can withhold 
payments on both the infrastructure advances and the bridge loan through the netting the amount due against the grower payable due 
to Belher.  For each the years ended October 31, 2024 and 2023, we withheld $0.6 million and $0.9 million, respectively, from
payments to Belher to offset the bridge loan repayments. As of October 31, 2024 the remaining bridge loan has been recorded as $0.6
million in prepaid expenses and other current assets and $0.5 million in other assets. As of October 31, 2023 the remaining bridge
loan was recorded as $1.7 million was recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Accrued Expenses

Included in accrued expenses are liabilities related to the receipt of goods and/or services for which an invoice has not yet been
received. These totaled approximately $12.0 million and $5.3 million for the years ended October 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  

Leases

Right-of-use assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the
Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The Company makes a determination if an arrangement
constitutes a lease at inception, and categorizes the lease as either an operating or finance lease.

Right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease
payments over the lease term. For finance leases, we recognize interest expense and amortization of the right-of-use asset, and for
operating leases, we recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The interest expense amortization
component of the finance lease liabilities is recorded within interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

When available, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present value; however, most of our leases do
not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. We estimated our incremental borrowing rate based upon a synthetic credit rating
and yield curve analysis. As a result, the incremental borrowing rate is estimated to approximate the interest rate on a collateralized
basis with similar terms and payments.

We have elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify (under one year term), meaning we will
recognize expense on a straight-line basis and will not include the recognition of a right-of-use asset or lease liability. We will
account for lease and non-lease components as a single-lease component for all leases.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when obligations under the terms of a contract with its customer are satisfied; generally, this
occurs with the transfer of control of its products. Revenue is measured as the amount of net consideration expected to be received in
exchange for transferring products. Revenue from product sales is governed primarily by customer pricing and related purchase
orders (“contracts”) which specify shipping terms and certain aspects of the transaction price including variable considerations such
as rebates, discounts and other sales incentives. Contracts are at standalone pricing. The performance obligation in these contracts is
determined by each of the individual purchase orders and the respective stated quantities, with revenue being recognized at a point in
time when obligations under the terms of the agreement are satisfied. This generally occurs with the transfer of control of our
products to the customer and the product is delivered. The Company's customers have an implicit and explicit right to return non-
conforming products. A provision for payment discounts and product return allowances, which is estimated, is recorded as a
reduction of sales in the same period that the revenue is recognized.
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Sales Incentives and Other Promotional Programs

The Company routinely offers sales incentives and discounts through various regional and national programs to our customers
and consumers. These programs include product discounts or allowances, product rebates, product returns, one-time or ongoing
trade-promotion programs with customers and consumer coupon programs that require the Company to estimate the expected costs
of such programs. The costs associated with these activities are accounted for as reductions to the transaction price of the Company’s
products and are, therefore, recorded as reductions to gross sales at the time of sale. The Company bases its estimates of incentive
costs on historical trend experience with similar programs, actual incentive terms per customer contractual obligations and expected
levels of performance of trade promotions, utilizing customer and sales organization inputs. The Company maintains liabilities at the
end of each period for the estimated incentive costs incurred but unpaid for these programs. Differences between estimated and
actual incentive costs are generally not material and are recognized in earnings in the period such differences are determined.
Reserves for product returns, accrued rebates and promotional accruals are included in the consolidated balance sheets as part of
accounts receivable.

Promotional Allowances

Our estimates for promotional allowances are recorded at the time of sale and are generally based on evaluating the historical 
relationship between promotional allowances and gross sales.  The derived percentage is then applied to the current period’s sales 
revenues in order to arrive at the appropriate debit to sales allowances for the period.  The offsetting credit is made to an allowance 
on accounts receivable.  When certain amounts of specific customer accounts are subsequently identified as promotional, they are 
written off against this allowance.  Actual amounts may differ from these estimates and such differences are recognized as an 
adjustment to net sales in the period they are identified.

Principal vs. Agent Considerations

We frequently enter into consignment arrangements with avocado and tomato growers and packers located outside of the U.S.
and growers of certain perishable products in the U.S. We evaluate whether the performance obligation is a promise to transfer
services to the customer (as the principal) or to arrange for services to be provided by another party (as the agent) using a control
model. This evaluation determined that the Company is in control of establishing the transaction price, managing all aspects of the
shipments process and taking the risk of loss for delivery, collection, and returns. Based on the Company’s evaluation of the control
model, it determined that all of the Company’s major businesses act as the principal rather than the agent within their revenue
arrangements and such revenues are reported on a gross basis.

Customers

We sell to retail grocery, foodservice, club stores, mass merchandisers, food distributors and wholesale customers.  Our top ten 
customers accounted for approximately 50%, 60% and 50% of our consolidated net sales in fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.  Sales to our largest customer, Walmart (including its affiliates) represented approximately 12%, 12%, and 14% of net
sales in each of fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Kroger, represented approximately 10% of net sales in fiscal year 
2023.  No other single customer accounted for more than 10% of our net sales in any of the last three fiscal years.

Shipping and Handling

We include shipping and handling fees billed to customers in net sales.  Amounts incurred by us for freight are included in cost of 
goods sold.
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Consignment Arrangements

We frequently enter into consignment arrangements with avocado and tomato growers and packers located outside of the U.S. 
and growers of certain perishable products in the U.S. Although we generally do not take legal title to these avocados and perishable 
products, we do assume responsibilities (principally assuming credit risk, inventory loss and delivery risk, and pricing risk) that are 
consistent with acting as a principal in the transaction.  Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements include sales and cost of 
sales from the sale of avocados and perishable products procured under consignment arrangements.  Amounts recorded for each of
the fiscal years ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 in the financial statements pursuant to consignment arrangements are as
follows (in thousands):

     2024      2023      2022  

Sales $ 71,921 $ 56,811 $ 59,748
Cost of Sales   64,242   51,937   53,238
Gross Profit $ 7,679 $ 4,874 $ 6,510

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred and are generally included as a component of selling, general and administrative
expense. Such costs were approximately $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.6 million for fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
respectively.   

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and are generally included as a component of selling, general and
administrative expense. Total research and development costs for fiscal year 2024, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $0.1 million,
$0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Restructuring Costs

For the year ended October 31, 2022, we recorded $2.8 million of consulting expenses (included in selling, general and
administrative expenses) related to an enterprise-wide strategic business review conducted for the purpose of restructuring to
improve the profitability of the organization and efficiency of our operations. We also recorded $1.0 million, $5.5 million and $2.0
million for the years ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of management recruiting and severance costs related to
this restructuring initiative.

Other Income

Included in other income is dividend income totaling $0.8 million for fiscal year 2022.

Income Taxes

We account for deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future consequences of events that have been recognized in our 
consolidated financial statements or tax returns.  Measurement of the deferred items is based on enacted tax laws.  In the event the 
future consequences of differences between financial reporting bases and tax bases of our assets and liabilities result in a deferred tax 
asset, we perform an evaluation of the probability of being able to realize the future benefits indicated by such asset.  A valuation 
allowance related to a deferred tax asset is recorded when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset 
will not be realized.

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained 
on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position.  The tax benefits recognized in the financial 
statements from such a position should be measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being 
realized upon ultimate settlement. 
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 As a multinational corporation, we are subject to taxation in many jurisdictions, and the calculation of our tax liabilities involves 
dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in various taxing jurisdictions.  If we ultimately 
determine that the payment of these liabilities will be unnecessary, the liability will be reversed, and we will recognize a tax benefit 
during the period in which it is determined the liability no longer applies.  Conversely, we record additional tax charges in a period in 
which it is determined that a recorded tax liability is less than the ultimate assessment is expected to be. 

The application of tax laws and regulations is subject to legal and factual interpretation, judgment and uncertainty.  Tax laws and 
regulations themselves are subject to change as a result of changes in fiscal policy, changes in legislation, the evolution of regulations 
and court rulings.  Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreign taxes may be materially different from management’s estimates, 
which could result in the need to record additional tax liabilities or potentially reverse previously recorded tax liabilities. 

Basic and Diluted Net Income (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period 
without consideration of the dilutive effect of stock options and contingent consideration.  Diluted earnings per share is calculated 
using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period after consideration of the dilutive effect of 
stock options and the effect of contingent consideration shares.

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share is calculated as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year ended October 31,
     2024 2023      2022

Numerator:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 6,848 $ 5,053 $ (6,848)
Add: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (52) (377) 353
Net income from continuing operations attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc. 6,796 4,676 (6,495)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (refer to Note 16) (7,872) (13,020) 246
Net loss attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc. $ (1,076) $ (8,344) $ (6,249)

Denominator:
Weighted average shares - Basic   17,801   17,750   17,663
Effect on dilutive securities – Restricted stock/units/options   62   104   82
Weighted average shares - Diluted   17,863   17,854   17,745

Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Basic $ 0.38 $ 0.26 $ (0.37)
Diluted $ 0.38 $ 0.26 $ (0.37)

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (refer to Note 16)
Basic $ (0.44) $ (0.73) $ 0.01
Diluted $ (0.44) $ (0.73) $ 0.01

Net loss per share attributable to Calavo Growers, Inc:
Basic $ (0.06) $ (0.47) $ (0.35)
Diluted $ (0.06) $ (0.47) $ (0.35)

For the year ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, approximately 62,000 shares, 104,000 shares, and 82,000 shares of
common stock equivalents were excluded in the computation of diluted net loss per share, respectively, as the effect would be anti-
dilutive since the Company reported a net loss.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We account for awards of equity instruments issued to employees under the fair value method of accounting and recognize such 
amounts in our statements of operations.  We measure compensation cost for all stock-based awards at fair value on the date of grant 
and recognize compensation expense in our consolidated statements of operations over the service period that the awards are 
expected to vest.  

For the years ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we recognized compensation expense of $2.2 million, $5.2 million, and
$3.1 million related to stock-based compensation, respectively (See Note 12).  For our restricted stock awards, the value of the stock-
based compensation was determined from quoted market prices at the date of the grant.  For our stock option awards, we measure the
fair value of our stock options awards using the Black-Scholes-Merton and lattice-based option valuation models.

Foreign Currency Translation and Remeasurement

Our foreign operations are subject to exchange rate fluctuations and foreign currency transaction costs.  The functional currency 
of our foreign subsidiaries is the United States (U.S.) dollar.  As a result, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. 
dollars at exchange rates as of the balance sheet date and non-monetary assets, liabilities and equity are translated at historical rates.  
Sales and expenses are measured using a weighted-average exchange rate for the period. Total foreign currency remeasurement 
losses for fiscal 2024 and 2022, net of gains, was $5.8 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Total foreign currency remeasurements
gains for fiscal 2023, net of losses, was $1.4 million.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We believe that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and short-term 
borrowings approximate fair value based on either their short-term nature or on terms currently available to the Company in financial 
markets.  Due to current market rates, we believe that our fixed-rate long-term obligations and finance leases have nearly the same 
fair value and carrying value of approximately $5.1 million and $5.5 million as of October 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We were not a party to any material derivative instruments during the fiscal year.  It is currently our intent not to use derivative 
instruments for speculative or trading purposes. Additionally, we do not use any hedging or forward contracts to offset market 
volatility. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In November 2023, the Financial Standards Accounting Board issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-07 "Segment
Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures" which expands annual and interim disclosure
requirements for reportable segments, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. ASU 2023-07 is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effect that the updated standard will have
on its financial statement disclosures.
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Noncontrolling Interest

The following tables reconcile shareholders’ equity attributable to noncontrolling interest related to Avocados de Jalisco (in
thousands).

       Year ended      Year ended
Avocados de Jalisco noncontrolling interest      October 31, 2024 October 31, 2023

 
Noncontrolling interest, beginning $ 1,392 $ 1,015
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest of Avocados de Jalisco   52   377
Noncontrolling interest, ending $ 1,444 $ 1,392

3.    Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

October 31, 
2024 2023

Fresh fruit      $ 20,002      $ 15,429
Packing supplies and ingredients   6,936   7,347
Finished prepared foods   7,219   8,795
Total $ 34,157 $ 31,571

We assess the recoverability of inventories through an ongoing review of inventory levels in relation to sales and forecasts and 
product marketing plans.  When the inventory on hand, at the time of the review, exceeds the foreseeable demand, the value of 
inventory that is not expected to be sold is written down.  The amount of the write-down is the excess of historical cost over 
estimated realizable value.  Once established, these write-downs are considered permanent adjustments to the cost basis of the excess 
inventory.

The assessment of the recoverability of inventories and the amounts of any write-downs are based on currently available 
information and assumptions about future demand and market conditions.  Demand for prepared avocado products may fluctuate 
significantly over time, and actual demand and market conditions may be more or less favorable than our projections.  In the event 
that actual demand is lower than originally projected, additional inventory write-downs may be required. 

4.     Property, Plant, and Equipment 

Property, plant, and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

October 31,   
2024 2023  

Land      $ 8,201      $ 7,022
Buildings and improvements   30,404   31,011
Leasehold improvements   3,490   3,429
Equipment   79,735   77,208
Information systems - hardware and software   10,582   10,545
Construction in progress   133   2,895

  132,545   132,110
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (78,345)   (71,186)

$ 54,200 $ 60,924
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Depreciation expense was $6.6 million, $6.7 million and $6.8 million for fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.  
Included in property, plant, and equipment are finance leases. Amortization of finance leases was $1.0 million, $0.8 million and $0.6
million for fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

5.     Other Assets 

Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):

     October 31,       October 31, 
2024 2023

Mexican IVA (i.e. value-added) taxes receivable, net (see Note 14) $ 48,739 $ 49,888
Infrastructure advances   467   1,641
Other   710   852
Total $ 49,916 $ 52,381

6.     Revolving Credit Facilities

On June 26, 2023, Calavo and certain subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) by and among
Calavo, certain subsidiaries of Calavo as guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent and lender (“Agent”).
The Credit Agreement provided for a revolving credit facility of up to $90.0 million (the “Revolving Loans”), along with a capex
credit facility of up to $10.0 million (the “Term Loan”, and together with the Revolving Loans, the “Credit Facility”).

On August 15, 2024, in conjunction with its sale of the RFG Business, Calavo and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Borrower”) entered into a First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Consent (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”) with Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent and lender (“Agent”), whereby (i) the Credit Agreement was amended to (A) reduce the
revolving commitments thereunder from $90.0 million to $75.0 million and (B) reduce the machinery and equipment subline of the
loans from $6.8 million to $1.7 million, and to reduce the related monthly amortization on such subline from $80,952.38 to
$24,335.37, and (ii) the Borrower obtained consent from Agent for entry into the Asset Purchase Agreement and Purchase and Sale
Agreement.

Borrowings of the Revolving Loans under the Credit Agreement are asset-based and are subject to a borrowing base calculation
that includes a certain percentage of eligible accounts receivable, inventory and equipment of Calavo, less any reserves implemented
by Agent in its permitted discretion; provided that the equipment-based portion of such borrowing base calculation will reduce
monthly following the Closing Date.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin, plus, at Calavo’s option,
either a base rate or a secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) term rate (which includes a spread adjustment of 0.10% and is
subject to a floor of 0.00%). The applicable margin is (i) for Revolving Loans, 0.50% for base rate borrowings and 1.50% for SOFR
term rate borrowings, and (ii) for Term Loan, 1.00% for base rate borrowings and 2.00% for SOFR term rate borrowings. The Credit
Facility matures on June 26, 2028 (the “Maturity Date”). Calavo may voluntarily prepay loans under the Credit Facility, in whole or
in part, without premium or penalty. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement, Calavo may be required to
make certain mandatory prepayments prior to the Maturity Date.

The Credit Agreement contains negative covenants that, among other things, limit Calavo’s ability to: incur indebtedness; grant
liens on its assets; enter into certain investments; consummate fundamental change transactions; engage in mergers or acquisitions or
dispose of assets; enter into certain transactions with affiliates; make changes to its fiscal year; enter into certain restrictive
agreements; and make certain restricted payments (including for dividends). Each of these limitations are subject to various
conditions. The Credit Agreement also contains a springing fixed charge coverage ratio financial covenant that is tested if the amount
of the Revolving Loans available for Calavo to borrow under the Credit Facility is less than 10% of the total revolving credit facility.
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The Credit Agreement also contains certain affirmative covenants and customary events of default provisions, including, subject
to thresholds and grace periods, among others, payment default, covenant default, cross default to other material indebtedness, and
judgment default.

As of October 31, 2024, we were in compliance with the financial covenants, and we expect to remain in compliance for the next
12 months. As of October 31, 2024, approximately $51.8 million was available for borrowing based on the borrowing base
calculation discussed above.

The weighted-average interest rate under the Credit Facility was 7.2% for fiscal year ended October 31, 2024. Under the Credit
Facility, as of October 31, 2024, we had no amounts outstanding related to the Revolving Loans or Term Loan. In August 2024 we
fully repaid the Term Loan with proceeds from the sale of the Fresh Cut business. Amounts are no longer available to be drawn from
such Term Loan and we will accordingly have no further amortization of this Term Loan.

As of October 31, 2023, in connection with the Credit Facility, we had temporarily posted cash collateral to satisfy certain
collateral requirements related to our transition between banks providing letters of credit related to our workers compensation
insurance policies. Accordingly, as of October 31, 2023, we had $0.8 million in restricted cash and $3.0 million of prepaid and other
current assets related to this transition. As of October 31, 2024, we no longer have restricted cash nor prepaid and other current assets
related to our workers compensation insurance policies outstanding. Both have been replaced by standby letters-of-credit.

The weighted-average interest rate under the Credit Facility with Wells Fargo Bank was 7.1% at October 31, 2023. Under this
credit facility, we had $35.0 million and $4.1 million outstanding related to the Revolving Loans and Term Loan, respectively, as of
October 31, 2023.

7.     Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and guarantees

We lease facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable leases expiring at various dates. We are committed to make 
minimum cash payments under these agreements as of October 31, 2024.  See Note 15 for additional details on the type of lease 
agreements.

We indemnify our directors and have the power to indemnify each of our officers, employees and other agents, to the maximum
extent permitted by applicable law.  No amounts have been accrued in the accompanying financial statements related to these 
indemnifications.

In conjunction with the sale of the Fresh Cut business on August 15, 2024, the Company assigned leases resulting in the
Company being relieved of its primary obligation under these leases. As a result of these lease assignments, the buyer is the primary
obligor under the leases, with the Company secondarily liable as a guarantor. If the buyer should fail to perform under a lease, the
Company could be liable to fulfill any remaining lease obligation. The leases had a remaining average term of 5.3 years as of
October 31, 2024. The resulting maximum exposure includes $32.0 million of undiscounted future minimum lease payments plus
$13.3 million of potential additional payments to satisfy common area maintenance, taxes, insurance and other requirements for the
remainder of the lease terms. The Company does not believe it is probable that it will be responsible for the obligations under these
leases.

Compliance matters

On January 16, 2024, the Company announced that its internal audit process had identified to the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors certain matters that the Board of Directors determined merited enhanced evaluation. A Special Committee of the Board
of Directors (the “Special Committee”) was established to commence an investigation, with the assistance of external legal counsel
and external forensic accountants. The Special Committee determined that certain of those matters related to the Company’s
operations in Mexico raised potential issues under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”). The Company has voluntarily
disclosed this ongoing internal investigation to the SEC and the



60

Department of Justice ("DOJ"), and the Company intends to fully cooperate with the SEC and the DOJ in connection with these
matters. Any determination that the Company’s operations or activities were not in compliance with laws, including the FCPA, could
result in the imposition of material fines and penalties and the imposition of equitable remedies. The Company cannot currently
predict the timing of completion or the outcome of its internal investigation or of any actions that may be taken by the SEC, the DOJ
or Mexican authorities in connection with the matters under investigation, and the Company cannot currently estimate the amount or
range of loss or potential impact on its consolidated financial statements associated with these matters.

Mexico tax audits

We conduct business both domestically and internationally and, as a result, one or more of our subsidiaries files income tax
returns in U.S. federal, U.S. state and certain foreign jurisdictions.  Accordingly, in the normal course of business, we are subject to
examination by taxing authorities, primarily in Mexico and the United States. 

2013 Assessment

In January 2017, we received preliminary observations from the Servicio de Administracion Tributaria in Mexico (the “SAT”)
related to an audit for fiscal year 2013 outlining certain proposed adjustments primarily related to intercompany funding, deductions
for services from certain vendors/suppliers and IVA. We provided a written rebuttal to these preliminary observations during our
second fiscal quarter of 2017.

In July 2018, the SAT’s local office in Uruapan issued to CDM a final tax assessment (the “2013 Assessment”) totaling
approximately $2.6 billion Mexican pesos (which includes annual adjustments for inflation, and equals approximately $128.9 million
USD at October 31, 2024) related to income tax, flat rate business tax, and value added tax, related to this fiscal 2013 tax audit.  This
amount has been adjusted for inflation as of October 31, 2024 to the amount of $3 billion Mexican pesos (approximately $148.8
million USD).  Additionally, the tax authorities have determined that we owe our employees profit-sharing liability, totaling
approximately $118 million Mexican pesos (approximately $5.9 million USD at October 31, 2024).  In August 2018, we filed an 
Administrative Appeal on the 2013 Assessment, appealing our case to the SAT’s central legal department in Michoacan. 

On June 25, 2021, we became aware that the Administrative Appeal had been resolved by the SAT against CDM on March 12,
2021, and that we had allegedly failed to timely respond to and challenge the SAT’s notification of such resolution, therefore
rendering the 2013 Assessment as definitive. Consequently, the SAT placed liens on the fixed assets of CDM, with a net book value
of approximately $26 million USD, and on bank accounts of CDM totaling approximately $1 million USD in order to guaranty the
2013 Assessment. Based on legal counsel from our tax advisory firm, we and our tax advisory firm have concluded that the March
notification was not legally communicated.

On August 18, 2021, we filed an Administrative Reconsideration (the Reconsideration) before the Central Legal Department of
the SAT located in Mexico City, asserting that the resolution in March of the Administrative Appeal was wrongly concluded, in
particular with respect to the following matters:

o Failure to recognize CDM as a “maquiladora”
o Considering the Company to have a permanent establishment in Mexico,
o Including fruit purchase deposits transferred by the Company to CDM as taxable,
o Application of 16% IVA tax to fruit purchase deposits; and
o Imposing double-taxation on the fruit purchase transactions

On August 20, 2021 we filed an Annulment Suit (the Annulment Suit) with the Federal Tax Court, which among other things,
strongly contends that the notifications made by the SAT to CDM and its designated advisors of the resolution of the Administrative
Appeal in March 2021 were not legally communicated. In addition, the Annulment Suit asserts the same matters central to the
Reconsideration, as described above, as wrongly concluded in the resolution of the Administrative Appeal.
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On October 13, 2023, the company filed an extension of the Annulment Suit filed on August 20, 2021, as a result of the response
to the lawsuit filed by the Tax Authority, pointing out that Tax Authority’s resolution is unlawful due to improper substantiation and
motivation, because of the following:

• The QR Code does not allow the company to verify the veracity of the document,
• The notification of the tax assessment was not sent to the phone number indicated by the company, when the Tax Authority was
obliged to do so, among others.

On November 14, 2023, the Tax Court acknowledged the admission of the extension to the lawsuit. Additionally, in November
2024, the Administrative Reconsideration and related Injunction action were finalized. The tax authority determined that the filing of
the Administrative Reconsideration was not legally viable, citing the existence of a concurrent legal remedy—the Nullity Petition.
Furthermore, the SAT noted a presumption that the Nullity Petition was filed within the required timeframe, as evidenced by its
admission by the Tax Court.

These resolutions can be used as supervening evidence to support the arguments that the Nullity Petition should be admitted. The
resolutions will contribute to demonstrate that SAT considers that the Nullity Petition was filed on time. This is a statement made
within a formal procedure that contradicts what SAT had been arguing (within the reconsideration procedure).

While we continue to believe that the 2013 Assessment is completely without merit, and that we will prevail on the Annulment
Suit in the Tax Court, we also believe that it is in the best interest of CDM and the Company to settle the 2013 Assessment as quickly
as possible. Furthermore, we believe that the above actions taken by CDM will encourage the SAT to agree to reach a settlement. In
accordance with our cumulative probability analysis on uncertain tax positions, our settlements made by the SAT in other cases, the
2011 Assessment settlement reached by CDM with the MFM, and the value of CDM assets, we recorded a provision of $11.0 million 
in the third quarter of fiscal 2021. The provision includes estimated penalties, interest and inflationary adjustments.  We believe that 
this provision remains appropriate as of October 31, 2024 based on our cumulative probability analysis.  We incurred $1.0 million of
related professional fees for the year ended October 31, 2024, which have been recorded in Expenses related to Mexican Tax matters
on the consolidated statements of operations.

Litigation

From time to time, we are also involved in litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business that we do not believe will
have a material adverse impact on our financial statements. We do not believe that the outcome of any of our current legal
proceedings will have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

8.     Related-Party Transactions

Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer

Certain members of our Board of Directors market California avocados through Calavo pursuant to marketing agreements 
substantially similar to the marketing agreements that we enter with other growers.  During the years ended October 31, 2024, 2023, 
and 2022, the aggregate value of avocados procured from entities owned or controlled by members of our Board of Directors was
 $5.8 million, $2.7 million and $7.5 million, respectively.  We did not have any amounts due to Board members as of October 31,
2024 and 2023. For the year ended October 31, 2024 and 2023, we have purchased $13.2 million and $3.1 million of avocados from
entities affiliated with our Chief Executive Officer, respectively.

Agricola Don Memo, S.A. de C.V. (“Don Memo”)

In December 2014, Calavo formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Calavo Growers De Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (Calavo Sub).  In 
July 2015, Calavo Sub entered into a Shareholder Agreement with Belo, a Mexican company owned by Agricola Belher, and formed 
Agricola Don Memo, S.A. de C.V.  Belo and Calavo Sub have an equal one-half ownership
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interest in Don Memo in exchange for $2 million each.  Pursuant to a management service agreement, Belo, through its officers and 
employees, has day-to-day power and authority to manage the operations. Therefore, Don Memo is accounted for on the equity 
method as an unconsolidated entity. Belo is entitled to a management fee payable annually in July of each year.  Additionally, Calavo 
Sub is entitled to commission for the sale of produce in Mexico, the U.S., Canada, and any other overseas market. 

As of October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we have an investment of $2.4 million, $2.9 million and $3.8 million, respectively,
representing Calavo Sub’s 50% ownership in Don Memo, which is included as an investment in unconsolidated entities on our
balance sheet.  We make advances to Don Memo for operating purposes, provide additional advances as shipments are made during
the season, and return the proceeds from tomato sales under our marketing program to Don Memo, net of our commission and
aforementioned advances. As of October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we had outstanding advances of $7.7 million, $7.3 million and
$7.0 million, respectively, to Don Memo. As of October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we had a tomato liability of $3.1 million, $1.5
million and $1.9 million, respectively, to Don Memo. During the year ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 we purchased $14.4
million, $15.8 million and $13.7 million, respectively, of tomatoes from Don Memo pursuant to our consignment agreement.

In October 2020, we entered into an infrastructure loan agreement with Don Memo for up to $2.4 million secured by certain 
property and equipment of Don Memo.  This infrastructure loan accrues interest at 7.25%.  The total outstanding balance related to 
this infrastructure loan agreement at October 31, 2024 was $1.6 million included in prepaids and other current assets).  The total 
outstanding balance related to this infrastructure loan agreement at October 31, 2023 was $1.6 million included in prepaids and other
current assets.

Belher

We make advances to Belher for operating purposes, provide additional advances as shipments are made during the season, and
return the proceeds from tomato sales under our marketing program to Belher, net of our commission and aforementioned advances.
We had grower advances due from Belher of $5.1 million, $5.4 million and $4.5 million as of October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.  

In July 2021, we made a bridge loan of $3.5 million to Belher.  This loan is secured by certain farmland in Mexico and accrues 
interest at 10%. In the first quarter of fiscal 2024, this loan was amended to be due with installments of $0.6 million on July 31,
2024, $0.6 million on July 31, 2025 and $0.5 million on July 31, 2026. As part of this amended loan agreement, we can withhold 
payments on both the infrastructure advances and the bridge loan through the netting against the grower payable due to Belher.  For 
the years ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we withheld $0.6 million, $0.9 million and $1.1 million, respectively, from 
payments to Belher to offset the bridge loan repayments.  As of October 31, 2024, the balance of the bridge loan has been recorded 
as $0.6 million in prepaid expenses and $0.5 million in other assets. As of October 31, 2023, the balance of the bridge loan has been
recorded as $1.7 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets. During the year ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we
purchased $29.0 million, $16.2 million, and $19.4 million, respectively, of tomatoes from Belher pursuant to our consignment
agreement.

Avocados de Jalisco, S.A.P.I. de C.V. (“Avocados de Jalisco”)

In August 2015, we entered into a Shareholder’s Agreement with various partners to form Avocados de Jalisco, which is a 
Mexican corporation engaged in procuring, packing, and selling avocados.  This entity is approximately 83% owned by Calavo and 
is consolidated in our financial statements.  Avocados de Jalisco built a packinghouse located in Jalisco, Mexico and it began 
operations in June of 2017. As of October 31, 2023 and 2022, we have made an insignificant amount of preseason advances to 
various partners of Avocados de Jalisco.  During the year ended October 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we purchased approximately $0.8
million, $8.1 million and $7.0 million, respectively, of avocados from the partners of Avocados de Jalisco.  
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9.     Income Taxes 

The income tax provision from continuing operations consists of the following for the years ended October 31, (in thousands):

     2024      2023      2022  
 

Current:
Federal $ 1,987 $ 2,144 $ 3,778
State   105   281   147
Foreign   1,564   1,143   1,209
Total current   3,656   3,568   5,134

Deferred:
Federal   290   (349)   (2,568)
State   718   273   487
Foreign   (604)   2,656   (701)
Total deferred   404   2,580   (2,782)
Change in valuation allowance (1,735) — 813
Total income tax provision $ 2,325 $ 6,148 $ 3,165

The following table presents domestic and foreign components of income (loss) before income taxes for the years ended October
31, (in thousands):

2024 2023 2022
Domestic $ 10,518 $ 4,485 $ (1,743)
Foreign (1,345) 6,716 (1,940)
Income (loss) before taxes $ 9,173 $ 11,201 $ (3,683)

The above income (loss) before income taxes includes the net loss from unconsolidated entities of $0.5 million and $0.9 million
for the years ended October 31, 2024 and 2023, which is recorded in foreign operations, respectively.
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of October 31, are as follows (in thousands):

     2024      2023  

Intangible assets $ — $ 941
Stock-based compensation   837   316
State taxes   6   7
Allowance for accounts receivable 868 1,276
Inventories 515 591
Accrued liabilities 2,596 2,238
Operating lease liabilities 6,474 14,444
Net operating loss 2,510 4,109
Capital loss carryover 801 806
Credits and incentives   901   1,099
Total deferred income tax assets 15,508 25,827

Property, plant, and equipment   (1,153)   (6,340)
Intangible assets (32)
Operating lease - right of use assets (4,597) (12,111)
Prepaid expense (491)
Other   —   (227)
Total deferred income tax liabilities (6,273) (18,678)
Valuation allowance (1,762) (4,885)
Net deferred income tax assets $ 7,473 $ 2,264

The Company’s net deferred income tax assets as presented in the consolidated balance sheets consists of the following items as
of October 31, (in thousands):

     Year Ended October 31, 
2024 2023

Deferred income tax assets $ 7,473 $ 3,010
Deferred income tax liabilities — (746)
Net deferred income tax assets $ 7,473 $ 2,264

As of October 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had a federal net operating loss carryforward of none and $6.6 million,
respectively. As of October 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has gross state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $10.8
million and $13.4 million, respectively, with carryforward periods primarily ranging from 20 years to indefinite.  As of October 31, 
2024 and 2023, the Company has gross foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $6.1 million and $6.3 million, 
respectively, with carryforward periods 10 years from generation.  

The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets when determined that all or a portion of the deferred tax
assets are not more likely than not to be realized based on all available evidence. During the fourth quarter of the year ended October
31, 2024, the Company completed the sale of the Fresh Cut business, which generated taxable income and, as a result, the Company
was able to utilize all its federal net operating losses, and a portion of its state net operating losses. The Company’s domestic
continuing operations have generated cumulative operating income for the last three years, and the Company expects the profitability
trend to continue. Based on this evaluation, the Company determined that it is more likely than not for the Company to realize a
majority of the deferred tax assets, with the exception of the federal and state capital loss carryforwards, and state tax credits. As of
October 31, 2024 and 2023, there is a valuation allowance of $1.8 million and $4.9 million, respectively, against the deferred tax
assets that are more likely not to be realized. During the year ended October 31, 2024, the Company decreased the valuation
allowance against deferred income tax assets by $3.1 million. During the year ended October 31, 2023, the Company increased the
valuation allowance against deferred income tax assets by $3.1 million.
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A reconciliation of the significant differences between the federal statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate on
pretax income from continuing operations for the years ended October 31, is as follows:

     2024      2023      2022  

Federal statutory tax rate   21.0 %   21.0 %   21.0 %  
State taxes, net of federal effects   5.8 4.2 (0.7)
Foreign tax rate differential   (1.3) 5.4 4.7
Uncertain tax positions   — — 4.7
Stock based compensation   (0.6) 4.8 (5.6)
Provision to return 5.2 2.2 (54.5)
US tax on foreign income, net — 2.9 —
State rate change   0.2 (0.1) (2.3)
Valuation allowance (18.9) — (22.1)
Limits on executive compensation — 3.9 —
Other permanent differences 12.3 3.5 (32.7)
Other   1.6 7.2 1.6

  25.3 %   55.0 %   (85.9) %  

As of October 31, 2024, and 2023, we had $11.1 million for unrecognized tax benefits related primarily to the 2013 Mexico
Assessment. See Note 7 for further information.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized taxes (exclusive of interest and penalties) was as
follows (in thousands):

     Year Ended October 31, 
2024 2023

Beginning balance $ 11,131 $ 11,131
Reductions based on tax positions related to prior periods — —
Gross increase - Tax positions in prior periods   —   —
Gross increase - Tax positions in current period   —   —
Ending balance $ 11,131 $ 11,131

Although it is reasonably possible that certain unrecognized tax benefits may increase or decrease within the next twelve months
due to tax examination changes, settlement activities, expirations of statutes of limitations, or the impact on recognition and
measurement considerations related to the results of published tax cases or other similar activities, the Company does not anticipate
any significant changes to unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months. The Company accounts for income taxes regarding
uncertain tax positions and recognized interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax benefit/(expense) in the
consolidated statements of operations.

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income of multiple state tax and foreign tax jurisdictions.  We are no longer 
subject to U.S. income tax examinations for the fiscal years prior to October 31, 2021, and are no longer subject to state income tax 
examinations for fiscal years prior to October 31, 2020.

The Company determined that certain foreign earnings to be indefinitely reinvested outside the United States. Our intent is to
permanently reinvest these funds outside of the United States and our current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate the cash
to fund our U.S. operations. However, if these funds were repatriated, we would be required to accrue and pay applicable United
States taxes (if any) and withholding taxes payable to foreign tax authorities.

In 2021, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development announced an Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and
Profit Shifting including Pillar Two Model Rules defining the global minimum tax, which calls for the taxation of large multinational
corporations at a minimum rate of 15%. Subsequently multiple sets of administrative guidance have been issued. Pillar Two is not
expected to materially impact our effective tax rate or cash flows in the next
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fiscal year. New legislation or guidance could change our current assessment. We are continuing to evaluate the impacts of enacted
legislation and pending legislation to enact Pillar Two Model Rules in Mexico where we operate. Mexico plans to apply Pillar Two
regulation starting in 2025.

10.     Segment Information

Prior to the decision to divest our Fresh Cut business (formerly RFG), the Company’s Prepared reporting segment included the 
Fresh Cut business unit and our Guacamole business.  As a result of the divestiture, the Fresh Cut business unit is no longer included 
in our Prepared business segment and is not included in the tables below. All segment information included herein reflects these 
changes.  See Note 16 for further information.

We report our operations in two different business segments: Grown and Prepared. The Grown segment consists of fresh
avocados, tomatoes and papayas. The Prepared segment consists of our guacamole products sold to retailers and foodservice
companies as well as avocado pulp sold to foodservice companies. These two business segments are presented based on how 
information is used by our Chief Executive Officer to measure performance and allocate resources. Selling, general and 
administrative expenses, as well as other non-operating income/expense items, are evaluated by our Chief Executive Officer in the 
aggregate.  We do not allocate assets, or specifically identify them, to our operating segments. 

The following table sets forth sales, cost of sales, and gross profit by segment (in thousands):

              
Grown Prepared Total

(All amounts are presented in thousands)
Year ended October 31, 2024
Net sales $ 597,624 $ 63,920 $ 661,544
Cost of sales 542,356 51,384 593,740
Gross profit $ 55,268 $ 12,536 $ 67,804

Year ended October 31, 2023
Net sales $ 527,396 $ 66,706 $ 594,102
Cost of sales 476,862 54,628   531,490
Gross profit $ 50,534 $ 12,078 $ 62,612

Year ended October 31, 2022
Net sales $ 698,205 $ 71,486 $ 769,691
Cost of sales 648,040 66,909 714,949
Gross profit $ 50,165 $ 4,577 $ 54,742

The following table sets forth sales by product category, by segment (in thousands):

Year Ended October 31, 2024 Year Ended October 31, 2023  
Grown Prepared Total Grown Prepared Total  

      
Avocados $ 534,413 $ — $ 534,413 $ 466,385 $ — $ 466,385
Tomatoes   54,660   —   54,660   54,669   —   54,669
Papayas   11,573   —   11,573   10,432   —   10,432
Other fresh income   8   —   8   100   —   100
Guacamole 71,468 71,468 — 73,068 73,068
Salsa   —   —   —   —   796   796
Total gross sales   600,654   71,468   672,122   531,586   73,864   605,450
Less sales allowances   (3,030) (7,548)   (10,578)   (4,190) (7,158)   (11,348)
Net sales $ 597,624 $ 63,920 $ 661,544 $ 527,396 $ 66,706 $ 594,102
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Year Ended October 31, 2023 Year Ended October 31, 2022
Grown Prepared Total Grown Prepared Total

    
Avocados $ 466,385 $ — $ 466,385 $ 645,944 $ — $ 645,944
Tomatoes   54,669   —   54,669   45,223   —   45,223
Papayas   10,432   —   10,432   11,422   —   11,422
Other fresh income   100   —   100   123   —   123
Guacamole — 73,068 73,068 — 77,143 77,143
Salsa   —   796   796   —   1,860   1,860
Total gross sales   531,586   73,864   605,450   702,712   79,003   781,715
Less sales allowances   (4,190)   (7,158)   (11,348)   (4,507) (7,517)   (12,024)
Net sales $ 527,396 $ 66,706 $ 594,102 $ 698,205 $ 71,486 $ 769,691

Sales to customers outside the U.S. were approximately $38.6 million, $34.6 million and $27.8 million for fiscal years 2024,
2023, and 2022, respectively.

Our goodwill balance of $10.2 million is attributed by segment to Grown for $4.0 million and Prepared for $6.2 million as of
October 31, 2024 and 2023.

Long-lived assets attributed to geographic areas as of October 31, are as follows (in thousands):

     United States      Mexico      Consolidated
October 31, 2024 $ 24,531 $ 29,669 $ 54,200
October 31, 2023 $ 25,986 $ 34,938 $ 60,924

11.     Long-Term Obligations

Long-term obligations at fiscal year ends consist of the following (in thousands):

     2024      2023  
Finance leases   5,148   5,476
Less current portion   (874)   (831)

$ 4,274 $ 4,645

See Note 15 for additional information.

12.     Stock-Based Compensation

The 2020 Equity Incentive Plan

In April 2021, our shareholders approved the Calavo Growers, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2020 Plan).  All directors, 
officers, employees and consultants (including prospective directors, officers, employees and consultants) of Calavo and its 
subsidiaries are eligible to receive awards under the 2020 Plan.  This is a five-year plan, with up to 1,500,000 shares issuable through
December 9, 2025.

Restricted Stock Awards (RSAs)

The total recognized stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock awards was less than $0.1 million and $2.3 million
for the year ended October 31, 2024 and 2023. As of October 31, 2024, there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation costs 
related to non-vested RSAs.  All RSAs are vested as of October 31, 2024.

Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) and Performance Restricted Stock Units (PRSUs)
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The total recognized stock-based compensation expense for RSUs was $1.4 million and $1.6 million for the year ended October
31, 2024 and 2023. As of October 31, 2024, there was $0.3 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation costs related to non-
vested RSUs, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted-average period of 0.3 years.  

A combined summary of RSU activity, related to our 2020 Plan, is as follows (in thousands, except for per share amounts):

     Number of Shares      Weighted-Average      Aggregate
     Represented      Grant Price      Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at October 31, 2023   51 $ 35.36
Granted 41 $ 24.42
Vested (21) $ 34.85
Forfeited   (14) $ 34.90
Outstanding at October 31, 2024   57 $ 27.40 $ 1,514

At the end of each reporting period, the Company will adjust compensation expense for the PRSUs based on its best estimate of 
attainment of the specified performance targets.  The cumulative effect on current and prior periods of a change in the estimated 
number of PRSUs that are expected to be earned will be recognized as an adjustment in the period of the adjustment.  As of October 
31, 2024, the Company determined that it was not probable that any of the PRSUs for the 2022 or 2023 three-year cumulative 
performance grant would vest. The Company did not recognize any stock-based compensation expense for PRSUs for the year ended
October 31, 2024. The total recognized stock-based compensation expense for PRSUs was $0.2 million for the year ended October
31, 2023.

Stock Options

In June 2024, our Board of Directors approved the grant of 10,000 options of our common stock to a new member of our Board
of Directors.  Such grant vests in equal increments over a five-year period and has an exercise price of $25.84 per share.  Vested 
options have an exercise period of five years from the vesting date.  The market price of our common stock at the grant date was
$25.84.  The estimated fair market value of such option grant was approximately $0.1 million, which will be recognized over the
remaining service period of 60 months. The total recognized stock-based compensation expense for these options was insignificant
for the year ended October 31, 2024.

Stock options are granted with exercise prices of not less than the fair market value at grant date, generally vest over one to five
years and generally expire two to five years after the vest date.  We settle stock option exercises with newly issued shares of common 
stock.  We measure compensation cost for all stock-based awards at fair value on the date of grant and recognize compensation 
expense in our consolidated statements of operations over the service period that the awards are expected to vest.  We measure the 
fair value of our stock-based compensation awards on the date of grant.

The value of each option award is estimated using a lattice-based option valuation model.  We primarily consider the following 
assumptions when using these models: (1) expected volatility, (2) expected dividends, (3) expected life and (4) risk-free interest rate.  
Such models also consider the intrinsic value in the estimation of fair value of the option award.  

We measure the fair value of our stock option awards on the date of grant.  The following assumptions were used in the 
estimated grant date fair value calculations for stock options granted in the third quarter of fiscal 2024:

Risk-free interest rate   4.47 %
Expected volatility   43.0 %
Dividend yield   1.6 %
Expected life (years)   5.0

The expected stock price volatility rates were based on the historical volatility of our common stock. The risk-free interest rate
was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods approximating the
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expected life of the option. The expected life represents the average period of time that options granted are expected to be
outstanding, as calculated using the simplified method described in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107.

The Black-Scholes-Merton and lattice-based option valuation models were developed for use in estimating the fair value of
traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Because options held by our directors and employees have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, in our opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of these options.

The total recognized stock-based compensation expense for options was $0.7 million and $1.3 million for the years ended
October 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of October 31, 2024, there was $0.2 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation
costs related to options, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years.  

A summary of stock option activity, related to our 2011 and 2020 Management Incentive Plan, is as follows (in thousands, except
for per share amounts):

          Weighted-Average      Aggregate
Exercise Intrinsic

Number of Shares Price Value
Outstanding at October 31, 2023   525 $ 25.44
Granted   10 $ 25.84
Outstanding at October 31, 2024   535 $ 25.44 $ 1,102
Vested and Exercisable at October 31, 2024   21 $ 26.82 $ 438

13.     Dividends

In November 2022, we announced that we would begin declaring and paying dividends quarterly rather than annually which had 
been our prior practice.  

On January 31, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on January
26, 2024. On April 29, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on
April 1, 2024. On July 30, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.10 per share, or an aggregate of $1.8 million, to shareholders of record on
July 2, 2024. On October 30, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.20 per share, or an aggregate of $3.6 million, to shareholders of record
on October 2, 2024.

On December 30, 2024, our board of directors declared a cash dividend of $0.20 per share. This dividend will be paid on January
31, 2025, to shareholders of record on January 10, 2025.

14.  Mexican IVA taxes receivable

Included in other assets are tax receivables due from the Mexican government for value-added taxes (IVA) paid in advance. CDM
is charged IVA by vendors on certain expenditures in Mexico, which, insofar as they relate to the exportation of goods, translate into
IVA amounts receivable from the Mexican government.

As of October 31, 2024, and October 31, 2023, CDM IVA receivables, net of our estimated provision for uncollectable amounts,
totaled $48.7 million (976.0 million Mexican pesos) and $49.9 million (913.6 million Mexican pesos).  Historically, CDM received 
IVA refund payments from the Mexican tax authorities on a timely basis. Beginning in fiscal 2014 and continuing into fiscal 2024, 
however, the tax authorities began carrying out more detailed reviews of our refund requests and our supporting documentation. 
Additionally, they are also questioning the refunds requested attributable to IVA paid to certain suppliers that allegedly did not fulfill 
their own tax obligations. We believe these factors, and others, have contributed to delays in the processing of IVA claims by the 
Mexican tax authorities.  Currently, we are in the process of collecting such balances, primarily through regular administrative 
processes, but these amounts may ultimately need to be recovered through Administrative Appeals and/or legal means.
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During the first quarter of fiscal 2017, the tax authorities informed us that their internal opinion, based on the information 
provided by the local SAT office, considers that CDM is not properly documented relative to its declared tax structure and therefore 
CDM cannot claim the refundable IVA balance. CDM has strong arguments and supporting documentation to sustain its declared tax 
structure for IVA and income tax purposes. CDM started an Administrative Appeal for the IVA related to the request of the months 
of July, August and September of 2015 (the “2015 Appeal”) in order to assert its argument that CDM is properly documented and to 
therefore change the SAT’s internal assessment. In August 2018, we received a favorable ruling from the SAT’s Legal Administration 
in Michoacan on the 2015 Appeal indicating that they believe CDM’s legal interpretation of its declared tax structure is indeed 
accurate.  While favorable on this central matter of CDM’s declared tax structure, the ruling, however, still does not recognize the 
taxpayers right to a full refund for the IVA related to the months of July, August and September 2015. Therefore, in October 2018, 
CDM filed a substance-over-form Annulment Suit in the Federal Tax Court to recover its full refund for IVA over the subject period, 
which is currently pending resolution.

In April 2022, the Tax Court issued the ruling for the months of July, August and September 2015 through which it was declared
that the following resolutions were resolved:

● It is recognized that CDM operates as a maquila under the authorization of the Ministry of Finance.

● It is recognized that all bank deposits corresponding to the purchase of avocados on behalf of Calavo Growers Inc.
(CGI), are subject to the maquila program and it is not accruable income for purposes of income tax nor activities
subject to VAT.

● It is recognized that IVA is recoverable, since CDM demonstrated the existence of operations carried under the maquila
services.

● Resolved that certain IVA amounts attributed to the purchase of certain packing materials are not recoverable as CDM
was not the buyer on record and therefore did not pay for the materials, which approximated $6.9 million pesos
(approximately $0.4 million USD).

We believe that our operations in Mexico are properly documented, and our internationally recognized tax advisors believe that
there are legal grounds to prevail in collecting the corresponding IVA amounts. With assistance from our internationally recognized
tax advisory firm, as of October 31, 2024, CDM has filed Administrative Appeals for months for which IVA refunds have been
denied by the SAT, and will continue filing such appeals for any months for which refunds are denied in the future. Therefore, it is
probable that the Mexican tax authorities will ultimately authorize the refund of the remaining IVA amounts.

15.  Leases

We lease property and equipment under finance and operating leases. For leases with terms greater than 12 months, we record the
related asset and obligation at the present value of lease payments over the term. Many of our leases include rental escalation clauses,
renewal options and/or termination options that are factored into our determination of lease payments when appropriate.

We also lease certain property, plant and equipment, including office facilities, under operating leases. The lease term consists of
the noncancellable period of the lease and the periods covered by options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably
certain that the Company will exercise such options. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees.
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Lease Position

The following table presents the lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the balance sheet as of October 31, 2024 and
2023 (in thousands):

October 31,    October 31, 
2024   2023

Assets             
Non-current assets:          

Operating lease assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 18,316 $ 18,357
Finance lease assets Property, plant and equipment, net   4,609   5,051

$ 22,925 $ 23,408
Liabilities             
Current liabilities:             

Operating Current portion of operating leases $ 3,296 $ 3,663
Finance Current portion of long-term obligations and finance leases   874   831

Long-term obligations             
Operating Long-term operating leases, less current portion   17,476   17,328
Finance Long-term obligations and finance leases, less current portion   4,274   4,645

$ 25,920 $ 26,467

Weighted-average remaining lease term:      Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023
Operating leases   6.5 years 6.6 years
Finance leases   7.0 years 7.6 years

Weighted-average discount rate:        
Operating leases   2.49 % 2.96 %
Finance leases   4.89 % 4.63 %

Lease Costs

The following table presents certain information related to the lease costs for finance and operating leases for the years ended
October 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

     Year ended Year ended
  October 31, 2024 October 31, 2023

Amortization of financing lease assets (recorded in cost of sales)   $  994 $  812
Operating lease cost 4,202 4,136
Short-term lease cost 952 672
Variable lease cost 62 61
Interest on financing lease liabilities 255 179
Total lease cost $  6,465 $  5,860

Other Information

The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to the leases for the years ended October 31, 2024 and
2023 (in thousands):

     Year ended Year ended
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities   October 31, 2024 October 31, 2023
Operating cash flows for operating leases   $  3,878 $  3,732
Financing cash flows for finance leases 882 702
Operating cash flows for finance leases 255 167
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The total right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating leases for the years ended October 31, 2024 and 2023 were
$3.7 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

Undiscounted Cash Flows

The following table reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total remaining years to the finance
lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities recorded on the balance sheet as of October 31, 2024 (in thousands):

     Operating      Finance 
Year Leases   Leases
2025   $ 3,741   $ 1,101
2026 3,524 922
2027 3,467 827
2028 3,377 758
2029 3,139 584
Thereafter 5,055 1,864
Total lease payments 22,303 6,056
Less: imputed interest 1,531 908
Total lease liability   $ 20,772   $ 5,148

16. Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

We completed the sale of our Fresh Cut business (formerly “RFG”) and related real estate on August 15, 2024 for $83.0 million, 
subject to various closing adjustments.  The Fresh Cut business represents substantially all of the business of the Prepared segment 
other than the guacamole business, which was retained.  For more information, see Note 17.

During the year ended October 31, 2024, we concluded that the Fresh Cut business met the requirements to be classified as held
for sale and discontinued operations. As a result, the financial results of that business are reported as discontinued operations in the
accompanying statements of operations, and its assets and liabilities are reflected as amounts held for sale in the accompanying
balance sheets. Our reporting segments have also been changed for the effects of the divestiture, as described in Note 10.
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The following table presents the major classes of assets and liabilities of the Fresh Cut business that are classified as held for sale
in the accompanying balance sheets (in thousands).

     October 31,  October 31, 
2024 2023

        
Accounts receivable, net $ — $ 27,479
Inventories, net   —   7,859
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   —   2,195
Property, plant, and equipment, net   —   51,805
Operating lease right-of-use assets — 29,676
Goodwill   —   18,442
Intangibles   —   5,423
Other assets   —   78

Total assets held for sale $ — $ 142,957
         
         

Trade accounts payable $ — $ 10,440
Accrued expenses   —   15,299
Current portion of operating leases — 3,399
Current portion of long-term obligations and finance leases   —   773
Long-term operating leases, less current portion — 28,065
Long-term obligations and finance leases, less current portion   —   1,002
Other long-term liabilities   —   228

Total liabilities held for sale $ — $ 59,206

Goodwill related to our Prepared segment was allocated between our Fresh Cut and Guacamole businesses based on the relative
fair value of the disposal group and the portion of the reporting unit to be retained as of the date of the assets held for sale
determination as described in Note 2.

The following table summarizes the results of operations of the Fresh Cut business that are being reported as discontinued
operations (in thousands):

Year Ended October 31, 
2024 2023 2022

Net sales $ 272,177      $ 377,846      $ 421,382
Cost of sales   259,757   371,880   401,306
Gross profit   12,420   5,966   20,076
Selling, general and administrative   14,023   19,124   18,944
Impairment of goodwill 9,280 — —
Impairment and charges related to Florida facility closure — — 959
Operating income (loss) (10,883) (13,158) 173
Interest expense (77) (124) (55)
Other income, net   32   56   214
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes and gain on sale   (10,928)   (13,226)   332
Gain on sale 192 — —
Income tax benefit (expense)   2,864   206   (86)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations $ (7,872) $ (13,020) $ 246

During the third quarter of fiscal 2024, as a result of ongoing negotiations and finalization of the sales price of our Fresh Cut 
business, we evaluated whether it was more likely than not that the carrying value of the Fresh Cut business exceeded its fair value 
and performed an impairment analysis.  Accordingly, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $9.3 million during
this period.
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Select cash flow information related to the Fresh Cut business follows (in thousands):

Year ended
October 31, 

2024 2023

Net cash used in operating activities $ (4,679)     $ (13,527)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ 82,408      $ (10,641)

17. Sale of Fresh Cut Business

Asset Purchase Agreement and Purchase and Sale Agreement

On August 15, 2024, we (including various of our subsidiaries, the “Seller Parties”), F&S Produce Co., Inc., a New Jersey
corporation and a co-packing partner of the Company (“F&S”) and F&S Produce West LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of F&S (“Buyer”), entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”),
whereby the Buyer (i) purchased and acquired from the applicable Seller Parties certain assets of the Seller Parties related to the
prepared food business of the Seller Parties and their subsidiaries relating to the processing and packaging of fresh foods, including
fresh-cut fruit and vegetables, and prepared foods, including sandwiches, salads, parfaits and ready-to-eat snack items, sold to
retailers and foodservice companies, but excluding the guacamole or other avocado derivative product business (the “RFG
Business”), (ii) purchased and acquired from the applicable Seller Parties the RFG Business as a going concern and (iii) assumed
certain specified liabilities of the Seller Parties related to the RFG Business as set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

Additionally, Buyer assumed leasehold interests in certain real property and related improvements leased by certain of the Seller
Parties and used in the RFG Business (the “RFG Leases”), pursuant to leasehold assignment and assumption agreements and related
documents between Buyer, the applicable Seller Parties who are the lessees under the RFG Leases and the applicable landlords under
the RFG Leases.

Concurrently with the transaction contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Transaction”), Mid-Eastern West LLC, a
California limited liability company and an affiliate of F&S, entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Force 1730 Eastridge
LLC, a California limited liability company and a subsidiary of the Company, to purchase the real property located at 1730 Eastridge
Ave, Riverside, CA 92507 for $31.0 million.

In addition, pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the purchase price for the Purchased Assets (as defined in the Asset
Purchase Agreement) was $52.0 million for a total of $83.0 million. Proceeds from the sale totaled $81.1 million net of $1.9 million 
of transaction costs.  Subsequent to the goodwill impairment of $9.3 million recorded during the quarter ended July 31, 2024, a gain
of $0.2 million was recognized in the results of discontinued operations.

Amendment to Credit Agreement

On August 15, 2024, we entered into a First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Consent (as amended, the “Credit
Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent and lender (“Agent”), whereby (i) the Credit Agreement was
amended to reduce the revolving commitments thereunder from $90.0 million to $75.0 million, among other minor adjustments to
align the borrowing base with our current asset base excluding the Fresh Cut business, and (ii) we obtained consent from Agent for
entry into the Asset Purchase Agreement and Purchase and Sale Agreement.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Calavo Growers, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Calavo Growers, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of
October 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of
the three years in the period ended October 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements").
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
October 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
October 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2024, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated January 14, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted for discontinued
operations of the Fresh Cut business which was sold on August 15, 2024.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the
accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Mexican IVA taxes receivable — Refer to Note 14 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

As of October 31, 2024, the Company’s subsidiary, Calavo de Mexico (“CDM”), has a value-added taxes (IVA) receivable of
$48.7 million due from the Mexican government. Historically, CDM received IVA refund payments from the Mexican tax
authorities on a timely basis. Beginning in fiscal 2014 and continuing into fiscal 2024, there have been delays in the processing
of the IVA claims by the Mexican tax authorities. The Mexican authorities informed the Company that CDM is not properly 
documented relative to its declared tax structure and therefore CDM cannot claim the refundable IVA balance. Mexican 
authorities also questioned refunds requested attributable to IVA paid to certain suppliers that allegedly did not fulfill their own 
tax obligations.   

Given the significant judgments made by management to determine the Company’s ability to recover the IVA taxes receivable,
performing audit procedures to evaluate the Company’s interpretation and compliance with international tax laws involved
significant auditor judgment and use of tax specialists with specialized skills and knowledge, which we have determined to be a
critical audit matter.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to management’s judgments related to the collectability of the IVA taxes receivable included the
following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of the controls over the recoverability of the Mexican IVA taxes receivable and the
review of related disclosures.

• With the assistance of our tax specialists, we evaluated the recoverability of the IVA receivable by evaluating the
technical merits and the Company’s interpretation of international tax law, including substantiating that the Company’s
declared tax structure is in compliance with Mexican tax regulations.

• We obtained legal letters from the Company’s tax advisors related to the collectability of the IVA receivable, and
evaluated case rulings supporting the recoverability of IVA taxes paid to non-compliant vendors.

Uncertain Tax Positions Related to Mexico tax audits — Refer to Note 7 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company is under audit by the Mexican tax authorities relating to the Company’s 2013 fiscal year. The Mexican tax
authorities have assessed the Company in connection with the audit for the 2013 fiscal year outlining certain proposed
adjustments primarily related to intercompany funding, deductions for services from certain vendors/suppliers, and IVA. The
assessment, including the effect of inflation and penalties, amounted to $3 billion Mexican pesos (approximately $148.8 million
USD) as of October 31, 2024. The Company has filed an administrative reconsideration and an annulment suit to dismiss the
assessment made by the Mexican tax authorities. While the Company believes the assessment is completely without merit, and
that the Company will prevail on the annulment suit in tax court, the Company believes it is in the best interest to settle the 2013
tax matter. Therefore, in accordance with a cumulative probability analysis, the Company concluded that a provision of $11
million remains appropriate as of October 31, 2024.

Given the significant judgments made by management in determining its analysis and accounting for the Company’s uncertain
tax position for the 2013 tax matter, performing audit procedures to evaluate the Company’s interpretation and compliance with
international tax laws involved significant auditor judgment and use of tax specialists with specialized skills and knowledge,
which we have determined to be a critical audit matter.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the determination of whether it is more likely than not that the Company’s tax positions
challenged by the Mexican tax authorities will be realized included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of the controls over the evaluation of uncertain tax positions as it relates to the periods
subject to the Mexico tax audit and the review of related disclosures.

• With the assistance of our tax specialists, we evaluated the Company’s interpretation of international taw laws and
whether the declared tax structure is in compliance with Mexican tax regulations.

• We obtained legal letters from the Company’s tax advisors related to understanding the advisors current assessment
of the tax audit and assessed the technical merits of tax positions taken by the Company.

• We evaluated the reasonableness of the method, judgment, and assumptions used by the Company in determining
the provision recognized to settle the uncertain tax position using a cumulative probability analysis.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, California
January 14, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this report. 
Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective as of October 31, 2024.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended October 31, 2024 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term
is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).  Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report based on the framework set forth in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework).  

Based on our evaluation under the framework set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, our management concluded 
that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of October 31, 2024.  Our internal control over financial reporting 
as of October 31, 2024 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in 
their report which is included herein. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Calavo Growers, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Calavo Growers, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
October 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.  

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended October 31, 2024, of the Company and our report dated
January 14, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit.  We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, California
January 14, 2025
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Item 9B. Other Information

Trading Plans
During the quarter ended October 31, 2024, no director or Section 16 officer adopted or terminated any Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangements or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (in each case, as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K).

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections  
 

Not applicable.   

PART III

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Annual Report because we will file a definitive Proxy Statement for
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Proxy Statement”),
not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, and the applicable information included in the
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

The following table sets forth the name, age and position of individuals who hold positions as executive officers of our Company.
There are no family relationships between any director or executive officer and any other director or executive officer of our
Company. Executive officers are elected by our board of directors and serve at the discretion of the board.

Name     Age      Position
Lecil Cole   85   Chief Executive Officer
James Snyder 53 Chief Financial Officer
Mike Browne 66 Vice President Executive Sales & Operations
Ronald Araiza 65 Vice President Executive Fresh Foods

Lecil Cole served as our Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and President from 1999 until his
retirement in 2020.  He retired as a director of the Company in 2021. In March 2023, the Company reinstated Mr. Cole as our Chief
Executive Officer. Prior to joining Calavo, Mr. Cole served as an executive of Safeway Stores and as the Chairman of Central Coast
Federal Land Bank.  Mr. Cole farms a total of approximately 4,400 acres in California on which avocados and cattle are produced
and raised.

James Snyder has served as our Chief Financial Officer since December 2024. Prior to his appointment as Chief Financial
Officer, Mr. Snyder served as Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer at Gem-Pack Berries in Irvine, California since
April 2024. Prior to that, Mr. Snyder served in a similar role for Nano Banc of Irvine from March 2020 to April 2024. Previously he
served as Calavo’s Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer from mid-2003 to March 2020, after beginning work for
Calavo in December 2001.

Mike Browne returned to Calavo June 2023 as the Vice President Executive Sales and Operations. He served as our Vice 
President from May 2005 to December 2019. From 1997 until joining us, Mr. Browne served as the founder and co-owner of Fresh 
Directions International, a closely held multinational fresh produce company, which marketed fresh avocados from Mexico, Chile, 
and the Dominican Republic. From December 2019 to September 2021, Mr. Browne was the Chief Operating Officer of Mission 
Produce.  

Ronald Araiza returned to Calavo as our Vice President of Prepared Foods in June 2023 after a brief hiatus.  He served as a Vice 
President of Calavo from January 2017 until October 2022. Mr. Araiza has approximately twenty years of experience as a Vice 
President at Mission Produce and Del Rey Avocado. Mr. Araiza is also a past alternate board member of the California Avocado 
Commission.
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The following information will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year end of October
31, 2024 and is incorporated herein by reference:

Ø Information regarding our directors who are standing for reelection and any persons nominated to become our
directors is set forth under "Election of Directors."

Ø Information regarding our Audit Committee and designated "audit committee financial expert" is set forth under
"Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters—Board Structure, Independence of Directors and
Committee Composition—Audit Committee."

Ø Information regarding Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance, if applicable, is set forth under
"Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports."

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Policy (“Code of Ethics”) that applies to our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer and principal accounting officer as well as all our directors, other officers and employees. Our Code of
Ethics can be found on our website at www.calavo.com.

We intend to disclose any amendment or waiver of the Code of Conduct promptly on our website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Executive Compensation” and
“Directors’ Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Common Stock Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Transactions with Related 
Persons” and “Board Structure, Independence of Directors and Committee Composition” in the Proxy Statement.  

Item 14. Principal Accountant’s Fees and Services

Information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the section of the Proxy Statement entitled “Principal
Auditor Fees and Services.”

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements as of October 31, 2024 and 2023 and for each of the three years in the period
ended October 31, 2024 are included herewith:

Consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Operations, Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, Consolidated
Statements of Shareholders' Equity, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, and Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP,
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 34).
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      (2) No financial statement schedules are required to be filed by Item 8 of Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits

See the “Exhibit Index” on pages 87 - 89 of this report.

(b) Exhibits

See subsection (a) (3) above.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

See subsection (a) (1) and (2) above.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number

     Description

2.1* Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of February 20, 2001 between Calavo Growers, Inc. and
Calavo Growers of California. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-59418 filed by the Registrant on April 24, 2001)

2.2* Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of November 7, 2003 among Calavo Growers, Inc., Calavo Acquisition Inc.,
Maui Fresh International, Inc. and Arthur J. Bruno, Robert J. Bruno and Javier J. Badillo. (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by the Registrant on January 23, 2004)

2.3* Acquisition Agreement between Calavo Growers, Inc., a California corporation and Lecil E. Cole, Eric Weinert,
Suzanne Cole-Savard, Guy Cole, and Lecil E. Cole and Mary Jeanette Cole, acting jointly and severally as trustees of
the Lecil E. and Mary Jeanette Cole Revocable Trust dated October 19, 1993, also known as the Lecil E. and Mary
Jeanette Cole Revocable 1993 Trust dated May 19, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on May 29, 2008)

2.4* Asset Purchase and Contribution Agreement between Calavo Growers, Inc., Calavo Salsa Lisa, LLC, Lisa’s Salsa
Company and Elizabeth Nicholson and Eric Nicholson dated February 8, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
2.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on March 11, 2010)

2.5* Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement for Calavo Salsa Lisa, LLC dated February 8, 2010
among Calavo Growers, Inc., Calavo Salsa Lisa LLC, Lisa’s Salsa Company, Elizabeth Nicholson and Eric
Nicholson. (portions of this agreement have been deleted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on March 11, 2010)

2.6* Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 25, 2011 among Calavo Growers, Inc., CG Mergersub LLC, Renaissance
Food Group, LLC and Liberty Fresh Foods, LLC, Kenneth Catchot, Cut Fruit, LLC, James Catchot, James Gibson,
Jose O. Castillo, Donald L. Johnson and RFG Nominee Trust1 (certain portions of the exhibit have been omitted
based upon a request for confidential treatment filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The omitted portions of the exhibit have been separately filed by the Registrant with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed by the
Registrant on January 10, 2012).

2.7* Sale of LLC Interest Agreement dated October 31, 2012 between Calavo Growers, Inc. and San Rafael Distributing,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on
November 6, 2012).

2.8* Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 31, 2013, among Calavo Growers, Inc., Renaissance
Food Group, LLC and Liberty Fresh Foods, LLC, Kenneth Catchot, Cut Fruit, LLC, James Catchot, James Gibson,
Jose O. Castillo, Donald L. Johnson and RFG Nominee Trust (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on September 4, 2013).

2.9* Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated August 16, 2013, by and among FreshRealm,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and the Members (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on September 9, 2013).

2.10* Amendment No. 2 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 1, 2013, among Calavo Growers, Inc.,
Renaissance Food Group, LLC and Liberty Fresh Foods, LLC, Kenneth J. Catchot, Cut Fruit, LLC, James S.
Catchot, James Gibson, Jose O. Castillo, Donald L. Johnson and the RFG Nominee Trust (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on November 16, 2023).

3.1* Articles of Incorporation of Calavo Growers, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-59418 filed by the Registrant on April 24, 2001).

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095014801500411/v70569ex2-1.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095014804000129/v95808exv2w2.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095012408002518/v41085exv2w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095012310023590/v55403exv2w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095012310023590/v55403exv10w3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000119312512008063/d280367dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000119312512454567/d435941dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000119312513357144/d592266dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000119312513360154/d576441dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000119312513455104/d636762dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095014801500411/v70569ex3-1.txt
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3.2* Amended and Restated Bylaws of Calavo Growers, Inc., effective as of September 25, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on September 1, 2022).

4.1* Description of the Securities of Calavo Growers, Inc. Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A filed by the Registrant
on March 30, 2020).

10.1* Form of Marketing Agreement for Calavo Growers, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed by the Registrant on January 28, 2003).

10.2* Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on March 14, 2022).

10.3* Form of Notice of Stock Option Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed by the Registrant on March 14, 2022).

10.4* 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3(a) to the Registration Statement on Form S-8
filed by the Registrant on June 10, 2021).

10.5* Form of Indemnification Agreement between with each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on September 1, 2022).

10.6* Lease Agreement dated as of November 21, 1997, between Tede S.A. de C.V., a Mexican corporation, and Calavo de
Mexico, S.A. de C.V., a Mexican corporation, including attached Guaranty of Calavo Growers of California dated
December 16, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No.
333-59418 filed by the Registrant on April 24, 2001)

10.7* 2011 Management Incentive Plan of Calavo Growers, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed by the Registrant on January 14, 2011).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837022014140/cvgw-20220731xex3d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837020003374/ex-4d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095014803000098/v87183exv10w1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837022003566/cvgw-20220131xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837022003566/cvgw-20220131xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837021008126/cvgw-20210430xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837022009683/cvgw-20220430xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095014801500411/v70569ex10-4.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095012311002615/v58339exv10w18.htm
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10.8* Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form
8-K filed by the Registrant on November 2, 2022).

10.09* Employment Agreement of Lecil E. Cole (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed by the Registrant on June 6, 2023).

10.10* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on June 6, 2023).

10.11* Credit Agreement, dated June 26, 2023, by and among the Company, certain of its subsidiaries as guarantors and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent and lender (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on June 30, 2023).

10.12 Separation and Release Agreement – Graciela Montgomery (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on March 11, 2024).

10.13 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated August 15, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on August 21, 2024).

10.14 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated August 15, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on August 21, 2024).

10.15 Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated August 15, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on August 21, 2024).

10.16 Offer Letter, dated November 22, 2024, between the Company and James Snyder
19.1 Calavo Growers, Inc. Insider Trading Policy

21.1* Subsidiaries of Calavo Growers, Inc.
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K)
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e)
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e)
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Periodic Report Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

Section 1350
97.1 Calavo Growers, Inc. Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-

K filed by the Registrant on January 31, 2024).
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Previously filed.

** This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of
that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

+ Certain schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The registrant will furnish
copies of any such schedules and exhibits to the SEC upon request.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837022015916/cvgw-20221101xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837023010838/cvgw-20230430xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837023010838/cvgw-20230430xex10d4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837023011642/cvgw-20230626xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837024002910/cvgw-20240131xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837024012417/cvgw-20240815xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837024012417/cvgw-20240815xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837024012417/cvgw-20240815xex10d3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000095014801500411/v70569ex21-1.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1133470/000155837024000671/cvgw-20231031xex97d1.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on January 14, 2025

CALAVO GROWERS, INC

By: /s/ Lecil Cole
Lecil Cole

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on January 14, 2025 by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated:

Signature Title Date:

/s/ Lecil Cole Chief Executive Officer January 14, 2025
Lecil Cole (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ James Snyder Chief Financial Officer January 14, 2025
James Snyder (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Steven W. Hollister Chairman of the Board of Directors January 14, 2025
Steven W. Hollister

/s/ Marc L. Brown Director January 14, 2025
Marc L. Brown

/s/ Adriana Mendizabal Director January 14, 2025
Adriana Mendizabal

/s/ Michael A. DiGregorio Director January 14, 2025
Michael A. DiGregorio

/s/ James Helin Director January 14, 2025
James Helin

/s/ Farha Aslam Director January 14, 2025
Farha Aslam

/s/ J. Link Leavens Director January 14, 2025
J. Link Leavens

/s/ Kathleen M. Holmgren Director January 14, 2025
Kathleen M. Holmgren

/s/ John Lindeman Director January 14, 2025
John Lindeman
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Nov 22, 2024
James Snyder
130 Mayflower St
Thousand
Oaks, CA 91360
Dear James,
Congratulations!
We are very
excited to extend this offer to
have you join the Calavo family
of Fresh Foods! This is the
formal offer outlining the terms
of this employment offer. We
are confident that your talents
and
experience will
complement our core values of
Quality, Teamwork, Good
Citizenship and Respect
for
others while enhancing our
strategic plans and operational
efficiency.
In this full-time
position of Chief Financial
Officer, you will report to Lee
Cole, CEO. Your principal
location will be based out of
1141 Cummings Rd, Santa
Paula, CA 93060. The
Employee duties,
responsibilities and authority
shall consist of the CFO.
We
have agreed to a tentative start
date of December 2, 2024. The
position and related duties are
intended to be broad and are
subject to modification at the
sole discretion of Calavo or as
may be
set forth in any
employee handbook or
published company policies.
This offer is contingent upon
successful completion of a pre-
employment background
check.
Compensation
Your
annual salary is $430,000.00
and you will be paid bi-weekly
less any regulated or
authorized
deductions paid on
Fridays.
Bonus: There is a
discretionary bonus potential of
between 50% and 200% of
your base salary,
subject to the
achievement of various
financial targets. Any bonus
payout will be one lump sum
payment, less applicable
deductions and withholdings.
To earn and be eligible for a
bonus for any
year, you must
be employed by Calavo on the
date the bonus is paid.
Benefits
You are eligible to participate in
benefits programs in
accordance with company
policies. Eligibility
begins on
the first of the month following
one month of employment.
Calavo offers:
•
Comprehensive, high-quality
medical plan options that
include prescription drug
coverage along
with dental
coverage options and company
sponsored vision coverage.
•
Company sponsored Basic Life
Insurance, Accidental Death &
Dismemberment (AD&D) &
Long-Term
disability and the
option to purchase additional
Voluntary Life and AD&D
insurance.
• Employee
Assistance Program (EAP)
•
FSA plans – Medical &
Dependent Care
• 401k with a
company match equal to 3%,
3.5% match to a 4%
contribution, and 4% match to
a 5% or
greater contribution.
•
Cell Phone/Internet allowance
of $110 per month, paid the first
pay period of each month
• Car
allowance of $933 per month,
paid the first pay period of each
month
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Vacation accrues at a rate of
3.076 each pay period to a max
of 80 hours per year.
Floating
Holiday: 16.0 hours will be
added after 60 days of
employment. If hired during or
after July
8.0 hours will be
added for the remainder of the
current calendar year.
Sick
leave accrues at a rate of 3.076
each pay period to a max of 80
hours per year pursuant to the
Calavo sick leave policy which
satisfies or exceeds the
accrual, carryover, and use
requirements of
CA Labor
Code 246.
This letter provides
general information about the
company’s benefit plans. The
plans are subject to
the terms
set forth in official plan
documents. The company
reserves the right to amend or
terminate any benefit plan at
any time.
Additional Terms of
Employment
Indemnification. It
is agreed that you shall enter
into the Employer’s form of
indemnification
agreement that
is provided to members of the
Calavo Board of Directors and
its executive officers.
While we
hope your employment
relationship with Calavo will be
a long and mutually beneficial
one, it should be recognized
that by this offer neither you nor
Calavo have entered into a
contract of
employment,
expressed or implied. Your
employment relationship with
Calavo will always be “at-will,"
therefore terminable by Calavo
without cause or notice. This
provision can only be changed
or
revoked in a formal written
contract signed by the CEO
and cannot be changed by any
expressed or
implied
agreement based on
statements or actions by any
employee or supervisor. The
employer
has no obligation to
make any compensation,
severance or other payments
or provide any other
benefits to
the employee after termination
of employment except for any
base salary and to the
extent
required by law, accrued
vacation pay.
To meet
California DLSE-NTE notice
requirements. Our Workers’
Compensation carrier is Arch
Insurance Company, Policy #
ZAWCI9406605 located at
(LWP) PO Box 349016
Sacramento, CA
95834-9016.
Confidentiality
At no time either
during employment or after
termination of employment for
any reason, use or
disclose to
any person, directly or
indirectly, any confidential or
proprietary information
concerning
the business of the
employer. This shall include,
without limitation, any business
secret, trade
secret, financial
information, software, internal
procedure, business plan,
marketing plan, pricing
strategy
or policy or customer list,
except to the extent that such
use or disclosure is (1) in
connection with the good faith
performance of the Employee’s
duties during your period of
employment; (2) required by an
order of a court of competent
jurisdiction, or (3) authorized in
writing by the Employer’s
Chairman of the Board of
Directors or a Calavo board
member.
The team is excited to
meet you and is ready to assist
with equipment and software
setup to help
get you started on
your first day. To acknowledge
your acceptance of the above
stated terms and
conditions of
employment, please sign this
letter in the space provided
below, and return a signed
copy at the earliest or within 3
business days via email to me
at kimo@calavo.com.
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Sincerely,
CALAVO GROWERS, INC.
Kim
Oglesby
VP Human Resources
ACCEPTANCE
By signing this acceptance,
you agree to a) begin the pre-employment
screening process, this offer
is contingent
upon successful completion of the pre-
employment screening process, b) the
compensation package, benefits and Time
off c) enter employment with Calavo on an
at-will basis,
d) comply with our business
Code of Conduct and Ethics policies, e) to
complete regulatory
compliance training
during your employment.
____________________________________
________________________
James Snyder
DATE
11/22/2024



Exhibit 19.1

CALAVO GROWERS, INC.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

and Guidelines with Respect to
Certain Transactions in the Company’s Securities

February 8, 2023

This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) provides guidelines to directors, officers and employees of Calavo
Growers, Inc. (the “Company”) with respect to transactions in the Company’s securities, including common stock, options
for common stock, and any other securities the Company may issue from time to time (“Company Securities”) and the
handling of Material Nonpublic Information (as defined below on page 4) about the Company and the companies with
which the Company does business. The Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) has adopted this Policy to promote
compliance with federal, state and foreign securities laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of Material
Nonpublic Information about a company from: (i) trading in securities of that company; or (ii) providing Material
Nonpublic Information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information. The Board has also adopted this
Policy to promote compliance with other securities laws, including laws governing the resale of securities by affiliates and
laws requiring the timely reporting of transactions in securities by the Company’s officers and directors.

Definitions

“Blackout Period” has the meaning ascribed to it on page 8.

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company.

“Company” means Calavo Growers, Inc.

“Company Securities” means the securities of the Company, including common stock, options for common stock,
and any other securities the Company may issue from time to time.

“Compliance Representative” means the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.

“Controlled Entities” means any entities that a person influences or controls, including any corporations,
partnerships or trusts.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Household Member” means a person’s family members who reside with such person (including a spouse, a child,
a child away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else
who lives in such person’s



2

household, and any family members who do not live in such person’s household but whose transactions in Company
Securities are directed by such person or are subject to such person’s influence or control, such as parents or children who
consult with such person before trading in Company Securities.

“Insider” means each of the Company’s directors, officers, and all other employees of, or consultants or contractors
to, the Company, persons previously in such roles where they may have received Material Nonpublic Information,
members of their immediate families, Household Members, and entities or persons controlled by them.

“Material Nonpublic Information” has the meaning ascribed to it on page 4.

“Rule 10b5-1 Plan” means a plan for transactions in Company Securities that meets certain conditions specified in
the Rule 10b5-1.

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Window Period” has the meaning ascribed to it on page 8.

Applicability of the Policy; the Compliance Representative

This Policy applies to all transactions in Company Securities. It applies to Insiders of the Company, including of the
Company’s subsidiaries. This Policy applies to any transactions by entities over which any Insider exercises control. This
Policy also applies to transactions by any such person’s Household Members (as defined below on page 5) and to
transactions by entities over which any such Household Member exercises control. This Policy also applies to any person
who receives Material Nonpublic Information from any Insider.

If you have any questions about this Policy, you may contact the Compliance Representative or Tom Li of
TroyGould PC at 310-789-1228 or at tli@troygould.com.

Individual Responsibility

Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about
the Company and to not engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of Material Nonpublic
Information. Persons subject to this policy must not engage in illegal trading and must avoid the appearance of improper
trading. Each individual is responsible for making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any Household
Member or entity whose transactions are subject to this Policy, as discussed below, complies with this Policy. In all cases,
the responsibility for determining whether an individual is in possession of Material Nonpublic Information rests with that
individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the Compliance Representative or any other employee or director
pursuant to this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from liability
under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and
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disciplinary action by the Company for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described
below in more detail under the heading “Consequences of Violations.”

Statement of the Policy

General Policy

It is the policy of the Company that no Insider (or any other person designated by this Policy or by the Compliance
Representative as subject to this Policy) who is aware of Material Nonpublic Information regarding the Company may,
directly, or indirectly through Household Members or other persons or entities:

1. Engage in transactions in Company Securities, except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the headings
“Transactions Not Covered”;

2. Recommend the purchase or sale of any Company Securities;

3. Disclose Material Nonpublic Information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have
that information, or outside of the Company to other persons, including, but not limited to, family, friends, business
associates, investors and expert consulting firms, unless any such disclosure is made in accordance with the
Company’s policies regarding the protection or authorized external disclosure of information regarding the
Company; or

4. Assist anyone engaged in the above activities.

In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no Insider (or any other person designated as subject to this Policy)
who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of Material Nonpublic Information about a company with which the
Company does business, including a customer or supplier of the Company, may trade in that company’s securities or the
securities of another publicly traded company whose price may be affected by such information, until the information
becomes public or is no longer material. There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein.
Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an
emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize any
mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve
the Company’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.

An Insider may, from time to time, have to forego a proposed transaction in Company Securities even if he or she
planned to make the transaction before learning of the Material Nonpublic Information and even though the Insider
believes he or she may suffer an economic loss or forego anticipated profits by waiting.
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Definition of Material Nonpublic Information

It is not possible to define all categories of material information. However, information should be regarded as
material if there is a reasonable likelihood that it would be considered important to an investor in making an investment
decision regarding the purchase or sale of Company Securities. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality;
rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and circumstances, and is often evaluated by enforcement
authorities operating with the benefit of hindsight. Either positive or negative information may be material. While it may
be difficult under this standard to determine whether particular information is material, there are various categories of
information that are particularly sensitive and, as a general rule, should always be presumed to be material. Examples of
such information include:

● Financial results;
● Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;
● Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings

guidance;
● News of a pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer, including the pending or

proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;
● News of a pending or proposed joint venture;
● News of a Company restructuring;
● Significant related party transactions;
● Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;
● Impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems;
● Stock splits or other recapitalizations;
● New equity or debt offerings;
● The establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities;
● Changes in dividend policy;
● New product announcements of a significant nature;
● Significant product defects or modifications;
● Significant pricing changes;
● Gain or loss of a substantial customer or supplier;
● A change in the Company’s pricing or cost structure;
● Major marketing changes;
● Significant litigation exposure due to actual or threatened litigation, or the resolution of

litigation;
● Changes in senior management;
● Material agreements (negotiation, entry, or termination thereof);
● A change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon;
● A significant cybersecurity incident, such as a data breach, or any other significant disruption in

the Company’s operations or loss, potential loss, breach or unauthorized access of its property or
assets, whether at its facilities or through its information technology infrastructure;
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● The imposition of an event-specific restriction on trading in Company Securities or the securities
of another company or the extension or termination of such restriction; or

● Any other information which is likely to have a significant impact on the Company.

Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic information. In order
to establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information
has been widely disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed
through the Dow Jones “broad tape,” newswire services, a broadcast on widely-available radio or television programs,
publication in a widely-available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the SEC
that are available on the SEC’s website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it
is available only to the Company’s employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers and
institutional investors. Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to provide the investing public with
sufficient time to absorb the information. As a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the
marketplace until the second business day after the day on which the information is released. If, for example, the Company
were to make an announcement on a Monday, you should not trade in Company Securities until Wednesday. Depending on
the particular circumstances, the Company may determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of
specific Material Nonpublic Information.

Transactions by Household Members and Others

This Policy applies to your family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at
college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else who lives in
your household, and any family members who do not live in your household but whose transactions in Company Securities
are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before
trading in Company Securities (collectively referred to as “Household Members”). You are responsible for the transactions
of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to confer with you before they trade in Company
Securities, and you should treat all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if the
transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities transactions of
Household Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by, influenced by or
related to you or your Household Members.

Transactions by Entities you Influence or Control

This Policy applies to any Controlled Entities, and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for
the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for your own account.

Transactions Not Covered

The exercise of a stock option for cash under the Company’s equity incentive plans or the purchase of shares under
any Company employee stock purchase plan is not required by this Policy to be made during a Window Period (as defined
below on page 8) since the Company is
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deemed to be in possession of the information you have about the Company. However, the sale of the acquired shares by an
Insider must be made during a Window Period.

In addition, neither a bona fide gift of Company stock nor a transfer of stock to a trust’s beneficiary by an Insider
who serves as a trustee of the trust is required by this Policy to be made during a Window Period as long as the donor or
trustee does not control the donee or beneficiary and does not give the donee or beneficiary Material Nonpublic
Information about the Company. However, such a bona fide gift or transfer is subject to the pre-clearance requirements
described beginning on page 7 and the Compliance Representative may require a signed certification regarding compliance
with the requirements of the preceding sentence as a condition to permitting the transaction.

Transactions in mutual funds that hold Company securities are generally not transactions subject to the Policy.
However, transactions in mutual funds may be prohibited under the Policy if an Insider becomes aware of Material
Nonpublic Information which might materially affect the value of the mutual fund as a whole.

Rule 10b5-1 Plans

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5. In order to
be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 Plan which permits (i)
automatic trading of the Company’s stock through a third-party broker or (ii) trading of the Company’s stock by an
independent person (e.g. an investment broker) who is not aware of Material Nonpublic Information at the time of the
trade. Once a program is implemented in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1, trades pursuant to such program shall not be
subject to the limitations and restrictions set forth in other sections of this Policy. That is, trading pursuant to a program
may occur even at a time outside of the Company’s Window Period or when the person on whose behalf such trade is made
is aware of Material Nonpublic Information. Each program (or the form of program established by an investment bank or
other third party) must conform to Rule 10b5-1 and must be reviewed and approved in advance by the Compliance
Representative to help confirm compliance with this Policy and the applicable securities laws. Additional guidance for the
establishment of a Rule 10b5-1 Plan can be found below under the heading “Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Plans”.



7

Specific Policies

1. Trading on Material Nonpublic Information. No Insider shall engage in any transaction involving a purchase, sale
or other transfer of Company Securities, including any offer to purchase or offer to sell securities and including a gift of
Company Securities, during any period commencing with the date that he or she possesses Material Nonpublic Information
concerning the Company and ending at the open of business on the second business day following the date of public
disclosure of that information (i.e., the second business day would be the first trading day in the Window Period) or (if
earlier) at such time as the nonpublic information is no longer material, subject to the limited exceptions described in this
Policy. For purposes of this Policy, information will be considered to have been disclosed to the public once it has been
disclosed by the Company to its shareholders by means of a press release or a filing with the SEC.

2. Tipping. Insiders should never disclose or tip Material Nonpublic Information to any other person (including family
or other Household Members) where such information may be used by such person to his or her benefit by trading in the
securities of companies to which such information relates. It is important to note that the Insider need not receive a
financial benefit in order to be found liable for insider trading. The SEC has imposed large penalties even when the
disclosing person did not profit from the trading. Furthermore, no Insider or related person shall make recommendations or
express opinions on the basis of Material Nonpublic Information as to trading in Company Securities. Even if you are not
in the possession of Material Nonpublic Information, do not recommend to any other person that they buy or sell securities
of the Company. Remember that tipping Material Nonpublic Information is always prohibited, and that your
recommendation could be imputed to the Company and may be misleading if you do not have all relevant information.

If an Insider receives inquiries about the Company from securities analysts reporters, or investors, decline comment
and direct them to either of the following officers: Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer. Do not discuss
Material Nonpublic Information where it may be overheard, such as in restaurants, elevators, restrooms and other public
places. Remember that cellular phone conversations are often overheard and that voicemail and e-mail messages may be
retrieved by persons other than their intended recipients.

3. Pre-Clearance Requirements. Executive officers, directors and other Insiders the Compliance Representative
designates from time to time as being subject to these procedures, as well as the Household Members and Controlled
Entities of such persons, may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of
the transaction from the Compliance Representative. The Compliance Representative will complete (or cause to be
completed) a pre-clearance checklist in the form attached as Exhibit A to this Policy, and where appropriate will give
written permission for the transaction in the form attached as Exhibit B to this Policy. A request for pre-clearance should be
submitted to the Compliance Representative at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. The
Compliance Representative is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine
not to permit the transaction. If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is denied, then he
or she should refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities, and should not inform any other person of the
restriction.
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When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware
of any Material Nonpublic Information about the Company, and should describe fully those circumstances to the
Compliance Representative. The requestor should also indicate whether he or she has effected any non-exempt “opposite-
way” transactions within the past six months, and should be prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate
Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to comply with SEC Rule 144 and file Form 144, if necessary, at
the time of any sale. Quarterly Trading Restrictions. The persons designated by the Compliance Representative as subject
to this restriction, as well as their Household Members or Controlled Entities, may not conduct any transactions involving
the Company’s Securities (other than as specified by this Policy), during a Blackout Period beginning ten business days
prior to the end of each fiscal quarter and ending on the second business day following the date of the public release of the
Company’s earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these persons may only conduct transactions in Company
Securities during the “Window Period” beginning on the second business day following the public release of the
Company’s quarterly earnings and ending ten business days prior to the close of the next fiscal quarter. Trading in the
Company’s securities during the Window Period should not be considered a “safe harbor”—the responsibility for
determining whether you have Material Nonpublic Information rests with you.

It should be noted, however, that even during the Window Period any person possessing Material Nonpublic
Information concerning the Company should not engage in any transactions in the Company Securities until such
information has been known publicly for at least two business days. Trading in the Company Securities during the trading
window should not be considered a safe harbor, and all persons who are subject to this Policy should use good judgment at
all times. Furthermore, each of the Company and the Compliance Representative has the authority to prohibit trades by
some or all Insiders during the trading window upon a determination that such persons may possess Material Nonpublic
Information as a result of a significant event or other development affecting the Company that has not been publicly
disclosed.

4. Event-Specific Trading Restriction Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company
and is known by only a few directors, officers and/or employees. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the
persons designated by the Compliance Representative may not trade Company Securities. In addition, the Company’s
financial results may be sufficiently material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Compliance
Representative, designated persons should refrain from trading in Company Securities even sooner than the typical
Blackout Period described above. In that situation, the Compliance Representative may notify these persons that they
should not trade in the Company’s Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an event-
specific trading restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period will not be announced to the Company as a whole, and
should not be communicated to any other person. Even if the Compliance Representative has not designated you as a
person who should not trade due to an event-specific restriction, you should not trade while aware of Material Nonpublic
Information. Exceptions will not be granted during an event-specific trading restriction period.

5. Exceptions to Quarterly Trading Restrictions and Event-Specific Trading Restrictions. The quarterly trading
restrictions and event-specific trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy does not apply, as
described above under the heading
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“Transactions Not Covered”. Further, the requirement for pre-clearance, the quarterly trading restrictions and event-
specific trading restrictions do not apply to transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans, described
above under the heading “Rule 10b5-1 Plans.”

6. Post-Termination Transactions. This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after
termination of service to the Company. If an individual is in possession of Material Nonpublic Information when his or her
service terminates, that individual may not trade in Company Securities until that information has become public or is no
longer material. The pre-clearance procedures specified above, however, will cease to apply to transactions in Company
Securities upon the expiration of any Blackout Period or other Company-imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time
of the termination of service.

7. Section 16 Reporting Obligations and Recovery of Short-Swing Profits. Directors and executive officers of the
Company must comply with the reporting obligations set forth in Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. In addition, directors
and officers are subject to disgorgement of short-swing profits under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act. The practical
effect of these provisions is that executive officers and directors who purchase and sell Company Securities within a six-
month period must disgorge all profits to the Company whether or not they had knowledge of any Material Nonpublic
Information. These provisions are enforced by private plaintiff attorneys if the Company does not seek recovery on its own
initiative. Under these provisions, and so long as certain other criteria are met, the receipt of an equity award under the
Company’s equity incentive plans and the exercise of an option, the vesting of a restricted stock award or the settlement of
restricted stock units is not deemed a “purchase” under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act. However, the sale of any such
shares on the open market is a “sale” under Section 16(b) and can be matched against any non-exempt purchase within the
six months before or after such sale. Moreover, Section 16(c) prohibits short sales of Company Securities by executive
officers and directors.

Special and Prohibited Transactions

8. Short Sales. Short sales of Company Securities (i.e., the sale of a security that the seller does not own) may
evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value. These transactions therefore have
the potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company’s prospects and to reduce the seller’s
incentive to seek to improve the Company’s performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are
prohibited under the Policy unless part of an approved hedging transaction (see “Hedging Transactions” below). In
addition, as noted above, Section 16(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act) prohibits
officers and directors from engaging in short sales.

(Short sales arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph below captioned “Hedging
Transactions.”)

9. Publicly-Traded Options. Given the relatively short term of publicly-traded options, transactions in options may
create the appearance that an Insider is trading based on Material Nonpublic Information and focus a director’s, officer’s or
other employee’s attention on short- term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. Accordingly,
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transactions in put options, call options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are
prohibited by this Policy. (Option positions arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the
paragraph below captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

10. Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible
mechanisms, including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars
and exchange funds. Such transactions may permit an Insider to continue to own Company Securities obtained through
employee benefit plans or otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the Insider
may no longer have the same objectives as the Company’s other shareholders. Therefore, except as expressly permitted
under the Company’s Anti-Hedging / Anti-Pledging Policy, Insiders are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions.

11. Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities. Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be
sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged
(or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin
sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of Material Nonpublic Information or otherwise is
not permitted to trade in Company Securities, Insiders are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a margin account
or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan, except as expressly permitted under the Company’s
Anti-Hedging / Anti-Pledging Policy. (Pledges of Company Securities arising from certain types of hedging transactions
are governed by the paragraph above captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

12. Standing and Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1
Plans) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over
the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a
transaction when an Insider is in possession of Material Nonpublic Information. The Company therefore discourages
placing standing or limit orders on Company Securities. If a person subject to this Policy determines that they must use a
standing order or limit order, the order should be limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the
restrictions and procedures outlined above under the heading “Specific Policies” and with any applicable Permission to
Trade form provided to the Insider.

Consequences of Violations

The purchase or sale of securities while aware of Material Nonpublic Information, or the disclosure of Material
Nonpublic Information to others who then trade in the Company’s Securities, is prohibited by the federal and state laws.
Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by the SEC, U.S. Attorneys and state enforcement authorities as well as
the laws of foreign jurisdictions. The SEC, the stock exchanges and other regulatory authorities use sophisticated electronic
surveillance techniques to uncover insider trading. Punishment for insider trading violations is severe, and could include
significant fines and imprisonment. While the regulatory authorities concentrate their efforts on the individuals who trade,
or who tip inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also impose potential liability on
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companies and other “controlling persons” if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by company
personnel.

In addition, an individual’s failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to Company-imposed
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal for cause and/or ineligibility for future participation in the Company’s
equity incentive plans, whether or not the employee’s failure to comply results in a violation of law. A violation of law, or
even an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person’s reputation and irreparably damage a
career.

Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Plans

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5. In order to
be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 Plan in good faith. If the
plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, Company Securities may be purchased or sold without regard to certain
insider trading restrictions. In general, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the
plan is not aware of Material Nonpublic Information. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence
over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade, and the person
must act in good faith with respect to the plan. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions
in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party.

As specified in this Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved in advance by the Compliance Representative and
meet both the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and these guidelines. Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted to the
Compliance Representative for approval at least ten days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. No further pre-
approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be required. Prior to adoption of any Rule 10b5-
1 Plan, the person entering the Rule 10b5-1 Plan must certify to the Compliance Representative (a) that he or she is not
aware of any Material Nonpublic Information, (b) is adopting the plan in good faith and not as a scheme to avoid the
prohibition on insider trading, (c) all such trades to be made pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be made in accordance
with the Exchange Act, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and applicable state securities laws, and (d) the Rule 10b5-
1 Plan complies with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1. No approval by the Compliance Representative shall be considered
the Compliance Representative’s or the Company’s approval that the Rule 10b5-1 Plan satisfies the requirements of Rule
10b5-1. It shall be your sole responsibility in establishing the Rule 10b5-1 Plan to ensure that such plan complies with the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1. The existence of the foregoing approval procedures does not in any way obligate the
Compliance Representative to approve any Rule 10b5-1 Plan. The Compliance Representative may reject any trading
requests or Rule 10b5-1 Plans in his or her sole discretion. The Company reserves the right to require that additional
provisions be included in a Rule 10b5-1 Plan with the objective of complying with Rule 10b5-1. The Company also
reserves the right to require that transactions under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan be suspended during periods when the Company
believes that legal, contractual or regulatory restrictions could prohibit such transactions or make them undesirable. These
might include periods during which persons subject to this Policy have agreed with underwriters that they will not sell
securities of
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the Company for specified periods before and after a public offering, or periods in proximity to a public offering during
which SEC Regulation M prohibits purchases by affiliates.

The following guidelines apply to all Rule 10b5-1 Plans:

● You may not enter into, modify or discretionarily terminate a trading program during a Blackout Period or while in
possession of Material Nonpublic Information.

● The Rule 10b5-1 Plan must include a representation from the person establishing the plan that he or she (a) is not
aware of any Material Nonpublic Information and (b) is adopting the plan in good faith and not as a scheme to
avoid the prohibition on insider trading.

● Subject to limited exceptions, a person can enter into only one effective Rule 10b5-1 Plan at any time.

● Subject to limited exceptions, a person can enter into only one “single trade” Rule 10b5-1 Plan in any 12-month
period.

● All Rule 10b5-1 Plans must have a duration of at least 6 months and no more than 2 years.

● If a Rule 10b5-1 Plan is terminated, you must wait at least 30 days before trading outside of the Rule 10b5-1 Plan.

● If a trading program is terminated, you must wait until the commencement of the next Window Period before a new
Rule 10b5-1 Plan may be adopted.

● The Rule 10b5-1 Plan must include a “cooling off” period such that (a) for all employees and any person other than
a director or officer, trading under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan cannot begin until 30 days after the adoption or modification
of the plan and (b) for directors and officers subject to Section 16 reporting obligations under the Exchange Act,
trading under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan cannot begin until the later of (i) 90 days after adoption or modification of the
Rule 10b5-1 Plan or (ii) two business days after disclosure of the Company’s financial results in a Form 10-Q or
Form 10-K for the fiscal quarter in which the Rule 10b5-1 Plan was adopted, subject to a maximum cooling off
period of 120 days.

● Modifications to Rule 10b5-1 Plans will trigger a new cooling-off period if the modification changes the amount,
price, or timing of trades, including a change to a formula that affects these inputs. Modifications do not trigger a
new cooling-off period if they are immaterial or administrative, such as an adjustment for stock splits or a change in
account information.

● You may not enter into any transaction in Company Securities while the Rule 10b5-1 Plan is in effect. This
prohibition includes but is not limited to any corresponding or hedging transaction with respect to the securities
subject to the plan. An exception may be permitted, to the extent not unlawful, for a Rule 10b5-1 Plan that (a)
relates solely to Company Securities acquired under the Company’s equity incentive plans and (b) is



13

designed and actually operated to authorize the sale of only enough securities necessary to pay or otherwise
discharge income or withholding tax obligations that accrue upon the exercise, vesting or settlement of awards
under the Company’s equity incentive plan, in which case the Section 16 person must not otherwise exercise
control over the timing of such sales. This exception does not apply to sales incident to the exercise of stock
options.

Each director, officer and other Section 16 person understands that the approval or adoption of a pre-planned selling
program in no way reduces or eliminates such person’s obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, including such
person’s disclosure and short- swing trading liabilities thereunder. If any questions arise, such person should consult with
their own counsel in implementing a Rule 10b5-1 Plan.

Other Limited Exceptions

An exception to the restrictions in the Policy may be permitted with the advance written approval of the
Compliance Representative if all material information concerning the Company has been publicly disclosed or is known by
both parties to the proposed transaction. This type of exception is intended to be used only in unusual circumstances, and
an Insider should not assume that such an exception will be granted even if the pre-conditions to the exception are satisfied.

Compliance Representative

The Compliance Representative may delegate some or all of his or her duties under this Policy to other individuals.
The Compliance Representative shall advise the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of each
such delegation. All matters concerning the application of this Policy to the Compliance Representative (including but not
limited to pre-clearance of trades by the Compliance Representative or others whose transactions are restricted by this
Policy because of their relationship to the Compliance Representative) shall be addressed by a designee who has been
approved by the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Assistance

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may obtain
additional guidance from the Compliance Representative, who can be reached by telephone at 805-921-3208 or by email at
shawn.munsell@calavo.com or from Tom Li of TroyGould PC at 310-789-1228 or at tli@troygould.com.



ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION

The undersigned certifies that:

1. I have read and understand the Company’s Insider Trading Policy and agree to be governed by, and to comply with,
the Insider Trading Policy at all times.

2. Since the date of the Insider Trading Policy stated on the first page hereof, or such shorter period of time that I have
been an employee of the Company, I have complied with the Insider Trading Policy.

3. I will continue to comply with the Insider Trading Policy for as long as I am subject to the Insider Trading Policy.

(Signature)

(print name)
Date:



EXHIBIT A

INSIDER TRADING POLICY - PRE-CLEARANCE CHECKLIST

Individual Proposing To Trade:
Compliance Representative (or designee):
Proposed Trade:
Date:

Trading Window. Confirm that the trade will be made during an open Window Period.  ☐

Section 16 Compliance. Confirm, if the individual is a Section 16 Insider, that the proposed trade will not give rise to any
potential short-swing liability under Section 16 as a result of matched past (or intended future) transactions. Also, ensure
that a Form 4 has been or will be completed and will be filed within two (2) business days of the trade.  ☐

Prohibited Trades. Confirm that the proposed transaction is not a short sale, put, call or other prohibited transaction.  ☐

Rule 144 Compliance. To the extent applicable confirm that:

The current public information requirement has been met.  ☐
Shares to be sold are not restricted or, if restricted, the holding period has been met.  ☐
Volume limitations are not exceeded (confirm the individual is not part of an aggregated group).  ☐
The manner of sale requirements have been met.  ☐
The Notice on Form 144 has been completed and filed.  ☐

Rule 10b-5 Concerns. Confirm that:

The individual has been reminded that trading is prohibited while aware of Material Nonpublic Information.  ☐
The Compliance Representative (or designee) has discussed with the Insider any information known to the Insider that
might be considered material, so that the Insider and the Compliance Representative (or designee) can make an informed
judgment as to the Insider’s awareness of Material Nonpublic Information.  ☐

Signature of Compliance Representative

(or designee)



EXHIBIT B

PERMISSION TO TRADE

              is hereby permitted to buy/sell [circle one] shares of the common stock of Calavo Growers, Inc.

[Include the following if sales to be made by affiliates pursuant to Rule 144. The securities must be sold in a broker’s
transaction, and you may not solicit or arrange for the solicitation of an order to buy the securities you are selling, or make
any payment in connection with the offer and sale to any person other than the broker who executes an order to sell the
securities.]

The permission to sell will expire on the close of trading on            , 20     .

Very truly yours,

Signature of Legal Department Representative



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-191702 and 333-199754 on Form S-3 and
Registration Statement Nos. 333-179101 and 333-256980 on Form S-8 of our reports dated January 14, 2025, relating to the financial
statements of Calavo Growers, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2024.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, California
January 14, 2025



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Lecil Cole, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Calavo Growers, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in
all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  January 14, 2025 /s/ Lecil Cole
Lecil Cole
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, James Snyder, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Calavo Growers, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in
all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  January 14, 2025 /s/ James Snyder
James Snyder
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Each of the undersigned, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, and Corporate Secretary of Calavo Growers, Inc. (the Company), hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge, the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the Report), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated:  January 14, 2025

/s/ Lecil Cole
Lecil Cole
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ James Snyder
James Snyder
Chief Financial Officer


